



# **Conformal Field Theory from Lattice Fermions**

# Tobias J. Osborne, Alexander Stottmeister

Institut für Theoretische Physik, Leibniz Universität Hannover, Appelstraße 2, 30167 Hannover, Germany. E-mail: alexander.stottmeister@itp.uni-hannover.de

Received: 29 November 2021 / Accepted: 28 August 2022 Published online: 21 November 2022 – © The Author(s) 2022

**Abstract:** We provide a rigorous lattice approximation of conformal field theories given in terms of lattice fermions in 1+1-dimensions, focussing on free fermion models and Wess–Zumino–Witten models. To this end, we utilize a recently introduced operatoralgebraic framework for Wilson–Kadanoff renormalization. In this setting, we prove the convergence of the approximation of the Virasoro generators by the Koo–Saleur formula. From this, we deduce the convergence of lattice approximations of conformal correlation functions to their continuum limit. In addition, we show how these results lead to explicit error estimates pertaining to the quantum simulation of conformal field theories.

# Contents

1.	Introduction	220
	1.1 Main results	222
	1.2 Comparison with other approaches	225
	1.3 Outline of the article	229
2.	Lattice Fermions in 1+1-Dimensions	229
	2.1 The algebra of canonical anti-commutation relations	229
	2.1.1 Implementation of Bogoliubov transformations	231
	2.2 Lattice fermions at different scales	234
	2.3 The free lattice Dirac Hamiltonian in 1+1-dimensions	235
	2.4 Chiral decomposition	238
	2.5 The Majorana mass term	239
	2.6 The self-dual components of the lattice Majorana Hamiltonian	239
	2.7 Equivalence with the transverse XY model	240
3.	Scaling Limits of Lattice Fermions	242
	3.1 Wavelet renormalization group	243
	3.1.1 Quasi-local structure	245

	3.1.2 A decay estimate	246
	3.2 Momentum-cutoff renormalization group	248
	3.3 The scaling limit of lattice vacua	248
4.	Approximation of Conformal Symmetries	251
	4.1 The Koo–Saleur approximants	251
	4.2 The case of massless free lattice fermions	253
	4.2.1 Relation with Temperley–Lieb algebras	256
	4.2.2 The formal scaling limit	257
	4.2.3 Convergence of the KS approximants	260
	4.2.4 Koo–Saleur approximants of the equivalent XY model	276
5.	Approximation of Wess–Zumino–Witten Currents	277
6.	Approximation of Correlation Functions	280

## 1. Introduction

A rigorous mathematical formulation of quantum field theory (QFT) is one the central challenges for the new millennium [82]. A variety of approaches to build a rigorous theory of QFT have been employed throughout the past decades and have lead to deep results and insights—from *constructive QFT* [37,38,86] to algebraic QFT [3,47,64], vertex operator algebras (VOAs) [6,31,32,89], and beyond [45,46,81]. However, a completely satisfactory mathematical theory of QFT is still yet to be obtained. For this reason a proof of the rigorous existence of (and mass gap for) Yang-Mills theory was selected as one of the Clay maths prize problems.

Several key difficulties to obtaining a rigorous formulation of QFT are already epitomized by 1 + 1-dimensional gapless quantum field theories, in particular, *conformal field theories* (CFTs) where a variety of constructions and classifications results has been obtained [4, 12, 13, 16, 21, 26, 33, 58, 91].

A natural strategy to prove the existence of such a theory is to somehow realize it as the limit of a sequence of *discretized approximations* (see [11,52–54,59,71] for recent attempts in a Hamiltonian setting), or *lattice models*, on finite spatial lattices  $\Lambda_N = \varepsilon_N \{-L_N, -L_N + 1, \dots, L_N - 2, L_N - 1\} \subset \varepsilon_N \mathbb{Z}$ , where  $L = \varepsilon_N r_N$  is the length of the system. Associated to each lattice site  $x \in \Lambda_N$  is a quantum degree of freedom, typically modeled by a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_x$ , so that one assigns the *total Hilbert* space  $\mathcal{H}_N \subset \bigotimes_{x \in \Lambda_N} \mathcal{H}_x$  to the system<sup>1</sup>. One requires, further, a *Hamiltonian*  $H_0^{(N)}$  for each discretization

$$H_0^{(N)} = \frac{L}{\pi} \varepsilon_N \sum_{x \in \Lambda_N} h_x^{(N)},$$

which is a sum of self-adjoint operators  $h_x^{(N)}$  on  $\mathcal{H}_N$  with finite support centered on x. A key additional ingredient that must be specified is a  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathfrak{A}_N$  (considered as a subalgebra of the bounded operators  $B(\mathcal{H}_N)$  on  $\mathcal{H}_N$ ) of basic *observables or fields*, corresponding to discretizations of their potential continuum counterparts. Given this data the task is to assign mathematical meaning to the *scaling limit* of  $\{\mathfrak{A}_N, \mathcal{H}_N, H_0^{(N)}\}$ .

A multitude of challenges must be overcome to realize this limit, in particular: (a) specifying the mathematical data to compare the discretizations with differing lattice size

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In the cases considered in this paper the total Hilbert space is provided by fermionic Fock space  $\mathfrak{F}_{a}(\mathfrak{h}_{N})$  based on a one-particle space  $\mathfrak{h}_{N}$  for a particle with spin hopping on  $\Lambda_{N}$ , which can be realised as subspace of a direct sum of tensor products of smaller Hilbert spaces.

(and hence the topology for the limit); (b) identifying the correct lattice Hamiltonians for a target QFT; (c) proving the convergence of the sequence; and (d) proving that the requisite symmetry groups of the QFT are realized via projective unitary representations on the limit space. The recovery of expected continuum symmetries, i.e., requirement (d), typically poses severe difficulties (see [17,23,51,83] for major advances in two-dimensional critical lattice models in the Euclidean framework).

The recently introduced *operator-algebraic renormalization* (OAR) [11,69,85] supplies a novel approach to defining, and proving the existence of, the above limit in Hamiltonian approach, thus overcoming the four challenges outlined in the previous paragraph. To do this one introduces the following additional structures:

- *Refining quantum channels*, which are unital completely positive (ucp) maps,  $\alpha_{N+1}^N$ :  $\mathfrak{A}_N \to \mathfrak{A}_{N+1}$ , connecting the observable algebras between the different scales. These induce dual *coarse-graining* trace-preserving completely positive (tpcp) maps  $\mathcal{E}_N^{N+1}$ between the state spaces, or density matrices respectively preduals,  $B(\mathcal{H}_{N+1})_* \to B(\mathcal{H}_N)_*$ , in the ultraweakly continuous case. Here,  $B(\mathcal{H}_N)_*$  denotes the predual on  $B(\mathcal{H}_N)$ , i.e. the trace-class operators on  $\mathcal{H}_N$ .
- a sequence of initial (bare) states  $\omega_0^{(N)}$  on the algebras  $\mathfrak{A}_N$ , possibly given by a density matrix  $\rho_0^{(N)} \in B(\mathcal{H}_N)_*$ , which are renormalized according to  $\omega_M^{(N)} = \omega_0^{(N+M)} \circ \alpha_{N+M}^N$ .

The scaling limit is then obtained via the Gelf'and-Naimark-Segal (GNS) construction<sup>2</sup> { $\mathcal{H}_{\infty}, \pi_{\infty}, \Omega_{\infty}$ } applied to the inductive limit  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty} = \varinjlim_{N} \mathfrak{A}_{N}$  and scaling-limit state  $\omega_{\infty}^{(N)} = \lim_{M \to \infty} \omega_{M}^{(N)}$  (the existence of the latter usually requires the imposition of additional *renormalization conditions* on the sequence  $\omega_{0}^{(N)}$ ). The convergence of Hamiltonians  $H_{0}^{(N)} \to H$  is considered in terms convergent operator sequences  $\lim_{M\to\infty} \limsup_{N\to\infty} \|H_{0}^{(N)} - \alpha_{N}^{M}(H_{0}^{(M)})\|_{*}$  in a suitable operator topology (or their associated unitary respectively automorphism groups) [22]. It is important to note that this convergence is a direct extension of the convergence that describes the inductivelimit algebra  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty}$ , i.e., each element  $O \in \mathfrak{A}_{\infty}$  is the limit of a convergent sequence  $O_{N}$ in the sense that:

$$\lim_{M\to\infty}\limsup_{N\to\infty}\|O_N-\alpha_N^M(O_M)\|_{C^*}=0.$$

To obtain a (full) CFT via an OAR scaling limit one needs to realize the infinitedimensional conformal group of symmetries via projective unitary representations on the limit space. This requires the additional identification of a discretized family of generators corresponding to the *Virasoro algebra with central charge c* [21],

$$\begin{split} [L_k, L_{k'}] &= \frac{L}{\pi} (k - k') L_{k+k'} + \delta_{k+k',0} \frac{c}{12} (\frac{L}{\pi} k) ((\frac{L}{\pi} k)^2 - 1), \\ [\overline{L}_k, \overline{L}_{k'}] &= \frac{L}{\pi} (k - k') \overline{L}_{k+k'} + \delta_{k+k',0} \frac{c}{12} (\frac{L}{\pi} k) ((\frac{L}{\pi} k)^2 - 1), \\ [L_k, \overline{L}_{k'}] &= 0. \end{split}$$

Such a family is furnished by the *Koo-Saleur (KS) approximants* [60]

$$L_{k}^{(N)} = \frac{1}{2} \Big( H_{k}^{(N)} + \frac{\pi \varepsilon_{N}}{2L \sin(\frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{N} k)} \Big[ H_{k}^{(N)}, H_{0}^{(N)} \Big] \Big),$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Informally, this means that the continuum Hilbert space and its inner product are reconstructed from the correlation functions of the basic observables  $\mathfrak{A}_N$  in the scaling limit  $\omega_{\infty}$ .

$$\overline{L}_{k}^{(N)} = \frac{1}{2} \Big( H_{-k}^{(N)} + \frac{\pi \varepsilon_{N}}{2L \sin(\frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{N} k)} \Big[ H_{-k}^{(N)}, H_{0}^{(N)} \Big] \Big),$$

where the lattice hamiltonian Fourier modes are given by

$$H_k^{(N)} = \frac{L}{\pi} \varepsilon_N \sum_{x \in \Lambda_N} e^{ikx} h_x^{(N)}$$

with  $k \in \Gamma_N$  in the dual lattice. The inductive family of ucp maps  $\alpha_{N+1}^N$  must be carefully chosen to ensure the existence of (meaningful) scaling limits (interestingly the inductive-limit algebra is somewhat insensitive to the specific realization of each map [5]). We focus on two classes (and their combination): a real-space renormalisation group based on wavelets and their scaling functions [20] which explicitly maintains locality of the algebra and a momentum-space renormalisation group based on a sharp cutoff in momentum space. With this preliminary data in hand we turn now to a summary of the main results.

1.1. Main results. Let us give a brief overview of the results presented in this paper. The main results are presented in abridged form as Theorems A to C accompanied by references to the appropriate statements in the main text. The basis of our results is a scaling limit construction for free lattice fermions using OAR. This entails that our approximation results for CFTs, i.e. the convergence of the KS approximants and other current-type fields, are currently restricted to free-fermion CFTs, products thereof and certain CFTs embeddable into those (see below). Although, we phrase all results in terms of complex fermion algebras, fully analogous statements also hold for suitably defined self-dual fermion algebras (Majorana fermions), as explained in the main sections. Specifically, we consider scaling limits  $\omega_{\infty}$  of the ground state  $\omega_0^{(N)}$  of a quadratic lattice Dirac Hamiltonian:

$$H_0^{(N)} = \varepsilon_N^{-1} \sum_{x \in \Lambda_N} \left( a_{x+\varepsilon_N}^{(1)\dagger} a_x^{(2)} - a_x^{(1)\dagger} a_x^{(2)} + \text{h.c.} + \lambda_N \left( a_x^{(1)\dagger} a_x^{(1)} - a_x^{(2)\dagger} a_x^{(2)} \right) \right),$$

in the massless case  $\lambda_N = 0$ . Here,  $a_x$ ,  $a_x^{\dagger}$  are the usual annihilation and creation operators generating a complex fermion algebra  $\mathfrak{A}_N$  associated with the lattice  $\Lambda_N$ .

The first main result of the paper concerns the convergence of the KS approximants to the continuum Virasoro generators in projective unitary positive-energy representations with central charge  $c = \frac{1}{2}$ , 1 associated with free-fermion scaling limits  $\omega_{\infty}$ . The convergence holds on the natural domain of finite-energy vectors in Fock space (with respect to the chiral conformal Hamiltonian  $L_{\pm,0}$  arising from  $H_0^{(N)}$ ) [15]. Here and in the following,  $\pm$  denotes the chiral and anti-chiral components defined in Sect. 2.4. In the main text, this result is stated as Theorem 4.11, where all details can be found.

**Theorem A** (Convergence of the Koo–Saleur approximants for  $\pi_{\infty}$ ). Let  $\omega_{\infty}$  be a massless scaling limit of the free-fermion ground state  $\omega_0^{(N)}$  and  $\pi_{\infty}$  its GNS representation. The chiral Koo–Saleur approximants,  $L_{k,\pm}^{(N)}$ , converge strongly to the continuum Virasoro generators,  $L_{k,\pm}$ , on the dense, common core  $\mathcal{D}_{\text{fin}} \subset \mathcal{H}_{\infty}$  spanned by finite-energy vectors of the chiral conformal Hamiltonian  $L_{\pm,0}$ :

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \|(:\pi_{\infty}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{\pm,k}^{(N)})):-L_{\pm,k})\phi\| = 0,$$

for all  $\phi \in \mathcal{D}_{\text{fin}}$ .

The proof of this theorem is a consequence of the basic Lemma 4.10 and exploits the momentum-cutoff renormalization group given in Definition 3.9 in combination with known results concerning the implementability of Bogoliubov transformations in quasi-free representations of fermion algebras (see Sect. 2.1.1).

A version of this result for the Fock representation with c = 0 (not of positive energy) is given in Theorem 4.6 and another one for smeared Virasoro generators in Theorem 4.16. Moreover, a similar result can be obtained for the lattice approximation of Wess–Zumino–Witten (WZW) currents (see Sect. 5 and Theorem 5.1).

The second major result of our paper concerns correlation functions of fermion operators under the action of conformal transformations generated by Virasoro generators. Informally it states that the finite-scale dynamical correlation function approximate the continuum dynamical correlation functions for arbitrary collections of operators in the (chiral) fermion algebra (especially including trace-class generators of quasi-free derivations as in [94]). This results is referred to as Theorem 6.1 together with Corollary 6.2 in the main text.

**Theorem B** (Convergence of fermion correlation functions). Let  $s \in C^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R})$  be a sufficiently regular, compactly supported orthonormal Daubechies scaling function, and  $\pi_{\infty}$  be the scaling limit representation of the fermion algebra  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty}$  associated with the freefermion scaling limit  $\omega_{\infty}$ . Then, for any convergent sequences  $\{A_N\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ ,  $\{B_N\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  with limits  $A, B \in \mathfrak{A}_{\infty}$  and uniformly in  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  on compact intervals, we have:

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} (\Omega_0^{(N)}, \pi^{(N)}(A_N)\sigma_t^{(N)}(\pi^{(N)}(B_N))\Omega_0^{(N)}) = (\Omega_\infty, \pi_\infty(A)\sigma_t(\pi_\infty(B))\Omega_\infty)$$

where  $\Omega_0^{(N)}$ ,  $\pi^{(N)}$  are the GNS-vector and -representation of  $\omega_0^{(N)}$ .  $\sigma_t^{(N)}$  and  $\sigma_t$  are 1-parameter (semi-)groups of Bogoliubov transformations generated by a (smeared) Koo–Saleur approximant or a (non-)abelian current and their continuum analogues respectively.

The proof of this theorem is implied the existence of the scaling limit of ground states due to Lemma 3.11 and Lemmata 4.5, 4.10 & 4.15 because of the semi-group convergence theorem [55, Theorem 2.16, p. 504], cf. also [24, Theorem 1.8, p. 141].

The final major result pertains to the correlation functions of the Virasoro algebra in free-fermion CFTs yielding a result comparable to that presented in [96]. Similar to Theorem B, we find that the correlation functions of smeared Virasoro generators respectively their exponentials, which generate local Virasoro nets [12,33] (here with central charge  $c = \frac{1}{2}$ , 1), are obtained as limits of ground state correlation functions of the Koo–Saleur approximants. This results is referred to as Theorem 6.3 in the main text.

**Theorem C** (Convergence of Virasoro correlation functions). Let  $s \in C^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R})$  be a sufficiently regular, compactly supported orthonormal Daubechies scaling function, and  $\pi_{\infty}$  be the scaling limit representation of the fermion algebra  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty}$  associated with the free-fermion scaling limit  $\omega_{\infty}$ . Then, for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and convergent sequences of smearing functions  $X_{N,p} \xrightarrow{N \to \infty} X_p$ ,  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and p = 1, ..., n with sufficient regularity, we have:

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} (\Omega_{\infty}, \prod_{p=1}^{n} : (\pi_{\infty} \circ \alpha_{\infty}^{N})(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p})) : \Omega_{\infty}) = (\Omega_{\infty}, \prod_{p=1}^{n} L_{\pm}(X_{p})\Omega_{\infty}),$$

and similarly,

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} (\Omega_{\infty}, \prod_{p=1}^{n} e^{i : (\pi_{\infty} \circ \alpha_{\infty}^{N}) (L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p})):} \Omega_{\infty}) = (\Omega_{\infty}, \prod_{p=1}^{n} e^{i L_{\pm}(X_{p})} \Omega_{\infty}) ,$$

Moreover, the finite-scale correlation functions of the scaling limit state  $\omega_{\infty}$  can be approximated in terms of the renormalized finite-scale states:

$$\begin{aligned} &(\Omega_{\infty}, \prod_{p=1}^{n} : \pi_{\infty}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}))) : \Omega_{\infty}) \\ &= \omega_{\infty}^{(N)}(\prod_{p=1}^{n}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}) - \omega_{\infty}^{(N)}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p})))) \\ &= \lim_{M \to \infty} \omega_{M}^{(N)}(\prod_{p=1}^{n}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}) - \omega_{\infty}^{(N)}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p})))) \\ &= \lim_{M \to \infty} \omega_{0}^{(N+M)}(\prod_{p=1}^{n}(\alpha_{N+M}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p})) - \omega_{0}^{(N+M)}(\alpha_{N+M}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}))))) , \end{aligned}$$

and similarly,

$$\begin{aligned} (\Omega_{\infty}, \prod_{p=1}^{n} e^{i:\pi_{\infty}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}))):}\Omega_{\infty}) &= \omega_{\infty}^{(N)}(\prod_{p=1}^{n} e^{iL_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p})-i\omega_{\infty}^{(N)}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}))}) \\ &= \lim_{M \to \infty} \omega_{M}^{(N)}(\prod_{p=1}^{n} e^{iL_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p})-i\omega_{M}^{(N)}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}))}) \\ &= \lim_{M \to \infty} \omega_{0}^{(N+M)}(\prod_{p=1}^{n} e^{i\alpha_{N+M}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}))-i\omega_{0}^{(N+M)}(\alpha_{N+M}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p})))}), \end{aligned}$$

where  $\omega_{\infty}^{(N)} = \omega_{\infty} \circ \alpha_{\infty}^{N}$ , and  $L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N}) = \frac{1}{2L_{N}} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N}} \hat{X}_{N|k} L_{\pm,k}^{(N)}$  (similarly for  $L_{\pm}(X)$ ).

The proof of this theorem is a consequence of the convergence of the scaling limit procedure for the ground states stated in Lemma 3.11 in combination with the extension of Theorem A to smeared Koo–Saleur approximants and Virasoro generators given in Theorem 4.16. It equally well applies to WZW currents instead because of Theorem 5.1 and its generalization.

In view of the seminal work of Koo and Saleur [60], it should be noted that the convergence of the KS approximants for free-fermion CFTs was anticipated therein. Specifically, exact agreement with the Virasoro generators in expectation values with respect to lattice ground states in a formal scaling limit construction was found for central charges  $c = 0, \frac{1}{2}, -2$ . Thus, our results yield a rigorous justification of the computations in [60] for the cases  $c = 0, \frac{1}{2}$ . Moreover, our construction of scaling limits  $\omega_{\infty}$  using OAR provides a detailed mathematical framework for the scaling limit considered by Koo and Saleur, allowing for the approximation of Virasoro generators in an operator sense (strong operator topology) instead of expectation values (weak operator topology). This is achieved by explicitly constructing a Hilbert space of states

via the GNS representation of  $\omega_{\infty}$  corresponding to scaling limits of the low-lying excited states relative to the lattice ground state  $\omega_0^{(N)}$ . Interestingly, the exact formal as well as rigorous results for the approximation of the Virasoro generators by the Koo–Saleur formula essentially rely on the definition of the correct scaling limit representation by subtracting vacuum/ground-state expectation values, which corresponds to normal ordering as the Virasoro generators and KS approximants are quadratic expression in free fermions. Therefore, it appears reasonable to assume that the failure of the exact computations in [60] for general central charge  $c \leq 1$ , is due, at least in part, to the insufficiency of this procedure in the general case. To allow for a more direct comparison between [60], we translate our formulation in terms of fermions into the language of Temperley-Lieb algebras [44,88] in Sect. 4.2.1.

We point out that in addition to the treatment of currents of WZW models, our results also cover the scaling limit of the transverse-field Ising model, which is intimately related to the two-dimensional classical Ising model [65,79], in the following sense: (1) the lattice ground states converge to their appropriate limit on the subalgebra of even observables (by the Jordan-Wigner isomorphism [26]), (2) the Koo–Saleur approximants converge to the correct Virasoro generators in the representation associated with the scaling limit (as also observed in [96]). The convergence with respect to the full observable algebra including odd observables [7,63] and their conformal covariance requires additional work going beyond the scope of the present paper and will be treated in a separate publication adapting results from [78].

Although, in this paper, we restricted our treatment to scaling limits of fermion systems and their quasi-free representations, or systems based thereon such as WZW models, not least to show the validity of our approach to recover conformal symmetry in the scaling limit via OAR in the clearest possible manner, the general method is not restricted to this setting. But, to handle, for example, arbitrary rational CFTs, it will be necessary to address lattice models involving anyonic chains [28,96]. To employ OAR to such models, we need an appropriate family of refining maps. Such a potential family of such maps is induced by the Jones–Wenzl projection [56,92]. However, this it is beyond the scope of this paper and will be presented elsewhere.

Furthermore, our current treatment of WZW models only allows for a central charge in the range  $r \le c \le D$ , where D is the number of copies of fermions and r is the rank of Lie algebra of the model. To allow for a central charge c < 1, a natural next step is to check the compatibility with the coset construction [39,40]

In addition, it would be interesting to understand whether the analysis presented here extends to the setting of so-called "symplectic fermions" [34,57,77] with c = -2corresponding to one of the case where exact formal results were obtained by Koo and Saleur [60]. Such an extension appears to be feasible because the algebraic structure of the continuum chiral algebra generated by the symplectic two-component fermion can be discretized by multi-scale decomposition using the adjoint conditional expectations  $\alpha_N^M$ , M > N, associated with the refining quantum channels (cp. Sect. 1.2). But, it needs to be clarified whether such a discretization of the continuum model can be recovered via the renormalization group flow in OAR from a suitable Hamiltonian lattice model, e.g. the XX spin chain formulation of dense polymers [77]. This said, we leave a detailed analysis of this case for future work.

*1.2. Comparison with other approaches.* The strategy outlined above is by no means the only one may adopt to realize QFTs rigorously. Indeed, tremendous effort and major

successes have been obtained by focussing on other approaches where the Hilbert space of the quantum field theory is realized directly in the continuum or by probabilistic Euclidean methods (see [86] for an overview), and most recently in the context of stochastic quantization (see, e.g., [46, 49]). Our approach can be viewed as closely related to the quantum mechanical constructions of Glimm-Jaffe and others [35-37] in contrast with Euclidean approaches. Moreover, considerable dividends are paid by the discretization approach because, if realized correctly, one obtains a sequence of quantum lattice systems which are directly amenable to quantum simulation on quantum computers (we comment on this aspect in Remark 4.20, see also [72]). This was emphasized by Zini and Wang, who made the first concerted effort to realize CFTs via limits of Hamiltonian lattice models. Below we summarize their approach to scaling limits in the context of OAR.

Zini and Wang [96] define a *low-energy scaling limit* with the following data:

- A nested sequence of (energy-bounded) subspaces  $\mathcal{H}_N^E \subset \mathcal{H}_N^{E'}$ , associated with
- energy scales  $E' \ge E \ge 0$ , connecting unitiaries  $\phi_N^E : \mathcal{H}_N^E \to \mathcal{H}_{N+1}^E$  for sufficiently large N, i.e. a stabilizing dimension dim  $\mathcal{H}_N^E = d_E$  for all N >> 0,
- and the extension property:  $\phi_N^E = \phi_{|\mathcal{H}^E|}^{E'}$  for  $E' \ge E$ .

The scaling limit results from an inductive limit  $\mathcal{H}^E_{\infty} = \lim_{N \to N} \mathcal{H}^E_N$  along the connecting unitaries, and, by the extension property, gives a coherent system of energy-bounded Hilbert spaces  $\mathcal{H}^E_{\infty} \subset \mathcal{H}^{E'}_{\infty} \subset \mathcal{H}_{\infty}$  for  $E \leq E'$ . The convergence of Hamiltonians is understood in terms of convergent operator sequences  $\lim_{N\to\infty} \lim_{N'\to\infty} \|H_{0|E}^{(N')} - \|H_{0|E}^{(N')}\|$ 

 $\phi_{N \to N'}^E H_{0|E}^{(N)} (\phi_{N \to N'}^E)^* \|_*$ , for some suitable semi-norm  $\|.\|_*$ , which should determine  $H_{|E}$  (e.g. by the second Trotter-Kato approximation theorem [73]). Here, |E| indicates the restriction of the Hamiltonians to energies below E, and  $\phi^E_{N \to N'}$  results from the iteration of the connecting unitaries between scales  $N \leq N'$ . Again, because of coherence in E, this defines H acting on  $\mathcal{H}_{\infty}$ .

Zini and Wang also define the notion of strong scaling limit, which describes the case, when  $\phi_{N \to N'}^E$  results from the restriction of an isometry  $\phi_N : \mathcal{H}_N \to \mathcal{H}_{N+1}$  to the energy-bounded subspace.

For  $Q_N(.,.) = \langle ., O_N . \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_N}$ , the sesquilinear form associated with  $O_N \in \mathfrak{A}_N$ , convergence is defined as convergence,

$$\lim_{N\to\infty}\lim_{N'\to}Q_{N'}(\phi^E_{N\to N'}(.),\phi^E_{N\to N'}(.))=Q^E,$$

on  $\mathcal{H}^{E}_{\infty}$  (similar to the convergence of the Hamiltonians). Zini and Wang observe [96, p. 898] that compatible embeddings  $\tau_{N} : \mathfrak{A}_{N} \to \mathfrak{A}_{N+1}$ ,

$$\phi_N \circ O_N = \tau_N(O_N) \circ \phi_N,$$

in the special case of a strong scaling limit, yield an (operator-)algebraic scaling limit of the observable algebras  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty} = \lim_{N} \mathfrak{A}_{N}$  along these embeddings. They also conjecture that higher-level anyonic chains have this property.

We now explain how these scaling limits are recovered via OAR: Assuming that we have constructed the inductive limit algebra  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty}$ , together with a scaling limit state  $\omega_{\infty}^{(N)}$ , we can perform the GNS construction at each scale N resulting in a sequence of triples

Fig. 1. Enriched version of Wilson's triangle of renormalization [93]: Coarse-graining quantum channels  $(\mathcal{E}$ 's) between quantum states, refining quantum channels between observables/fields ( $\alpha$ 's), and low-energy unitaries ( $\phi$ 's) between renormalized representations (if existent)

 $\{\mathcal{H}_{\infty}^{(N)}, \pi_{\infty}^{(N)}, \Omega_{\infty}^{(N)}\}$  together with isometries  $V_{N+1}^{N} : \mathcal{H}_{\infty}^{(N)} \to \mathcal{H}_{\infty}^{(N+1)}$  induced by  $\alpha_{N+1}^{N}$  such that  $V_{N+1}^{N} \Omega_{\infty}^{(N)} = \Omega_{\infty}^{(N+1)}$  and:

$$V_{N+1}^{N} \circ \pi_{\infty}^{(N)}(O_{N}) = \pi_{\infty}^{(N+1)}(\alpha_{N+1}^{N}(O_{N})) \circ V_{N+1}^{N}$$

Thus, we find that the compatibility condition of Zini and Wang is precisely recovered by the inductive-limit structure of the scaling-limit Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{\infty}$  in the operatoralgebraic formulation. Moreover, if the GNS representations  $\{\mathcal{H}_{M}^{(N)}, \pi_{M}^{(N)}, \Omega_{M}^{(N)}\}$  of the finitely renormalized states  $\omega_{M}^{(N)}$  are unitarily equivalent, e.g. assuming a Stone-von Neumann-type result at finite scales, that is, if there are (connecting) unitaries,

$$\phi_M^N:\mathcal{H}_M^{(N)}\to\mathcal{H}_{M+1}^{(N)}$$

we can recover the structure of a low-energy scaling limit (the extension property follows again from the GNS construction because  $\omega_{M+1}^{(N)} = \omega_M^{(N+1)} \circ \alpha_{N+1}^N$ ), such that N plays the role of the energy scale E. The overall structure is illustrated in Fig. 1.

(Such structures are also achieved in the operator-algebraic renormalization of a scalar lattice field [69].)

It is worth pointing out that such a structure is not immediately available for the operator-algebraic renormalization of (free) massless chiral lattice fermions in 1+1-dimensions considered here, where the finitely renormalized states  $\omega_M^{(N)}$  are not pure (due to the entanglement of the chiral halves) in contrast with their scaling limit (given by the Hardy projection).

An important difference of our approach with the construction by Zini and Wang is that our renormalized Hilbert spaces  $\mathcal{H}_M^{(N)}$  and the connecting unitaries  $\phi_M^N$  are not necessarily associated with energy bounds, and indeed can be far more general, e.g., in the wavelet approach formulated in [85] and in Sect. 3.1 the parameter N is associated with a spatial resolution, while energy bounds are similar to the momentum-cutoff approach, see [69] and Section 3.2. This flexibility enables us to overcome a major challenge facing the construction of Zini and Wang's strong scaling limit, namely that the addition of irrelevant terms to the lattice discretizations, resulting in lattice-scale artifacts, makes it difficult if not impossible to find connecting unitaries.

In summary, the core differences between the scaling limit construction of Zini and Wang, and the OAR, may be summarized as follows:

- In the framework of Zini and Wang, the Hilbert space H<sub>∞</sub> of the scaling limit, in other words the sector of the observables, is fixed from the outset by the specification of the connecting unitaries (φ's) and the energy-bounded subspaces, or by the connecting isometries in the strong scaling limit. Then, the renormalization of the Hamiltonian and other observables amounts to determining all compatible operators (or sesquilinear forms), i.e. Ω<sub>∞</sub>, on H<sub>∞</sub>. Because the sector is fixed by the provision of the connecting unitaries, quantum states are in essence not renormalized.
- In the framework of operator-algebraic renormalization, we fix a minimal set of observables over all scales, i.e.  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty}$ , the consistency of which is described by the refining quantum channels ( $\alpha$ 's). In turn, the renormalization of states is used to find (all) sensible, compatible states on  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty}$  by starting from initial choices on each scale.

In this respect, we observe that the two notions of convergence of Hamiltonians (and observables) relative to the scaling limit  $\mathcal{H}_{\infty}$  can be compared using the GNS isometries, because

$$V_{N+1}^N \circ \pi_{\infty}^{(N)}(O_N)(V_{N+1}^N)^* = \pi_{\infty}^{(N+1)}(\alpha_{N+1}^N(O_N))p_{\operatorname{im} V_{N+1}^N}$$

where  $p_{\operatorname{im} V_{N+1}^N}$  is projection onto the image of  $V_{N+1}^N$ .

A second key contribution to the mathematical literature on approximations of CFTs is found in papers building tensor-network approximations via matrix product states [61,62] in the context of VOAs or wavelets and their scaling functions in a Hamiltonian lattice setup [27,48,94]. Specifically, in the latter group of papers a central role is also played by an inductive system of quantum channels  $\alpha_M^N$ , M > N, or more precisely their adjoint conditional expectations [25],

$$\alpha_N^M:\mathfrak{A}_M\longrightarrow\mathfrak{A}_N,\qquad \qquad M>N$$

These are used to define coarse-grained fermion fields as well as finite-scale approximants of (trace-class) second-quantized one-particle operators. In that respect, it should be noted that the main theorem of [94] concerning the approximation of correlation functions of the continuum free fermion field only applies to the insertion of basic fermions in the sense of our Theorem B, see [94, Theorem 4.4, p. 31]). Thus, more general operators such as Virasoro generators  $L_{\pm,k}$  or WZW currents are explicitly excluded. Such restriction do not apply in the OAR approach we adopt here. Another important difference in comparison with the operator-algebraic approach is the need for a continuum model to define the approximants using the conditional expectations  $\alpha_N^{\infty}$ , which is not intrinsically required by our method. It should also be noted that the approximation of correlation functions achieved in [48,94] is deduced from an error bound of the form,

$$|\langle O_1 \dots O_n \rangle^{(N)} - \langle O_1 \dots O_n \rangle_{\text{cont}}| \lesssim \mathcal{O}(2^{cN}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon \log \varepsilon),$$

requiring an  $\varepsilon$ -dependent choice of scaling functions to define the lattice correlation function  $\langle O_1 \dots O_n \rangle^{(N)}$ ,  $N = N(\varepsilon)$ , and achieve a desired degree of accuracy prohibiting a rigorous proof of convergence in the scaling limit. Although it should be said, that N is expected to decay exponentially with  $\varepsilon$ , which would entail the aforesaid convergence, according to [94] and the references therein. Such an adaptation of the chosen scaling functions to the accuracy goal of the approximation is not required by OAR.

Finally, let us comment on further results in the literature.

In [43] (see also [42]), there is very interesting work on the KS approximants in the setting of the XXZ spin chain in terms of Temperley-Lieb algebras as in [60]. The

authors consider a certain "weak-scaling" procedure, which we would paraphrase as weak operator convergence of KS approximants and products thereof. Interestingly, the weak convergence is restricted to a certain class of scaling states lattice states, which we believe roughly correspond to the states identified by the GNS representation of the scaling limit  $\{\mathfrak{A}_{\infty}, \omega_{\infty}\}$  in OAR. Moreover, [43] provides a wealth of conjectures, backed by extensive numerics, concerning the limits appearing in the "weak-scaling" procedure, and, thus, it would be worthwhile to investigate whether our methods allow for a proof at least further progress, potentially exploiting the connection with the formulation based on Temperley-Lieb algebras for general  $c \neq 0$  (see Section 4.2.1). In particular, it would be interesting whether our methods allow to lift the "weak-scaling" procedure to a "strong" version (in the sense of operator topologies).

As mentioned above, there is an ongoing concerted and very successful effort in the Euclidean setting using classical probabilistic methods and, specifically, the concept of *discrete holomorphicity* (see [18,19,51]) and references therein. In [51] it is shown how to explicitly relate discrete holomorphic structures with the continuum Virasoro algebra, thereby establishing a correspondence between correlation functions of lattice local fields and their counterparts in the continuum. As this is analogous to various degrees to what is achieved in the work presented here and the other Hamiltonian frameworks discussed above, it would be interesting to explore potential connections. Concretely, such an analysis could start from the ideas presented [29] and by exploiting the natural connection between Euclidean and Hamiltonian formulation of critical systems via the transfer matrix formalism.

*1.3. Outline of the article.* In this paper we develop the theory of OAR and apply it to the discrete approximation of conformal symmetries in continuum CFTs. This yields an explicit family of lattice systems and bounds which may be directly exploited to carry out the quantum simulation of CFTs on quantum computers (see our companion paper [72]).

The structure of the paper is as follows: In Sect. 2, we provide a detailed overview of known results on complex and self-dual fermion algebras required for the proofs of our results. Moreover, we introduce the necessary setup for fermions on lattices required for our scaling limit construction. In Sect. 3, we introduce the scaling maps required for OAR: (1) the wavelet renormalization group, (2) the momentum-cutoff renormalization group in addition, we discuss the compatibility of the wavelet renormalization group with the quasi-local structure of the fermion algebra in the scaling limit, give a basic decay estimate for wavelet approximations, and prove the convergence of the scaling limit of the ground states of the lattice Dirac Hamiltonian. In Sect. 4, we discuss Koo–Saleur approximants and their formal scaling limit yielding the Virasoro generators, before we prove their convergence in the scaling limit as alluded to in Theorem A. In Sect. 5, we explain the modifications necessary to apply the convergence results to cover WZW currents. Finally, in Sect. 6, we apply the convergence results for the KS approximants to deduce the convergence of (dynamical) correlation functions of various kinds as exemplified by Theorems B & C.

## 2. Lattice Fermions in 1+1-Dimensions

2.1. The algebra of canonical anti-commutation relations. Let us recall some basic structures and results concerning the canonical anti-commutation relations (CAR). For further details we refer to the general references [9,26].

The complex CAR algebra  $\mathfrak{A}_{CAR}(\mathfrak{h})$  of a complex Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{h}$ , the *one-particle space*, is the universal unital *C*\*-algebra generated by anti-linear map,

$$a: \mathfrak{h} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{A}_{\mathrm{CAR}}(\mathfrak{h}), \tag{1}$$

referred to as annihilation operators and subject to,

$$\{a(\xi), a^{\dagger}(\eta)\} = \langle \xi, \eta \rangle_{\mathfrak{h}}, \quad \{a(\xi), a(\eta)\} = 0 = \{a^{\dagger}(\xi), a^{\dagger}(\eta)\}, \quad \xi, \eta \in \mathfrak{h}, \quad (2)$$

where  $a^{\dagger}(\eta) = a(\eta)^*$  denotes the adjoint *creation operator*. Each  $a(\xi)$  is automatically bounded:  $||a(\xi)|| = ||\xi||_{\mathfrak{h}}$ . We will also refer to the maps  $a, a^{\dagger}$  as a *complex fermion*. We also recall that there is a \*-isomorphism  $\mathfrak{A}_{CAR}(\mathfrak{h}) \cong \bigotimes_{n=1}^{\dim \mathfrak{h}} M_2(\mathbb{C})$  which we come back to in Sect. 2.7.

The irreducible standard *Fock representation* of  $\mathfrak{A}_{CAR}(\mathfrak{h})$  on the anti-symmetric Fock space  $\mathfrak{F}_{a}(\mathfrak{h}) = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \wedge^{n} \mathfrak{h}$ , with vacuum vector  $\Omega_{0}$ , is given by:

$$a^{\dagger}(\xi)\eta_1\wedge\cdots\wedge\eta_n=\xi\wedge\eta_1\wedge\cdots\wedge\eta_n,\qquad \eta_1\wedge\cdots\wedge\eta_n\in\wedge^n\mathfrak{h},\qquad(3)$$

where  $\eta_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \eta_n = (n!)^{\frac{1}{2}} S_-(\eta_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \eta_n)$  with the projection,  $S_-: \mathfrak{h}^{\otimes n} \to \wedge^n \mathfrak{h}$ , on the anti-symmetric subspace. Subsequently, we call  $P_{\leq n}$  the projection onto the subspace  $\bigoplus_{m=0}^n \wedge^m \mathfrak{h}$ , and  $P_n = P_{\leq n} - P_{\leq n-1}$ . On  $\mathfrak{F}_a(\mathfrak{h})$ , we denote by  $(-1)^F$  the *parity operator*, i.e. the unitary operator implementing the grading of  $\mathfrak{A}_{CAR}(\mathfrak{h})$  defined by:  $\alpha_{-1}(a(\xi)) = a(-\xi) = -a(\xi), \xi \in \mathfrak{h}$ . We remark that  $(-1)^F \notin \mathfrak{A}_{CAR}(\mathfrak{H})$  unless dim  $\mathfrak{h} < \infty$ .

To treat Majorana fermions, we need in addition to  $\mathfrak{A}_{CAR}$  the notion a *self-dual CAR algebra*  $\mathfrak{A}_{SDC}(\mathfrak{h}, C)$  for some (charge) conjugation  $C : \mathfrak{h} \to \mathfrak{h}$ . The  $C^*$ -algebra  $\mathfrak{A}_{SDC}(\mathfrak{H}, C)$  is generated by an anti-linear map,

$$\Psi: \mathfrak{h} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{A}_{\mathrm{SDC}}(\mathfrak{h}, C), \tag{4}$$

which we refer to as the Majorana fermion or operator, subject to,

$$\{\Psi(\xi), \Psi(\eta)\} = \langle \xi, C\eta \rangle_{\mathfrak{h}}, \qquad \Psi(\xi)^* = \Psi(C\xi), \qquad \xi, \eta \in \mathfrak{h}.$$
(5)

We note that complex and Majorana fermions can be related by a projection,  $P : \mathfrak{h} \to \mathfrak{h}$ , such that CP = (1 - P)C (called a *basis projection*):

$$\mathfrak{A}_{\mathrm{SDC}}(\mathfrak{h}, C) \cong \mathfrak{A}_{\mathrm{CAR}}(P\mathfrak{h}), \quad a(\xi) = \Psi(\xi), \quad a^{\dagger}(\xi) = \Psi(C\xi), \quad \xi \in P\mathfrak{h}.$$
(6)

For the description of ground states of quadratic Hamiltonians, we need the notion of a quasi-free states  $\omega$  on  $\mathfrak{A}_{CAR}(\mathfrak{h})$  respectively  $\mathfrak{A}_{SDC}(\mathfrak{h}, C)$  (gauge invariant in the first case). In both cases, the state  $\omega$  is completely determined by its two-point function, i.e.  $\omega(a(\xi)a^{\dagger}(\eta))$  respectively  $\omega(\Psi(\xi)\Psi(\eta)^*)$ .

In the first case, the two-point function defines a positive operator,  $0 \le S \le 1$ , such that:

$$\omega_{S}(a(\xi)a^{\dagger}(\eta)) = \langle \xi, (1-S)\eta \rangle_{\mathfrak{h}}, \xi, \eta \in \mathfrak{h}, \omega_{S}(a(\xi_{1})\dots a(\xi_{n})a^{\dagger}(\eta_{n+1})\dots a^{\dagger}(\eta_{n+m})) = \delta_{n,m} \det((\langle \xi_{i}, (1-S)\eta_{j} \rangle_{\mathfrak{h}})_{i,j=1}^{n}).$$
(7)

Clearly, the vacuum vector  $\Omega_0$  corresponds to S = 0. Moreover,  $\omega_S$  is a pure state if and only if S is a projection.

In the second case, the two-point function also defines a positive operator,  $0 \le S \le 1$ , with the additional property CS = (1 - S)C, such that:

$$\omega_{S}(\Psi(\xi)\Psi(\eta)^{*}) = \langle \xi, (1-S)\eta \rangle_{\mathfrak{h}}, \xi, \eta \in \mathfrak{h},$$
  
$$\omega_{S}(\Psi(\xi_{1})\dots\Psi(\xi_{n})) = \mathrm{pf}((\langle \xi_{i}, (1-S)C\xi_{j} \rangle_{\mathfrak{h}})_{i,j=1}^{n}), \tag{8}$$

where pf denotes the Pfaffian, which we define to vanish for *n* odd. As before, the state  $\omega_S$  is pure if and only if *S* is a (basis) projection.

In both cases, the Gelfand-Naimark-Segal (GNS) representation of pure states,  $S^2 = S$ , can be realized on anti-symmetric Fock space by:

$$\pi_{S}(a(\xi)) = a((1-S)\xi) + a^{\dagger}(JS\xi), \qquad \xi \in \mathfrak{h},$$
(9)

for some conjugation  $J : \mathfrak{h} \to \mathfrak{h}$  with JS = SJ, respectively,

$$\pi_{S}(\Psi(\xi)) = a((1-S)\xi) + a^{\dagger}(CS\xi), \qquad \xi \in \mathfrak{h}.$$
<sup>(10)</sup>

Clearly, the notation is consistent with  $\pi_0$  being the Fock representation (3). In the non-pure situation, an analogous realization on the doubled Fock space,  $\mathfrak{F}_a(\mathfrak{h}^{\oplus 2}) = \mathfrak{F}_a(\mathfrak{h})^{\otimes 2}$ , via the  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -twisted tensor product,  $\mathfrak{A}_{CAR}(\mathfrak{h})^{\otimes \mathbb{Z}_2^2} = \mathfrak{A}_{CAR}(\mathfrak{h}^{\oplus 2})$  respectively  $\mathfrak{A}_{SDC}(\mathfrak{h}, C)^{\otimes \mathbb{Z}_2^2} = \mathfrak{A}_{SDC}(\mathfrak{h}^{\oplus 2}, C \oplus (-C))$ , is possible because,

$$P_{S} = \begin{pmatrix} S & S^{\frac{1}{2}}(1-S)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ S^{\frac{1}{2}}(1-S)^{\frac{1}{2}} & 1-S \end{pmatrix},$$
(11)

is a (basis) projection [2,66].

2.1.1. Implementation of Bogoliubov transformations Central to our analysis of the recovery of conformal symmetry via lattice approximations is the question of implementability of Bogoliubov or quasi-free transformations of the complex and Majorana fermion algebras,  $\mathfrak{A}_{CAR}(\mathfrak{h})$  respectively  $\mathfrak{A}_{SDC}(\mathfrak{h}, C)$ , in quasi-free representations (9) & (10). To this end, we briefly recall some well-known formulas and results and refer to [2,14,26,30,66,76] for further details.

In its basic form a Bogoliubov transformation  $\alpha_T$  is densely defined morphism of the CAR associated with an invertible, bounded operator,  $T \in B(\mathfrak{h})$ , on the one-particle space:

$$\alpha_T(a^{\dagger}(\xi)) = a^{\dagger}(T\xi), \qquad \alpha_T(a(\xi)) = a(T^{-1} * \xi).$$
(12)

Similarly a bounded operator  $G \in B(\mathfrak{h})$  yields a densely defined derivation  $\delta_G$  by:

$$\delta_G(a^{\dagger}(\xi)) = a^{\dagger}(G\xi), \qquad \qquad \delta_G(a(\xi)) = -a(G^*\xi). \tag{13}$$

In the Fock representation (3), Bogoliubov transformations and their derivations can be implemented as (unbounded) operators on the dense subspace  $\mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{h}) = \underset{n=0}{\operatorname{alg}} \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \wedge^n \mathfrak{h}$  of vectors with finite particle number by multiplicative,  $F_0$ , and additive,  $dF_0$ , second quantization:

$$\alpha_T(a^{\dagger}(\xi)) = \operatorname{Ad}_{F_0(G)}(a^{\dagger}(\xi)), \qquad \qquad \delta_G(a^{\dagger}(\xi)) = \operatorname{ad}_{dF_0(G)}(a^{\dagger}(\xi)), \qquad (14)$$

where

$$F_0(T)\eta_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \eta_n = T\eta_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge T\eta_n, \qquad F_0(T)\Omega_0 = \Omega_0,$$

$$dF_0(G)\eta_1 \wedge \dots \wedge \eta_n = \sum_{m=1}^n \eta_1 \wedge \dots \wedge G\eta_m \wedge \dots \wedge \eta_n, \quad dF_0(G)\Omega_0 = 0.$$
(15)

 $F_0$  and  $dF_0$  are related by  $F_0 = \exp dF_0$  via the identification  $T = \exp(G)$ , and we have the obvious bound:

$$\|dF_0(G)P_{\le n}\| \le n\|G\|.$$
(16)

Moreover, we can expand  $F_0$  and  $dF_0$  in terms of annihilation and creation operators because:

$$dF_0(G) = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} a^{\dagger}(G\xi_i)a(\xi_i) = a^{\dagger}Aa, \qquad (17)$$

for some orthonormal basis  $\{\xi_i\}_{i \in \mathcal{I}}$  of  $\mathfrak{h}$ , which satisfies:

$$[dF_0(G_1), dF_0(G_2)] = dF_0([G_1, G_2]).$$
(18)

We note that the parity operator is given by  $F_0(-1) = (-1)^F$ .

In the self-dual setting,  $\mathfrak{A}_{SDC}(\mathfrak{h}, C)$ , the same ideas apply with further constraints on the admissible one-particle operators. Specifically, with respect to the conjugation *C*, we require:

$$CT^{-1}*C = T,$$
  $CG^*C = -G.$  (19)

If we write G = iH instead, we will also have  $CH^*C = -H$ . We denote the analogues of  $F_0$  and  $dF_0$  by  $Q_0$  respectively  $dQ_0$  in this case:

$$dQ_0(G) = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \frac{1}{2} \Psi(G\xi_i)^* \Psi(\xi_i) = \frac{1}{2} \Psi^* A \Psi.$$
 (20)

Starting from the basic case, it is possible to extend the notion of Bogoliubov transformations and their derivations as well as multiplicative and additive second quantization to larger classes of operators on  $\mathfrak{h}$ , based on the bound:

$$\|dF_0(G)a^{\dagger}(\eta_1)\dots a^{\dagger}(\eta_n)\Omega_0\| \le \sum_{m=1}^n \|\eta_1\|\dots \|G\eta_m\|\dots \|\eta_n\|.$$
(21)

Important examples, that we will make use of, comprise contractions  $||T|| \le 1$  as well as unbounded (essentially) self-adjoint operators  $(H, \mathcal{D}(H))$ , such that G = iH, or even closed unbounded operators in the case of the generators of the Virasoro algebra.

As pointed out above, we are particularly interested in the implementability of Bogoliubov transformations in the context of quasi-free representations  $\pi_S$ . In this context, a key formula is the additive *normal-ordered second quantization* relative to a pure-state representation  $\pi_S$ ,  $S^2 = S$ , in analogy with (17):

$$dF_{S}(G) = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} : \pi_{S}(a^{\dagger}(G\xi_{i})a(\xi_{i})) :$$
  
= 
$$\sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \left( a^{\dagger}(S_{+}G\xi_{i})a(S_{+}\xi_{i})) - a^{\dagger}(JS_{-}\xi_{i})a(JS_{-}G\xi_{i}) \right)$$

$$+ a^{\dagger}(S_{+}G\xi_{i})a^{\dagger}(JS_{-}\xi_{i})) + a(JS_{-}G\xi_{i})a(S_{+}\xi_{i})) \Big)$$
  
=  $a^{\dagger}G_{++}a - a^{\dagger}G_{--}^{t}a + a^{\dagger}G_{+-}a^{\dagger} + aG_{-+}a,$  (22)

with  $G^t = JG^*J$ , and similarly,

$$dQ_{S}(G) = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} : \pi_{S}(\frac{1}{2}\Psi(G\xi_{i})^{*}\Psi(\xi_{i})) :$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{2}(a^{\dagger}G_{++}a - a^{\dagger}G_{--}^{T}a + a^{\dagger}G_{+-}a^{\dagger} + aG_{-+}a)$   
=  $a^{\dagger}G_{++}a + \frac{1}{2}(a^{\dagger}G_{+-}a^{\dagger} + aG_{-+}a),$  (23)

with  $G^T = CG^*C$ . Here,  $S_- = S$ ,  $S_+ = 1 - S$ , and we use block-matrix notation,

$$G = S_{+}GS_{+} + S_{+}GS_{-} + S_{-}GS_{+} + S_{-}GS_{-} = \begin{pmatrix} G_{++} & G_{+-} \\ G_{-+} & G_{--} \end{pmatrix},$$
 (24)

as well as the standard symbol :  $\cdot$  : for normal ordering with respect to the Fock vacuum  $\Omega_0^3$ . These formulas show that  $dF_S(G)$  and  $dQ_S(G)$  can be defined as operators on Fock space if the off-diagonal parts  $G_{+-}$  and  $G_{-+}$  are in the Hilbert-Schmidt class because:

$$\|a^{\dagger}G_{+-}a^{\dagger}P_{\leq n}\| \leq (n+2)\|G_{+-}\|_{2}, \qquad \|aG_{+-}aP_{\leq n}\| \leq n\|G_{+-}\|_{2}.$$
(25)

Notably, the formulas (22) & (23) can be written as:

$$dF_{S}(G) = \pi_{S}(dF_{0}(G)) - \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathfrak{h}}(G_{--}) = \pi_{S}(dF_{0}(G)) - \omega_{S}(dF_{0}(G)),$$
  
$$dQ_{S}(G) = \pi_{S}(dQ_{0}(G)) - \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathfrak{h}}(G_{--}) = \pi_{S}(dQ_{0}(G)) - \omega_{S}(dQ_{0}(G)), \quad (26)$$

when  $G_{--}$  is in the trace class. It is a consequence of these formulas that the commutator identity (18) acquires an additional central term, called the *Schwinger cocycle* [66]:

$$c_{\mathcal{S}}(G_1, G_2) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathfrak{h}}([G_1, G_2]_{--}) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathfrak{h}}((G_1)_{-+}(G_2)_{+-} - (G_2)_{-+}(G_1)_{+-}), \quad (27)$$

such that

$$[dF_S(G_1), dF_S(G_2)] = dF_S([G_1, G_2]) + c_S(G_1, G_2),$$
  
$$[dQ_S(G_1), dQ_S(G_2)] = dQ_S([G_1, G_2]) + \frac{1}{2}c_S(G_1, G_2).$$
 (28)

It precisely the Schwinger cocycle  $c_S$  that leads to the central charge in the commutation relations of the Virasoro generators. For operators  $G_1$ ,  $G_2$  with off-diagonal parts in the Hilbert-Schmidt class the Schwinger cocycle satisfies the obvious bound:

$$|c_{S}(G_{1}, G_{2})| \leq \left( \|(G_{1})_{-+}\|_{2} \|(G_{2})_{+-}\|_{2} + \|(G_{2})_{-+}\|_{2} \|(G_{1})_{+-}\|_{2} \right).$$
(29)

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  i.e. creation operators to left and annihilation operators to the right with the appropriate signs due to the CAR.

2.2. Lattice fermions at different scales. We describe spatial fermions<sup>4</sup> with *s* components at a (dyadic) resolution  $\varepsilon_N = 2^{-N} \varepsilon_0$ ,  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , for some basic length scale  $\varepsilon_0$  in a *d*-dimensional hypercubic volume,  $\mathbb{T}_L^d = (S_L^1)^{\times d} = \mathbb{R}^d / 2L\mathbb{Z}^d$ , of size vol  $\mathbb{T}_L^d = (2L)^d$ , L > 0, by the one-particle space,

$$\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm} = \ell^2(\Lambda_N)_{\pm} \otimes \mathbb{C}^s, \qquad \langle \xi, \eta \rangle_N = \sum_{x \in \Lambda_N} \langle \xi_x, \eta_x \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^s}, \qquad (30)$$

associated with the lattice,

$$\Lambda_N = \varepsilon_N \{-L_N, \dots, L_N - 1\}^d \subset \mathbb{T}_L^d, \qquad \qquad \varepsilon_N L_N = L. \tag{31}$$

The subscript  $\pm$  refers to the unitary action of the translations  $\tau_{\pm}^{(N)} : \Lambda_N \frown \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}$  given by:

$$\tau_{\pm|x}^{(N)}(\xi)_{y} = (\pm 1)^{\left[\frac{y-x}{2L}\right]} \xi_{y-x}, \qquad \xi \in \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm},$$
(32)

where we allow for the occurrence of a non-trivial phase which we also refer to as *boundary condition*<sup>5</sup>, because it encodes whether  $\xi \in \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}$  can be considered as periodic (+) or anti-periodic (-) on  $\Lambda_N$ . These two types of boundary conditions are also referred to as *Ramond sector* (+) and *Neveu-Schwarz sector* (-) [21,26].

We denote the corresponding algebras of lattice fermions, complex and Majorana, by:

$$\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm} = \mathfrak{A}_{\mathrm{CAR}}(\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}), \qquad \mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm} = \mathfrak{A}_{\mathrm{SDC}}(\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}, C), \qquad (33)$$

where  $C : \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm} \to \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}$  is the charge conjugation that we only specify explicitly in the next subsection. We use the notation,

$$a_x^{(j)} = a(\delta_{x,j}^{(N)}), \qquad \Psi_x = \Psi(\delta_{x,j}^{(N)}), \qquad (34)$$

for the special set of generators of  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}$  associated with the standard basis of  $\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}$ :

$$\delta_{x,j}^{(N)} = \delta_x^{(N)} \otimes (0, \dots, \underbrace{1}_{j \text{th component}}, \dots, 0) \qquad x \in \Lambda_N, \, j = 1, \dots, s.$$
(35)

The lattice Fourier transform,

$$\hat{\xi}^{(j)}(k) = \sum_{x \in \Lambda_N} e^{-ikx} \xi^{(j)}(x) = \langle e_{k,j}, \xi \rangle_N, \quad \xi = (\xi^{(1)}, \dots, \xi^{(s)}) \in \ell^2(\Lambda_N)_{\pm} \otimes \mathbb{C}^s,$$
(36)

provides a unitary identification  $\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm} \cong \ell^2(\Gamma_{N,\pm}, (2L_N)^{-d}) \otimes \mathbb{C}^s$  where

$$\Gamma_{N,+} = \frac{\pi}{L} \{-L_N, ..., 0, ..., L_N - 1\}^d, \quad \Gamma_{N,-} = \frac{\pi}{L} \{-L_N + \frac{1}{2}, ..., 0, ..., L_N - \frac{1}{2}\}^d,$$
(37)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Or time-zero fermions as opposed to spacetime fermions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> We restrict attention boundary conditions associated with phases  $\pm 1$ , i.e. unitary representations of the double cover of  $\mathbb{T}_{L}^{d}$ , because we are interested in translation-invariant quadratic Hamiltonians in the following, but more general phases given by other coverings of  $\mathbb{T}_{L}^{d}$  are conceivable.

is the dual momentum-space lattice  $\Lambda_N$ , and

$$e_{k,j} = e^{ik(.)} \otimes (0, \dots, \underbrace{1}_{j \text{ th component}}, \dots, 0), \qquad k \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}, \, j = 1, \dots, s, \tag{38}$$

is the plane-wave basis of  $\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}$ .

We extend the Fourier transform and its inverse to  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}$  by linearity:

$$\hat{a}_{k}^{(j)} = a(e_{k,j}) = \sum_{x \in \Lambda_{N}} e^{-ikx} \phi_{x}^{(j)}, \qquad a_{x}^{(j)} = \hat{a}(e_{-x,j}) = \frac{1}{2L_{N}} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N}} e^{ikx} \hat{a}_{k}^{(j)},$$
$$\hat{\Psi}_{k}^{(j)} = \Psi(e_{k,j}) = \sum_{x \in \Lambda_{N}} e^{-ikx} \Psi_{x}^{(j)}, \quad \Psi_{x}^{(j)} = \hat{\Psi}(e_{-x,j}) = \frac{1}{2L_{N}} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N}} e^{ikx} \hat{\Psi}_{k}^{(j)}, \quad (39)$$

for  $x \in \Lambda_N$ ,  $k \in \Gamma_N$ , j = 1, ..., s. Here, we also introduced the dual plane-wave basis  $\{e_{x,j} \mid x \in \Lambda_N, j = 1, ..., s\}$  by analogy with (38). Thus, the lattice Fourier transform provides us with \*-isomorphims,

$$\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm} \cong \mathfrak{A}_{\mathrm{CAR}}(\ell^2(\Gamma_{N,\pm},(2L_N)^{-d})\otimes\mathbb{C}^s),$$
  
$$\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm} \cong \mathfrak{A}_{\mathrm{SDC}}(\ell^2(\Gamma_{N,\pm},(2L_N)^{-d})\otimes\mathbb{C}^s,C),$$
(40)

which can be expressed by:  $\hat{a}(\hat{\xi}) = a(\xi)$  respectively  $\hat{\Psi}(\hat{\xi}) = \Psi(\xi)$  for  $\xi \in \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}$ .

In view of the construction of the scaling limit in Sect. 3, we also allow for  $N = \infty$ , where we put:

$$\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm} = L^2(\mathbb{T}_L^d)_{\pm} \otimes \mathbb{C}^s \cong \ell^2(\Gamma_{\infty,\pm}, (2L)^{-d}) \otimes \mathbb{C}^s, \qquad \Gamma_{\infty,+} = \frac{\pi}{L} \mathbb{Z}^d,$$
  
$$\Gamma_{\infty,-} = \frac{\pi}{L} (\mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2})^d, \qquad (41)$$

with the continuum Fourier transform,

$$\hat{\xi}_{k}^{(j)} = \mathcal{F}_{L}[\xi^{(j)}]_{k} = \int_{\mathbb{T}_{L}^{d}} dx \, e^{-ikx} \xi_{x}^{(j)} = \langle e_{k,j}, f \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}_{L}^{d})}, \qquad k \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}, \tag{42}$$

for periodic and anti-periodic functions in  $L^2(\mathbb{T}^d_L)_{\pm}$ . As above, we have:

$$\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm} = \mathfrak{A}_{\mathrm{CAR}}(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}), \qquad \mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm} = \mathfrak{A}_{\mathrm{SDC}}(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}, C).$$
(43)

2.3. The free lattice Dirac Hamiltonian in 1+1-dimensions. Since our principal interest lies with models that exhibit local conformal symmetries in the scaling limit, we restrict from this point on to one spatial dimension (d = 1) and two-component fermions (s = 1). Specifically, we undertake a detailed analysis of a discretized version of the free Dirac Hamiltonian on the lattice  $\Lambda_N$  as various models of conformal field theory can be realized in terms of free fermions in the continuum [21,26,91,95]. In the staggered lattice approximation<sup>6</sup> [87] the massive Dirac-Hamiltonian as an element of  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$  is given by:

$$H_0^{(N)} = \varepsilon_N^{-1} \sum_{x \in \Lambda_N} \left( a_{x+\varepsilon_N}^{(1)\dagger} a_x^{(2)} - a_x^{(1)\dagger} a_x^{(2)} + \text{h.c.} + \lambda_N \left( a_x^{(1)\dagger} a_x^{(1)} - a_x^{(2)\dagger} a_x^{(2)} \right) \right).$$
(44)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> We use the forward and backward difference to approximate the derivative of the two components respectively. This avoids the notorious fermion doubling in lattice approximations of continuum fermion models.

Here,  $\lambda_N \ge 0$  is a dimensionless "lattice mass" parameter, and "h.c." denotes the hermitean conjugate of the preceding terms. Invoking the lattice Fourier transform, the Hamiltonian (44) can be written in 2 × 2-matrix notation as a second quantized operator:

$$H_{0}^{(N)} = \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{a}_{k}^{(1)} \\ \hat{a}_{k}^{(2)} \end{pmatrix}^{*} \underbrace{\begin{pmatrix} \lambda_{N} & e^{-ik\varepsilon_{N}} - 1 \\ e^{ik\varepsilon_{N}} - 1 & -\lambda_{N} \end{pmatrix}}_{=n_{\lambda_{N}}(k) \cdot \sigma = h_{0}^{(N)}(k)} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{a}_{k}^{(1)} \\ \hat{a}_{k}^{(2)} \end{pmatrix} = \varepsilon_{N}^{-1} dF_{0}(h_{0}^{(N)}), \quad (45)$$

where  $n_{\lambda_N}(k) = (\cos(\varepsilon_N k) - 1)e_x + \sin(\varepsilon_N k)e_y + \lambda_N e_z \in \mathbb{R}^3$ , and  $\sigma$  is the vector of Pauli matrices:

$$\sigma_x = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \sigma_y = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \sigma_z = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(46)

The spectral decomposition of the *one-particle Hamiltonian*  $h_0^{(N)}(k)$ ,

$$h_0^{(N)}(k) = \omega_{\lambda_N}(k) \Big( P_{\lambda_N}^{(+)}(k) - P_{\lambda_N}^{(-)}(k) \Big),$$
(47)

is given in terms of the spectral projections<sup>7</sup>,

$$P_{\lambda_N}^{(\pm)}(k) = \frac{1}{2\omega_{\lambda_N}(k)} \Big( \omega_{\lambda_N}(k) \,\mathbb{1}_2 \pm h_0^{(N)}(k) \Big) \tag{48}$$

with the lattice dispersion relation:

$$\omega_{\lambda_N}(k) = \left(\lambda_N^2 + 4\sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_N k)^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(49)

At k = 0, we have  $h_0^{(N)}(0) = \lambda_N \sigma_z$ , and we diagonalize  $h_0^{(N)}(k)$  for all  $k \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}$  by:

$$\gamma_{\lambda N}(k) = \left(\frac{1}{2\omega_{\lambda N}(k)}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} (\omega_{\lambda N}(k) + \lambda_N)^{\frac{1}{2}} & i \operatorname{sign}(k)(\omega_{\lambda N}(k) - \lambda_N)^{\frac{1}{2}}e^{-\frac{i}{2}\varepsilon_N k} \\ i \frac{2\sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_N k)}{(\omega_{\lambda N}(k) + \lambda_N)^{\frac{1}{2}}}e^{\frac{i}{2}\varepsilon_N k} & \operatorname{sign}(k)\frac{2\sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_N k)}{(\omega_{\lambda N}(k) - \lambda_N)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \cosh(\vartheta_k)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \cosh(\frac{1}{2}\vartheta_k) & i \sinh(\frac{1}{2}\vartheta_k)e^{-\frac{i}{2}\varepsilon_N k} \\ i \sinh(\frac{1}{2}\vartheta_k)e^{\frac{i}{2}\varepsilon_N k} & \cosh(\frac{1}{2}\vartheta_k) \end{pmatrix},$$
(50)

i.e.  $\gamma_{\lambda_N}(k)^* h_0^{(N)}(k) \gamma_{\lambda_N}(k) = \omega_{\lambda_N}(k) \sigma_z$ . In the second line, we introduced lattice rapidities,  $2\sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_N k) = \lambda_N \sinh(\vartheta_k)$ , to exemplify the unitarity of  $\gamma_{\lambda_N}(k)$  for  $\lambda_N \neq 0$ . Thus, the Bogoliubov transformation,

$$(\hat{c}_k^{(1)}, \hat{c}_k^{(2)})^t = \gamma_{\lambda_N}(k)^* (\hat{a}_k^{(1)}, \hat{a}_k^{(2)})^t,$$
(51)

diagonalizes the Hamiltonian  $H_0^{(N)}$ :

$$H_0^{(N)} = \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \omega_{\lambda_N}(k) (\hat{c}_k^{(1)\dagger} \hat{c}_k^{(1)} - \hat{c}_k^{(2)\dagger} \hat{c}_k^{(2)}).$$
(52)

<sup>7</sup> Apart from k = 0 and  $\lambda_N = 0$  where  $h_0^{(N)}(0) = 0$  which is consistent with  $P_0^{(\pm)}(0) = \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{1}_2$ .

The many-body ground state of  $H_0^{(N)}$ , i.e. the lattice vacuum  $\Omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}$  at scale N, corresponds to the half-filled Fock vacuum (*Fermi sea*):

$$\hat{c}_{k}^{(1)}\Omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)} = 0, \qquad \hat{c}_{k}^{(2)\dagger}\Omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)} = 0, \qquad \forall k \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}.$$
 (53)

The unitary that implements the Bogoliubov transform (51) and relates the lattice vacuum  $\Omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}$  to the Fock vacuum of  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$  is given by:

$$U_{\lambda_N} = \prod_{k \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \exp\left(\frac{1}{2L_N} \left( \nu_k \hat{a}_k^{(2)} \hat{a}_k^{(1)\dagger} + \mu_k \hat{a}_k^{(1)} \hat{a}_k^{(2)\dagger} \right) \right)$$
  
=  $\exp\left(\frac{1}{2L_N} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \nu_k \hat{a}_k^{(2)} \hat{a}_k^{(1)\dagger} + \mu_k \hat{a}_k^{(1)} \hat{a}_k^{(2)\dagger} \right)$  (54)

where

$$(\nu_k \mu_k)^{\frac{1}{2}} = \cosh^{-1}\left(\frac{\cosh(\frac{1}{2}\vartheta_k)}{\cosh(\vartheta_k)^{\frac{1}{2}}}\right), \ \left(\frac{\nu_k}{\mu_k}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} = -ie^{-\frac{i}{2}\varepsilon_N k}.$$
 (55)

It is evident from the expression for  $U_{\lambda_N}$  that the lattice vacuum is of even parity:  $(-1)^F \Omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)} = \Omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}$ . Alternatively, we can invoke another Bogoliubov transformation, commonly used in quantum field theory,

$$\tilde{c}_{k}^{(1)} = \hat{c}_{k}^{(1)}, \qquad \tilde{c}_{k}^{(2)} = \hat{c}_{k}^{(2)\dagger}, \qquad \forall k \in \Gamma_{N,\pm},$$
(56)

to obtain a description of the Fermi sea as a standard Fock vacuum:

$$\tilde{c}_{k}^{(1)}\Omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)} = 0, \qquad \tilde{c}_{k}^{(2)}\Omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)} = 0, \qquad \forall k \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}.$$
(57)

The Bogoliubov transformation (56) exemplifies the need for an additive energy renormalization of the Hamiltonian  $H_0^{(N)}$  in the scaling limit  $N \to \infty$ :

$$H_0^{(N)} = \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \omega_{\lambda_N}(k) (\tilde{c}_k^{(1)\dagger} \tilde{c}_k^{(1)} + \tilde{c}_k^{(2)\dagger} \tilde{c}_k^{(2)}) - \varepsilon_N^{-1} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \omega_{\lambda_N}(k).$$
(58)

The lattice vacuum  $\Omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}$  determines a quasi-free state on the fermion algebra  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$ :

$$\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}(a(\xi)a^{\dagger}(\eta)) = (\Omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}, \hat{a}(\hat{\xi})\hat{a}^{\dagger}(\hat{\eta})\Omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}) 
= \frac{1}{2L_N} \sum_{k\in\Gamma_{N,\pm}} \langle \hat{\xi}_k, P_{\lambda_N}^{(+)}(k)\hat{\eta}_k \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^2} = \langle \xi, (1-S_0^{(N)})\eta \rangle_N, \quad (59)$$

where the one-particle operator is specified in momentum-space by  $S_0^{(N)}(k) = P_{\lambda_N}^{(-)}(k)$ .

From this expression it is easy to obtain the massless lattice vacuum in the limit  $\lambda_N \to 0+$ , although the Ramond sector acquires a degeneracy in the zero mode (k = 0) because  $h_0^{(N)}(0) = 0$ :

$$P_{\lambda_N=0}^{(+)}(k) = \frac{1}{2}(\mathbb{1}_2 + \operatorname{sign}(k)(-\sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_N k)\sigma_x + \cos(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_N k)\sigma_y))$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -i\operatorname{sign}(k)e^{-\frac{i}{2}k\varepsilon_N} \\ i\operatorname{sign}(k)e^{\frac{i}{2}k\varepsilon_N} & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(60)

with the convention sign(0) = 0. This way,  $P_{\lambda_N=0}^{(+)}(0) = \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{1}_2$  reflects a uniform probability distribution of the quasi-free state  $\omega_{0,+}^{(N)}$  at k = 0 compatible with the chiral decomposition of  $\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}$  (see Section 2.4). But, the state is not pure because  $P_{\lambda_N=0}^{(+)}$  is not a projection<sup>8</sup>.

2.4. *Chiral decomposition.* The chiral parts of the lattice fermion algebras result from applying the chiral projectors  $p_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2}(\mathbb{1}_2 \pm \sigma_y)^9$  to the one-particle space  $\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}$ :

$$\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm} = \ell^2(\Lambda_N)_{\pm} \otimes \mathbb{C}^2 = \ell^2(\Lambda_N)_{\pm} \otimes p_+ \mathbb{C}^2 \oplus \ell^2(\Lambda_N)_{\pm} \otimes p_- \mathbb{C}^2 = \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}^{(+)} \oplus \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}^{(-)}.$$
(61)

Using the eigenvectors  $e_{\pm} = 2^{-\frac{1}{2}}(e_1 \pm i e_2)$  of  $p_{\pm}$ , we can introduce the complex chiral fermions,  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}^{(\pm)} = \mathfrak{A}_{CAR}(\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}^{(\pm)})$ , by

$$\psi_{\pm}(\xi) = a(\xi e_{\pm}) = 2^{-\frac{1}{2}} (a^{(1)}(\xi) \mp i a^{(2)}(\xi)) = \langle e_{\pm}, (a^{(1)}(\xi), a^{(2)}(\xi))^t \rangle.$$
(62)

At this point, we also fix the charge conjugation C (for all  $N \leq \infty$ ) as:

$$C\xi = \sigma_z \xi, \qquad \qquad \xi \in \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}, \tag{63}$$

which acts as complex conjugation with respect to the chiral decomposition:

$$C\xi = \overline{\xi_+}e_+ + \overline{\xi_-}e_-, \tag{64}$$

for  $\xi_{\pm} = \langle e_{\pm}, \xi \rangle$  and, thus,  $a(C\xi) = \psi_{+}(\overline{\xi_{+}}) + \psi_{-}(\overline{\xi_{-}})$ . This should be contrasted with the standard conjugation,  $\xi \mapsto \overline{\xi}$ , on  $\mathfrak{h}_{N}$  that satisfies  $a(\overline{\xi}) = \psi_{+}(\overline{\xi_{-}}) + \psi_{-}(\overline{\xi_{+}})$ .

In contrast with infinite-volume continuum theory, the massless ground-state projector  $P_{\lambda_N=0}^{(+)}$  does not factorize w.r.t. the chiral parts, in other words the massless lattice vacuum is entangled relative to the chiral parts:

$$p_{\pm} P_{\lambda_{N}=0}^{(+)}(k) p_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} (1 \pm \operatorname{sign}(k) \cos(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N}k)) p_{\pm},$$
  

$$p_{\pm} P_{\lambda_{N}=0}^{(+)}(k) p_{\mp} = \pm \frac{i}{2} \operatorname{sign}(k) \sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N}k) \underbrace{\frac{1}{2}(\sigma_{z} \pm i\sigma_{x})}_{=n_{\pm}}.$$
(65)

In terms of these, the Hamiltonian (45) takes the form:

$$H_0^{(N)} = \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\psi}_{+|k} \\ \hat{\psi}_{-|k} \end{pmatrix}^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} \sin(\varepsilon_N k) & -i(\cos(\varepsilon_N k) - 1) + \lambda_N \\ i(\cos(\varepsilon_N k) - 1) + \lambda_N & -\sin(\varepsilon_N k) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\psi}_{+|k} \\ \hat{\psi}_{-|k} \end{pmatrix},$$
(66)

which, in the massless case ( $\lambda_N = 0$ ), is compatible (19) with the charge conjugation *C* which allows for the identification of the self-dual components, i.e. the Majorana fermions  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}^{(\pm)} = \mathfrak{A}_{\text{SDC}}(\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}^{(\pm)}, C)$ , of the complex massless chiral fields (see Sect. 2.6).

<sup>8</sup> Another possibility is to enforce purity by putting sign(0) = 1 to have  $P_{\lambda_N=0}^{(+)}(0) = \frac{1}{2}(\mathbb{1}_2 + \sigma_y)$  which is also compatible with the chiral decomposition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In our parametrization of the Dirac Hamiltonian  $\gamma_5 = \sigma_{\gamma}$ .

Because of the entanglement of the massless lattice vacuum  $\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}$  relative to the chiral decomposition, its restriction to chiral components defines non-pure quasi-free states  $(p_{\pm}P_{\lambda N=0}^{(+)}(k)p_{\pm})$  is positive but not a projection):

$$\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}(\psi_{\pm}(\xi)\psi_{\pm}^{\dagger}(\eta)) = \frac{1}{2L_{N}} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \frac{1}{2} (1 \pm \operatorname{sign}(k) \cos(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N}k)) \overline{\hat{\xi}(k)} \hat{\zeta}(k),$$
(67)

for  $\xi, \eta \in \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}^{(\pm)} \cong \ell^2(\Gamma_{N,\pm}, (2L_N)^{-1}).$ 

2.5. The Majorana mass term. As stated above, the Hamiltonian (44) is a discretized version of the massive Dirac Hamiltonian using the algebra  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$ , which is only compatible with the Majorana fermions  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}$  for vanishing lattice mass  $\lambda_N = 0$ . To allow for a massive Hamiltonian in terms of the Majorana fermions  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}$ , the mass term (proportional to  $\lambda_N$ ) needs to be compatible with self-duality (19). This is achieved by replacing the Dirac mass term in (44) with:

$$H_{\text{mass}}^{(N)} = \varepsilon_N^{-1} \lambda_N \sum_{x \in \Lambda_N} \left( a_x^{(2)\dagger} a_x^{(1)} + a_x^{(1)\dagger} a_x^{(2)} \right) = \varepsilon_N^{-1} \lambda_N \sum_{x \in \Lambda_N} (-i) \left( \psi_{+|x}^{\dagger} \psi_{-|x} - \psi_{-|x}^{\dagger} \psi_{+|x} \right) \\ = \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \left( \hat{\psi}_{+|k}^{\dagger} \right)^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} 0 - i\lambda_N \\ i\lambda_N & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\psi}_{+|k} \\ \hat{\psi}_{-|k} \end{pmatrix},$$
(68)

which results in the modified spectral projections,

$$P_{\lambda_N}^{(\pm)}(k) = \frac{1}{2\omega_{\lambda_N}(k)} (\omega_{\lambda_N}(k) \mathbb{1}_2 \pm n_{\lambda_N}(k) \cdot \sigma), \tag{69}$$

with  $n_{\lambda_N}(k) = (\cos(\varepsilon_N k) - 1)e_x + \sin(\varepsilon_N k)e_y + \lambda_N e_x$ , and the modified dispersion relation,

$$\omega_{\lambda_N}(k) = \left(\lambda_N^2 + 4(1 - \lambda_N)\sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_N k)^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(70)

The modified spectral projections satisfy  $CP_{\lambda_N}^{(+)} = P_{\lambda_N}^{(-)}C$ , consistent with (8), and, thus, (59) defines a quasi-free state, also denoted  $\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}$  by a slight abuse of notation, on  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}$ .

2.6. The self-dual components of the lattice Majorana Hamiltonian. The Hamiltonian with the Majorana mass term,

$$\begin{aligned} H_{0}^{(N)} &= \varepsilon_{N}^{-1} \sum_{x \in \Lambda_{N}} \left( a_{x+\varepsilon_{N}}^{(1)\dagger} a_{x}^{(2)} - a_{x}^{(1)\dagger} a_{x}^{(2)} + \text{h.c.} + \lambda_{N} \left( a_{x}^{(2)\dagger} a_{x}^{(1)} + a_{x}^{(1)\dagger} a_{x}^{(2)} \right) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \left( \hat{\psi}_{+|k} \right)^{\dagger} \underbrace{\left( \frac{\sin(\varepsilon_{N}k) - i((\cos(\varepsilon_{N}k) - 1) + \lambda_{N})}{i((\cos(\varepsilon_{N}k) - 1) + \lambda_{N}) - \sin(\varepsilon_{N}k)} \right)}_{=h_{\text{sd}}^{(N)}(k)} \\ &= \varepsilon_{N}^{-1} dF_{0}(h_{\text{sd}}^{(N)}), \end{aligned}$$
(71)

is compatible with the charge conjugation (63). Moreover, the projections on positive and negative momenta (with an appropriate modification in the Ramond sector),

$$(P^{\pm}\hat{\xi})_{k} = \begin{cases} \theta(\pm k)\hat{\xi}_{k} & k \neq 0, -\frac{\pi}{\varepsilon_{N}} \\ \Re(e^{\pm \frac{i}{4}\pi}\hat{\xi}_{k})e^{\pm \frac{i}{4}\pi} & k = 0, -\frac{\pi}{\varepsilon_{N}} \end{cases}, \qquad \xi \in \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}^{(\pm)}, \tag{72}$$

are basis projections for C (see (5) and below):

$$(CP^{\pm}\hat{\xi})(k) = ((1-P^{\pm})C\hat{\xi})(k).$$
 (73)

Therefore, it is possible to formulate  $H_0^{(N)}$  in terms of four Majorana fermions,  $\Psi_{\pm}$ , :  $\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}^{(\pm)} \to \mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  and  $\tilde{\Psi}_{\pm} : \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}^{(\pm)} \to \mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}^{(\pm)}$ :

$$\Psi_{\pm}(\xi) = \psi_{\pm}(P^{+}\xi) + \psi_{\pm}^{\dagger}(CP^{-}\xi), \qquad \tilde{\Psi}_{\pm}(\xi) = \psi_{\pm}(P^{-}\xi) + \psi_{\pm}^{\dagger}(CP^{+}\xi), \tag{74}$$

for  $\xi \in \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}^{(\pm)}$ , which correspond to the restrictions of the complex chiral fermions  $\psi_{\pm}$  to positive and negative momenta. Then  $H_0^{(N)}$  is given by self-dual second quantization:

$$H_0^{(N)} = \varepsilon_N^{-1} \left( dQ_0(h_{\rm sd}^{(N)}) + d\tilde{Q}_0(h_{\rm sd}^{(N)}) \right), \quad \left[ dQ_0(h_{\rm sd}^{(N)}), d\tilde{Q}_0(h_{\rm sd}^{(N)}) \right] = 0, \tag{75}$$

In view of the diagonalization (52) of  $H_0^{(N)}$ , it is worth noting that the Majorana fermions (74) can be interpreted as the self-dual components of  $c^{(1)}$ ,  $c^{(2)}$  in the (formal) scaling limit  $N \to \infty$  of the massless case  $\lambda_N = 0$ :

$$\hat{\Psi}_{\sigma|k} = \begin{cases} \theta(+k)\hat{c}_{k}^{(1)} + \theta(-k)\hat{c}_{-k}^{(1)\dagger} \ \sigma = +\\ \theta(+k)\hat{c}_{k}^{(2)} + \theta(-k)\hat{c}_{-k}^{(2)\dagger} \ \sigma = - \end{cases}, \quad \hat{\Psi}_{\sigma|k} = \begin{cases} \theta(-k)\hat{c}_{k}^{(2)} + \theta(+k)\hat{c}_{-k}^{(2)\dagger} \ \sigma = +\\ \theta(-k)\hat{c}_{k}^{(1)} + \theta(+k)\hat{c}_{-k}^{(1)\dagger} \ \sigma = - \end{cases},$$
(76)

for  $k \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}$ . Furthermore, it is evident from (75) that  $H_0^{(N)}$  should decouple into four massless Majorana fermions in this limit.

2.7. Equivalence with the transverse XY model. In view of our companion article [72] that discusses our results in relation to the quantum simulation of CFTs, we provide some details on how to map the fermion algebra  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$  together with the Dirac Hamiltonian  $H_0^{(N)}$  to a *Pauli algebra*,  $\mathfrak{P}_{N+1,\pm} = \bigotimes_{x \in \Lambda_{N+1}} M_2(\mathbb{C})$ , in which each local matrix factor resembles a (logical) qubit, using a Jordan-Wigner isomorphism. Under this mapping the Dirac Hamiltonian becomes that of an XY model with a transverse field.

To begin with, we identify the algebra  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$  of two-component fermion with a onecomponent fermion algebra,  $\mathfrak{A}_{SDC}(\ell^2(\Lambda_{N+1})_{\pm})$ , on the doubled lattice  $\Lambda_{N+1}$ :

$$b_x = a_x^{(1)}, \qquad b_{x+\varepsilon_{N+1}} = a_x^{(2)\dagger}, \qquad x \in \Lambda_N,$$
 (77)

which exploits the symmetry of  $H_0^{(N)}$  given by:  $(a_x^{(1)}, a_x^{(2)}) \mapsto (a_x^{(2)\dagger}, a_{x+\varepsilon_N}^{(1)\dagger})$  for all  $x \in \Lambda_N$ . In terms of  $b, b^{\dagger}$ , the Hamiltonian (44) is mapped to:

$$H_0^{(N)} = \varepsilon_N^{-1} \sum_{x \in \Lambda_{N+1}} (b_x b_{x+\varepsilon_{N+1}} - b_x^{\dagger} b_{x+\varepsilon_{N+1}}^{\dagger} + \lambda_N (b_x^{\dagger} b_x - \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{1}_2)),$$
(78)

with periodic or anti-periodic boundary conditions in accordance with  $(a^{(1)}, a^{(2)})$ . The translation invariance of  $H_0^{(N)}$  on  $\Lambda_{N+1}$  subsumes the translation invariance on  $\Lambda_N$  and special field-exchange symmetry from above. In the momentum space representation, the relation (77) between the single-component fermion a and two-component fermion  $(a^{(1)}, a^{(2)})$  is given by:

$$\hat{a}_{k}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2}(\hat{b}_{k} + \hat{b}_{k+\frac{\pi}{\epsilon_{N+1}}}), \qquad \hat{a}_{k}^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2}e^{i\epsilon_{N+1}k}(\hat{b}_{-k}^{\dagger} - \hat{b}_{-k+\frac{\pi}{\epsilon_{N+1}}}^{\dagger}), \qquad (79)$$

where the two-component fermion can be considered to be periodically extended from  $\Gamma_{N,\pm}$  to  $\Gamma_{N+1,\pm}$ .

A follow-up Jordan-Wigner isomorphism,

$$b_{x} = \left(\prod_{\substack{y \in \Lambda_{N+1} \\ -L \le y < x}} \sigma_{y}^{(1)}\right) \frac{1}{2} (\sigma_{x}^{(3)} + i\sigma_{x}^{(2)}), \qquad x \in \Lambda_{N+1},$$
(80)

yields a soluble transverse XY model (cp. [65]):

$$H_0^{(N)} = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_N^{-1} \sum_{x \in \Lambda_{N+1}} \left( \sigma_x^{(3)} \sigma_{x+\varepsilon_{N+1}}^{(3)} - \sigma_x^{(2)} \sigma_{x+\varepsilon_{N+1}}^{(2)} + \lambda_N \sigma_x^{(1)} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_N^{-1} (\pm 1 \pm (-1)^F) (\sigma_{-L}^{(3)} \sigma_{L-\varepsilon_{N+1}}^{(3)} - \sigma_{-L}^{(2)} \sigma_{L-\varepsilon_{N+1}}^{(2)}),$$
(81)

where  $(\pm)$  indicates the fermion boundary conditions while  $(\pm)$  labels the complementing spin boundary conditions, such that boundary term in the second line vanishes on the lattice vacuum  $\Omega_{0+}^{(N)}$ .

We can rephrase the diagonalization of  $H_0^{(N)}$  as given in (52) in terms of the Fourier transform of the one-component fermion  $b, b^{\dagger}$ :

$$H_0^{(N)} = \frac{1}{4L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N+1,-,>0}} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{b}_k \\ \hat{b}_{-k}^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_N & -i2\sin(\varepsilon_{N+1}k) \\ i2\sin(\varepsilon_{N+1}k) & -\lambda_N \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{b}_k \\ \hat{b}_{-k}^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(82)

The diagonalizing Bogoliubov transformation is completely analogous to (50) for k > 0:

$$\gamma_{\lambda_N}(k) = \left(\frac{1}{2\omega_{\lambda_N}(k)}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} (\omega_{\lambda_N}(k) + \lambda_N)^{\frac{1}{2}} i \operatorname{sign}(k)(\omega_{\lambda_N}(k) - \lambda_N)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ i \frac{2\sin(\varepsilon_{N+1}k)}{(\omega_{\lambda_N}(k) + \lambda_N)^{\frac{1}{2}}} & \operatorname{sign}(k) \frac{2\sin(\varepsilon_{N+1}k)}{(\omega_{\lambda_N}(k) - \lambda_N)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \end{pmatrix},$$
(83)

which defines the diagonalizing fermion,  $(\hat{c}_k, \hat{c}_{-k}^{\dagger})^t = \gamma_{\lambda_N}(k)^{\dagger}(\hat{b}_k, \hat{b}_{-k}^{\dagger})^t$ , leading to:

$$H_0^{(N)} = \frac{1}{4L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N+1,\pm}} \omega_{\lambda_N}(k) \hat{c}_k^{\dagger} \hat{c}_k - \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon_{N+1}^{-1} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N+1,\pm}} \omega_{\lambda_N}(k).$$
(84)

If we normalize the fermion,  $\tilde{c}_k = (2L_{N+1})^{-\frac{1}{2}} \hat{c}_k$ , and subject it to another inverse Jordan-Wigner transform similar to (80), we can write

$$H_0^{(N)} = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_N^{-1} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N+1,\pm}} \omega_{\lambda_N}(k) \tilde{\sigma}_k^{(1)}.$$
 (85)

Therefore, it is possible to express the lattice vacuum as a qubit product state:  $\Omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)} = \bigotimes_{k \in \Gamma_{N+1,\pm}} | \leftrightarrow \rangle$ , which allows for the initialization of a quantum simulation of (81) in its many-body ground state following [90].

#### 3. Scaling Limits of Lattice Fermions

We now explain how to implement the scaling limit,  $N \to \infty$ , rigorously by operatoralgebraic renormalization [10,85] which in turn allows us to give precise statements about the convergence of lattice quantities, e.g. correlation functions with respect to the lattice vacuum  $\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}$  or finite-scale Bogoliubov transformations and their implementers.

Following the recipe in [69], we define the scaling limit of lattice fermions, complex and Majorana, by a renormalization group procedure in terms of an inductive system of unital, injective \*-morphisms,

$$\alpha_{N+1}^N:\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}\longrightarrow\mathfrak{A}_{N+1,\pm},\qquad \alpha_{N+2}^{N+1}\circ\alpha_{N+1}^N=\alpha_{N+2}^N,\qquad N\in\mathbb{N}_0,$$
(86)

and similarly for  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}$ . In the following we state the formulas for  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$  only, but they equally apply to  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}$ .

In present setting, we define the *renormalization group*  $\{\alpha_{N+1}^N\}_{N\in\mathbb{N}_0}$  as Bogoliubov transformations associated with an inductive system of isometries between one-particle spaces,

$$R_{N+1}^N : \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{h}_{N+1,\pm}, \qquad R_{N+2}^{N+1} \circ R_{N+1}^N = R_{N+2}^N \qquad N \in \mathbb{N}_0, \tag{87}$$

with the additional requirement,  $R_{N+1}^N C = C R_{N+1}^N$ , in the self-dual case.

Because of the general properties of CAR algebras [9,26], we obtain the inductivelimit objects:

$$\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm} = \mathfrak{A}_{\mathrm{CAR}}(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}) = \varinjlim_{N} \mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}, \qquad \mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm} = \varinjlim_{N} \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}. \tag{88}$$

At the level of states,  $\omega^{(N)} \in \mathfrak{A}_{N+}^*$ , the *renormalization group flow* is defined by:

$$\omega_M^{(N)} = \omega^{(N+M)} \circ \alpha_{N+M}^N, \qquad N, M \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$
(89)

A scaling limit of a family of lattice states  $\{\omega^{(N)}\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  is defined as:

$$\omega_{\infty}^{(N)} = \lim_{M \to \infty} \omega_M^{(N)}, \qquad N \in \mathbb{N}_0, \tag{90}$$

which is automatically projectively consistent,  $\omega_{\infty}^{N+1} \circ \alpha_{N+1}^N = \omega_{\infty}^N$ , by continuity [10,69] if it exists as a weak\*-limit and, thus, defines a state  $\omega_{\infty}^{(\infty)}$  on  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}$ . In this sense, the inductive-limit objects (88) serve as carrier spaces of the scaling limit of a family  $\{\omega^{(N)}\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ .

The observation that the inductive-limit objects (88) can be characterized as the sets of  $\alpha$ - respectively *R*-convergent sequences [22],

$$\lim_{M \to \infty} \limsup_{N \to \infty} \|O_N - \alpha_N^M(O_M)\| = 0, \quad \lim_{M \to \infty} \limsup_{N \to \infty} \|\xi_N - R_N^M(\xi_M)\|_N = 0, \quad (91)$$

for  $O_N \in \mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$  respectively  $\xi_N \in \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}$ , motivates the following definition of the scaling limit of sequences of composite operators with limits possibly not in  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}^{10}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> In [22] the concept of convergent sequences is discussed for generalized inductive systems of Banach spaces in the context of mean-field limits.

**Definition 3.1** (*Convergent sequences of operators*). Let  $\{p_N\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  be a sequence of semi-norms,  $p_N : \mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm} \to \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ . A sequence of operators  $\{O_N\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  with  $O_N \in \mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$  is called  $\alpha$ -convergent with respect to the family  $\{p_N\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  if:

$$\lim_{M\to\infty}\limsup_{N\to\infty}p_N(O_N-\alpha_N^M(O_M))=0.$$

Similarly, let  $\{q_N\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  be a sequence of semi-norms,  $q_N : B(\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}) \to \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ , we call a sequence of operators  $\{o_N\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ , with  $o_N \in B(\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm})$ , *R*-convergent with respect to the family  $\{q_N\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  if:

$$\lim_{M \to \infty} \limsup_{N \to \infty} q_N (o_N - R_N^M o_M R_N^{M*}) = 0.$$

Of course, *R*-convergence for one-particle operators is related to  $\alpha$ -convergence by the observation:

$$\alpha_M^N(dF_0(o_N)) = dF_0(R_M^N o_N R_M^{N*}).$$
(92)

In Sect. 4, we invoke families of semi-norms that are induced by semi-norms  $p_{\infty}$  and  $q_{\infty}$  on  $B(\mathfrak{F}_{a}(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}))$  respectively  $B(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm})$ :

$$p_N = p_\infty \circ \alpha_\infty^N, \qquad \qquad q_N = q_\infty \circ (R_\infty^N(\cdot) R_\infty^{N*}). \tag{93}$$

Specific examples are strong operator semi-norms (for  $M \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ),

$$p_{\infty}(O) = \|Oa^{\dagger}(R_{\infty}^{M}(\xi_{1}))...a^{\dagger}(R_{\infty}^{M}(\xi_{n}))\Omega_{0}\|, \qquad \xi_{j} \in \mathfrak{h}_{M,\pm}, \ j = 1, ..., n,$$
$$q_{\infty}(o) = \|oR_{\infty}^{M}(\xi)\|_{\infty}, \qquad \qquad \xi \in \mathfrak{h}_{M,\pm},$$
(94)

for operators O on  $\mathfrak{F}_{a}(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm})$  or operators o on the one-particle space  $\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}$ . This way, we can study the convergence of sequences of operators at finite scales such as the lattice Dirac Hamiltonian  $H_{0}^{(N)}$  and its one-particle version  $h_{0}^{(N)}$ , which should have limits that are unbounded operators in the scaling limit.

*3.1. Wavelet renormalization group.* In the following, we make use of a specific realization of the renormalization group using the theory of wavelets by adapting the constructions in [69] to the fermionic setting.

To this end, we consider a compactly supported orthonormal *scaling function*,  $s \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ ,  $||s||_{L^1} = 1$ , associated with a wavelet basis of  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  that satisfies the *scaling equation* [20,67]:

$$s(x) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} h_n 2^{\frac{1}{2}} s(2x - n), \qquad x \in \mathbb{R},$$
(95)

where the coefficients  $\{h_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$  are called a *low-pass filter*<sup>11</sup>. Since our finite-scale fermion algebras,  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}$ , describe quantum systems in the finite volume  $S_L^1$ , we denote by,

$$s^{(\varepsilon_N)}(x) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \varepsilon_N^{-\frac{1}{2}} s(\varepsilon_N^{-1}(x+2Lm)),$$
(96)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The compact support of s enforces a that the low-pass filter has only finitely many non-vanishing elements.

the rescaled and 2L-periodized scaling function, which yield a wavelet basis of  $L^2(S_L^1)$ and satisfy in analogy with (95):

$$s^{(\varepsilon_N)}(x) = \sum_{n \in \varepsilon_{N+1}^{-1} \Lambda_{N+1}} h_n s^{(\varepsilon_{N+1})}(x - \varepsilon_{N+1}n), \qquad x \in S_L^1.$$
(97)

The wavelet renormalization group is now defined as follows:

Definition 3.2 (Wavelet renormalization group). Given a compactly supported orthonormal scaling function  $s \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  with low-pass filter  $\{h_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$ , let,

$$R_{N+1}^{N}(\xi^{(j)}) = \sum_{x \in \Lambda_N} \xi_x^{(j)} \sum_{n \in \varepsilon_{N+1}^{-1} \Lambda_{N+1}} h_n \delta_{x + \varepsilon_{N+1} n}^{(N+1)},$$
(98)

and

$$R_{\infty}^{N}(\xi^{(j)}) = \sum_{x \in \Lambda_{N}} \xi_{x}^{(j)} \underbrace{s^{(\varepsilon_{N})}(\cdot - x)}_{:=s_{x}^{(\varepsilon_{N})}} = s^{(\varepsilon_{N})} *_{\Lambda_{N}} \xi^{(j)},$$
(99)

for  $\xi = (\xi^{(1)}, \xi^{(2)}) \in \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}$ , where we use the notation  $*_{\Lambda_N}$  to denote the convolution with respect to the lattice  $\Lambda_N$ . The wavelet renormalization group is densely defined by:

$$\alpha_{N+1}^{N}(a(\xi)) = a(R_{N+1}^{N}(\xi)), \qquad \alpha_{\infty}^{N}(a(\xi)) = a(R_{\infty}^{N}(\xi)), \qquad \xi \in \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}.$$
(100)

We summarize some important properties of the maps  $R_{N+1}^N$  that follow immediately from the properties of a (compactly supported) scaling function and its associated wavelet basis, cf. [20,67,69]:

**Proposition 3.3.** The one-particle map of the wavelet renormalization group has the following properties:  $R_{N+1}^N : \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm} \to \mathfrak{h}_{N+1,\pm}$  is

- 1. well-defined.
- 2. C-compatible,

3. isometric, i.e.  $R_{N+1}^N \circ R_{N+1}^N = \mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{h}_N}$ , 4. asymptotically compatible, i.e.  $R_{\infty}^{N+1} \circ R_{N+1}^N = R_{\infty}^N$ .

Moreover, we have  $\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm} \cong L^2(S^1_L)_{\pm} \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$ , and  $R^{N*}_{\infty} \circ R^N_{\infty} = \mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{h}_N}$ .

For our purposes it is convenient to explicitly derive the form of the wavelet renormalization groups in the momentum-space representation via the Fourier transform, cf. (36)& (42):

$$R_{N+1}^{N}(\hat{\xi})_{k} = 2^{\frac{1}{2}} m_{0}(\varepsilon_{N+1}k)(\hat{\xi}_{\text{per}})_{k}, \qquad R_{\infty}^{N}(\hat{\xi})_{k} = \varepsilon_{N}^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{s}(\varepsilon_{N}k)(\hat{\xi}_{\text{per}})_{k}.$$
(101)

where  $m_0(\varepsilon_{N+1}k) = 2^{-\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} h_n e^{-ik\varepsilon_{N+1}n}$  (considered as periodic on  $\Gamma_{N+1,\pm}$ ), and  $\hat{\xi}_{per}$  denotes the periodic extension of  $\hat{\xi}$  from  $\Gamma_{N,\pm}$  to  $\Gamma_{N+1,\pm}$  respectively  $\Gamma_{\infty,\pm}$ . The asymptotic compatibility and various convergence results, as we show in Sect. 4, turn out to be a consequence of (applying the Fourier transform to (95)):

$$\hat{s}(\varepsilon_{N}.) = m_0(\varepsilon_{N+1}.)\hat{s}(\varepsilon_{N+1}.) = \lim_{M \to \infty} \prod_{n=1}^M m_0(\varepsilon_{N+n}.), \quad (102)$$

where the infinite product converges absolutely and uniformly on compact sets [20]. But, the convergence also holds in arbitrary Sobolev-type subspaces of  $L^2(S_L^1)$  provided the scaling function is regular enough,  $s \in C^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R})$ ,  $\alpha > 0$ , e.g. those of the Daubechies family, see Lemma 3.7 below.

As we are not only interested in the scaling limit of the fermions,  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}$ , but also that of implementers of Bogoliubov transformations and their generators, such as  $dF_S(G)$  and  $dQ_S(Q)$  given in (22) & (23), we introduce a modified version of the maps  $R_{N+1}^N$  adapted to the fact that the generators are quadratic in the fermions (i.e. *currents*). To this end, consider the spaces,

$$\mathfrak{l}(\Lambda_N, \mathbb{C}^D) = \{ X : \Lambda_N \to \mathbb{C}^D \} \cong \mathfrak{l}(\Gamma_{N, +}, \mathbb{C}^D),$$
(103)

of  $\mathbb{C}^D$ -valued differential loops (periodic boundary conditions) together with the obvious extension of the (lattice) Fourier transform.

**Definition 3.4** (*Wavelet renormalization for differential loops*). Given a compactly supported orthonormal scaling function  $s \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  as in Definition 3.2. The wavelet renormalization group for  $\mathbb{C}^D$ -valued loops is defined by:

$$S_{N+1}^{N}(\hat{X}^{(j)})_{k} = 2m_{0}(\varepsilon_{N+1}k)(\hat{X}_{\text{per}}^{(j)})_{k}, \qquad S_{\infty}^{N}(\hat{X}^{(j)})_{k} = \varepsilon_{N}\hat{s}(\varepsilon_{N}k)(\hat{X}_{\text{per}}^{(j)})_{k}, \qquad (104)$$

for  $X \in \mathfrak{l}(\Lambda_N, \mathbb{C}^D)$ .

In view of Proposition 3.3, we note that the wavelet renormalization group for currents also satisfies asymptotic compatibility:

$$S_{\infty}^{N+1} \circ S_{N+1}^N = S_{\infty}^N, \tag{105}$$

but we refrain from formulating an associated (topological) inductive limit and simply note that im  $S_{\infty}^N \subset l^{\alpha}(S_L^1, \mathbb{C}^D)$  is a finite-dimensional subspace of differential  $\mathbb{C}^D$ -valued  $C^{\alpha}$ -loops associated with the span of  $s^{(\varepsilon_N)}$  and its  $\Lambda_N$ -translates.

Clearly, the difference between  $R_{\infty}^N$  and  $S_{\infty}^N$  is the geometrical scaling factor  $\varepsilon_N^{\frac{7}{2}}$  respectively  $\varepsilon_N$  which reflects the fact that fermions are half densities while generators are densities.

3.1.1. Quasi-local structure By analogy with case of lattice scalar fields, the wavelet renormalization group is compatible with the real-space anti-local structure of the fermions on the lattice and in the continuum. The simple reason for this compatibility is the finite length of the low-pass filter  $\{h_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$ , which entails that according to (98) and (100) the fermion and Majorana algebras of a single lattice site at a given scale,  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}(x)$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}(x)$ ,  $x \in \Lambda_N$ , generated by  $a_x, a_x^{\dagger}$  respectively  $\Psi_x$ , are mapped into localized algebras at the successive scale,  $\mathfrak{A}_{N+1,\pm}(I_x)$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_{N+1,\pm}(I_x)$ , generated by  $a_y, a_y^{\dagger}$  respectively  $\Psi_y$  for  $y \in I_x \cap \Lambda_{N+1}$ , where  $I_x \subset S_L^1$  is an interval determined by the length of the low-pass filter.

This observation allows for the following definition.

**Definition 3.5.** Let  $I \subset S_L^1$  be an open interval, and denote by  $\Lambda_N \cap I$  denote the subset of those *x* of intersection as subsets of  $S_L^1$  such that  $x + \text{supp}(s^{(\varepsilon_N)})$  does not intersect the boundary  $\partial I$ . Then, we define the *local one-particle Hilbert spaces* as:

$$\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}(I) = \ell^2 (\Lambda_N \cap I)_{\pm} \otimes \mathbb{C}^2 \subset \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm},$$

where the inclusion results from extension by zero. The *twisted-local fermion and Majorana algebras* are, thus, defined as:

$$\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}(I) = \mathfrak{A}_{\mathrm{CAR}}(\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}(I)), \qquad \mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}(I) = \mathfrak{B}_{\mathrm{CAR}}(\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}(I), C),$$

which are considered to be subalgebras of  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}$ .

As an immediate consequence of this definition we have the following properties:

**Proposition 3.6.** The local one-particle Hilbert spaces and twisted-local fermion and Majorana algebras form inductive systems with respect to the wavelet renormalization group. Specifically, we have:

$$\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}(I) = \varinjlim_{N} \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}(I), \quad \mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}(I) = \varinjlim_{N} \mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}(I), \quad \mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm}(I) = \varinjlim_{N} \mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}(I).$$

*Moreover, we recover the (twisted) quasi-local structure of*  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}$  *and*  $\mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm}$ *:* 

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}(I) \subset \mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}(I'), & \mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm}(I) \subset \mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm}(I'), & I \subset I', \\ [\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}(I), \mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}(I')] &= \{0\}, & [\mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm}(I), \mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm}(I')] = \{0\}, & I \cap I' = \varnothing, \\ \mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm} &= \overline{\bigcup_{I \subset S_L^I} \mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}(I)}, & \mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm} &= \overline{\bigcup_{I \subset S_L^I} \mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm}(I)}, \end{split}$$

where [, ] in the second line is the  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -graded or twisted commutator with respect to the grading given by the parity operator  $(-1)^F$  [8].

3.1.2. A decay estimate We provide decay estimate on the finite products ,  $\prod_{n=1}^{M} m_0(\varepsilon_{N+n}k)$ , that directly implies (102) in Sobolev-type norms for compactly supported Daubechies scaling functions by dominated convergence. The proof adapts a multi-scale decomposition strategy in [20] used to obtain regularity estimates for such scaling functions to finite products. A similar albeit less general statement can be found in a recent article by one of the authors [69].

**Lemma 3.7.** Let  $\phi = {}_K \phi$  be a compactly supported Daubechies scaling function with  $K \ge 2$ , *i.e.*:

$$_{K}m_{0}(l) = \left(\frac{1+e^{-il}}{2}\right)^{K} {}_{K}\mathcal{L}(l).$$
(106)

where  ${}_{K}\mathcal{L}$  is a certain trigonometric polynomial. Then, for  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , and  $j^{-1}M \in \mathbb{N}$ :

$$\left| \chi_{[-2^{M}\pi, 2^{M}\pi)}(l) \prod_{n=1}^{M} \kappa m_{0}(2^{-n}l) \right|$$
  
=  $\chi_{[-2^{M}\pi, 2^{M}\pi)}(l) \max\{e^{C}, \pi^{-\mathcal{K}_{j}}\} \left(\frac{|\sin(\frac{1}{2}l)|}{|l|}\right)^{\mathcal{K}} (1+|l|)^{\mathcal{K}_{j}},$ (107)

where  $\mathcal{K}_{j} = j^{-1} \log_{2}(q_{j}), q_{j} = \sup_{l \in \mathbb{R}} \prod_{n=0}^{j-1} {}_{K}\mathcal{L}(2^{-n}l), and |_{K}\mathcal{L}(l)| \le 1 + C|l|.$ 

*Proof.* Clearly,  $_{K}\mathcal{L}(0) = 1$  and, thus,  $|_{K}\mathcal{L}(l)| \leq 1 + C|l|$ . Put,  $_{K}\mathcal{L}_{j}(l) = \prod_{n=0}^{j-1} _{K}\mathcal{L}(2^{-n}l)$  such that  $\prod_{m=0}^{j^{-1}M-1} _{K}\mathcal{L}_{j}(2^{-(mj+1)}l) = \prod_{n=1}^{M} _{K}\mathcal{L}(2^{-n}l)$  and  $q_{j} = \sup_{l \in \mathbb{R}} |_{K}\mathcal{L}_{j}(l)|$ . Now:

1. Assume  $|l| \leq 1$ :

$$\prod_{m=0}^{j^{-1}M-1} |_{K} \mathcal{L}_{j}(2^{-mj+1}l)| \le e^{C(1-2^{-m})|l|} \le e^{C}.$$

2. Assume  $2^{j(M'-1)} < |l| \le 2^{jM'}$  for some  $M' \le j^{-1}M$ :

$$\begin{split} \prod_{m=0}^{j^{-1}M-1} |_{K} \mathcal{L}_{j}(2^{-(mj+1)}l)| &= \prod_{m=0}^{M'-1} |_{K} \mathcal{L}_{j}(2^{-(mj+1)}l)| \prod_{n=M'}^{j^{-1}M-1} |_{K} \mathcal{L}_{j}(2^{-(nj+1)}l)| \\ &= \prod_{m=0}^{M'-1} |_{K} \mathcal{L}_{j}(2^{-(mj+1)}l)| \\ \prod_{n=0}^{j^{-1}M-M'-1} |_{K} \mathcal{L}_{j}(2^{-(nj+1)}\frac{2^{-jM'}l}{|\cdot|\leq 1})| \\ &\leq e^{C}q_{j}^{M'} = e^{C}2^{jM'\mathcal{K}_{j}} \leq e^{C}(1+|l|)^{\mathcal{K}_{j}}. \end{split}$$

3. Assume  $2^M < |l| \le 2^M \pi$ :

$$\prod_{m=0}^{j^{-1}M-1} |_{K} \mathcal{L}_{j}(2^{-(mj+1)}l)| \le q_{j}^{j^{-1}M} = 2^{M\mathcal{K}_{j}} \le \pi^{-\mathcal{K}_{j}}(1+|l|)^{\mathcal{K}_{j}}.$$

Thus, we have  $\prod_{n=1}^{M} |_{K} \mathcal{L}(2^{-n}l)| = \prod_{m=0}^{j^{-1}M-1} |_{K} \mathcal{L}_{j}(2^{-(mj+1)}l)| \le \max\{e^{C}, \pi^{-\mathcal{K}_{j}}\}(1+|l|)^{\mathcal{K}_{j}}$  for  $|l| \le 2^{M}\pi$ . In combination with the formula  $\prod_{n=1}^{M} \left|\frac{1-e^{-i2^{-n}l}}{2}\right| = \prod_{n=1}^{M} |\cos(\frac{1}{2}2^{-n}l)| = \left|\frac{2\sin(\frac{1}{2}l)}{2^{M+1}\sin(2^{-(M+1)l})}\right|$  the result follows.

It is known that  $\mathcal{K}_2 \le (K - 1)(2 - \frac{3}{4}\log_2(3)$  [20] implying:

$$-K + \mathcal{K}_2 \le -(1 + (K - 1) \underbrace{(\frac{3}{4} \log_2(3) - 1)}_{\sim 0.1887}) \xrightarrow{K \to \infty} -\infty.$$
(108)

Thus, the decay in (107) can be made arbitrarily fast in a polynomial sense by increasing K, and we note that  $K_{j_2} \leq \mathcal{K}_{j_1} + C \frac{j_1}{j_2}$  for  $j_1 < j_2$ For convenience, we state the following regularity estimate for the scaling function

For convenience, we state the following regularity estimate for the scaling function from [20, Lemma 7.1.2]:

**Lemma 3.8.** Let  $\phi = {}_{K}\phi$  be a compactly supported Daubechies scaling function with  $K \ge 2$ , then it satisfies the following decay estimate:

$$|\hat{s}(l)| \le C'(1+|l|)^{-K+\mathcal{K}}$$
(109)

for  $\mathcal{K} = \inf_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{K}_j$ . which implies  $s \in C^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R})$  if  $\mathcal{K} < K - (1 + \alpha)$ .

3.2. Momentum-cutoff renormalization group. A second renormalization group that we make heavy use of in Sect. 4 implements a sharp cutoff in momentum space [69]:

**Definition 3.9** (*Momentum-cutoff renormalization group*). Let  $\chi_{\Gamma_{N,\pm}}$  be the characteristic function of  $\Gamma_{N,\pm} \subset \Gamma_{N+1,\pm} \subset \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}$ , and let:

$$R_{N+1}^{N}(\hat{\xi})_{k} = 2^{\frac{1}{2}} \chi_{\Gamma_{N}}(k) (\hat{\xi}_{\text{per}})_{k}, \qquad R_{\infty}^{N}(\hat{\xi})_{k} = \varepsilon_{N}^{\frac{1}{2}} \chi_{\Gamma_{N}}(k) (\hat{\xi}_{\text{per}})_{k}, \qquad (110)$$

for  $\xi = (\xi^{(1)}, \xi^{(2)}) \in \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}$ . The momentum-cutoff renormalization group is densely defined by:

$$\alpha_{N+1}^{N}(\hat{a}(\hat{\xi})) = \hat{a}(R_{N+1}^{N}(\hat{\xi})), \qquad \qquad \alpha_{\infty}^{N}(\hat{a}(\hat{\xi})) = \hat{a}(R_{\infty}^{N}(\hat{\xi})).$$
(111)

The momentum-cutoff renormalization group enjoys the same properties as the wavelet renormalization group, cp. Proposition 3.3.

Proposition 3.10. The one-particle map of the momentum-cutoff renormalization group has the following properties:  $R_{N+1}^N : \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm} \to \mathfrak{h}_{N+1,\pm}$  is

- 1. well-defined,
- 2. C-compatible,
- 3. isometric, i.e.  $R_{N+1}^N \circ R_{N+1}^N = \mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{h}_N}$ , 4. asymptotically compatible, i.e.  $R_{\infty}^{N+1} \circ R_{N+1}^N = R_{\infty}^N$ .

Moreover, the inductive-limit Hilbert space agrees with that of the wavelet renormaliza-tion group,  $\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm} \cong L^2(S^1_L)_{\pm} \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$ , and  $R^{N*}_{\infty} \circ R^N_{\infty} = \mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{h}_N}$ .

Let us also state the real-space form of the asymptotic one-particle maps of the momentumcutoff renormalization group:

$$R_{\infty}^{N}(\xi) = \frac{1}{2L} \varepsilon_{N}^{\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{x \in \Lambda_{N}} \xi_{x} e^{i \frac{\pi}{2L} (\cdot -x)} \frac{\sin(\pi \varepsilon_{N}^{-1} (\cdot -x))}{\sin(\frac{\pi}{2L} (\cdot -x))},$$
(112)

for  $\xi \in \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}$ . This makes it evident that images,  $\alpha_{\infty}^N(a(\xi))$ , of lattice-localized localized operators,  $a(\xi), \xi \in \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}(I)$ , are not strictly localized in  $I \subset S_{I,\pm}^1$  in contrast with the wavelet scaling maps.

3.3. The scaling limit of lattice vacua. We are now in a position to determine the scaling limit of the family of lattice vacua  $\{\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  according to (89). Using either the wavelet or the momentum-cutoff renormalization group, we find:

$$\omega_{M,\pm}^{(N)}(a(\xi)a^{\dagger}(\eta)) = \langle R_{M}^{N}(\xi), (1 - S_{0}^{(N+M)})R_{M}^{N}(\eta) \rangle_{N+M}$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{2L_{N+M}} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N+M,\pm}} \langle R_{M}^{N}(\hat{\xi})_{k}, P_{\lambda_{N+M}}^{(+)}(k)R_{M}^{N}(\hat{\eta})_{k} \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{2}},$  (113)

such that the scaling-limit states  $\omega_{\infty,\pm}^{(N)}$ ,  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , is well-defined if we impose the renormalization condition,

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \varepsilon_N^{-1} \lambda_N = m, \tag{114}$$

for some  $m \ge 0$  (the *physical mass* of the continuum fermion):

$$\omega_{\infty,\pm}^{(N)}(a(\xi)a^{\dagger}(\eta)) = \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k\in\Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} \langle R_{\infty}^{N}(\hat{\xi})_{k}, P_{m}^{(+)}R_{\infty}^{N}(\hat{\eta})_{k} \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{2}},$$
(115)

where  $P_m(k) = (2\omega_m(k))^{-1}(\omega_m(k)\mathbb{1}_2 + n_m(k) \cdot \sigma)$  with  $\omega_m(k) = (m^2 + k^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $n_m(k) = ke_y + me_z$ . If we use the Majorana mass term (68) instead of the Dirac mass term,  $P_m^{(+)}$  instead takes the form:

$$P_m^{(+)}(k) = (2\omega_m(k))^{-1}(\omega_m(k)\mathbb{1}_2 + n_m(k)\cdot\sigma),$$
(116)

with  $n_m(k) = ke_y + me_x$ , which satisfies:  $CP_m^{(+)} = (\mathbb{1} - P_m^{(+)})C$  for all  $m \ge 0$ . In this case, the scaling limit is also well-defined as a state on  $\mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm}$ :

$$\omega_{\infty,\pm}^{(N)}(\Psi(\xi)\Psi(\eta)^*) = \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k\in\Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} \langle R_{\infty}^N(\hat{\xi})_k, P_m^{(+)} R_{\infty}^N(\hat{\eta})_k \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^2}.$$
 (117)

The one-particle operator  $P_0^{(+)}$  of the massless scaling-limit state is directly related to the chiral projections  $p_{\pm}$ , cp. (61):

$$P_0^{(+)}(k) = \frac{1}{2}(\mathbb{1}_2 + \operatorname{sign}(k)\sigma_y) = p_{\operatorname{sign}(k)},$$
(118)

which results in the following expression of the scaling limit on the chiral algebra  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  (and again similar for  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}^{(\pm)}$ ),

$$\omega_{\infty,\pm}^{(N)}(\psi_{\pm}(\xi)\psi_{\pm}^{\dagger}(\eta)) = \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} \frac{1}{2} (1 \pm \operatorname{sign}(k)) \overline{R_{\infty}^{N}(\xi)_{k}} R_{\infty}^{N}(\eta)_{k}, 
\omega_{\infty,\pm}^{(N)}(\psi_{\pm}(\xi)\psi_{\mp}^{\dagger}(\eta)) = 0,$$
(119)

such that the chiral parts decouple. As expected, we observe that the the scaling limit of the massless lattice splits into independent components relative to the chiral decomposition (61), and (119) is related to the projection, cf. (72),

$$P^+: L^2(S_L^1) \longrightarrow H^2(S_L^1), \tag{120}$$

onto Hardy space and its complement  $P^- = 1 - P^+$ . Inverting the Fourier transform in (119), we obtain a real-space expression that is seen to approximate the standard infinite-volume two-point function in the limit  $L \to \infty$  [1]:

$$\omega_{\infty,\pm}^{(N)}(\psi_{\pm}(\xi)\psi_{\pm}^{\dagger}(\zeta)) = \mp \int_{S_{L}^{1}} dx \int_{S_{L}^{1}} dx' (2L)^{-1} \frac{\overline{\xi_{\ast_{\Lambda_{N}}} s^{(\varepsilon_{N})}(x)} \xi_{\ast_{\Lambda_{N}}} s^{(\varepsilon_{N})}(x')}{e^{i\frac{\pi}{L}(x-x'\pm i0^{+})} - 1}$$
$$\rightarrow \pm \frac{i}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx' \frac{\overline{\xi_{\ast_{\Lambda_{N}}} s^{(\varepsilon_{N})}(x)} \xi_{\ast_{\Lambda_{N}}} s^{(\varepsilon_{N})}(x')}{x - x' \pm i0^{+}}.$$
 (121)

Now that we have established sensible candidates, (115) & (117), for the scaling limits of the families of lattice vacua, we establish the convergence to these limits for the wavelet renormalization group using the results of Sect. 3.1.2.

**Lemma 3.11.** Let  $\{\omega^{(N)}\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  be a family of quasi-free lattice states, each defined by an operator  $0 \leq S^{(N)} \leq 1$  on  $\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm} (CS^{(N)} = (1 - S^{(N)})C$  in the self-dual case). Assume that for all  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  the kernel of  $S^{(N)}$  is diagonal in momentum space and converges point-wise to the kernel of an operator  $0 \leq S \leq 1$  (CS = (1 - S)C),

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} S^{(N)}(k)_{ij} = S(k)_{ij}, \qquad k \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}, i, j = 1, 2,$$
(122)

where  $\langle e_{k,i}, S^{(N)}e_{l,j}\rangle_N = 2L_N \delta_{k,l} S^{(N)}(k)_{ij}$  and  $\langle e_{k,i}, Se_{l,j}\rangle_\infty = 2L \delta_{k,l} S(k)_{ij}$ . Then, the renormalization group flow (89) of  $\omega^{(N)}$  converges to  $\omega_S^{(N)} = \omega_S \circ \alpha_\infty^N$ :

$$\lim_{M \to \infty} \|\omega_M^{(N)} - \omega_S^{(N)}\| = 0.$$
(123)

*Proof.* It is sufficient to prove the statement for the two-point functions because the states are quasi-free and the algebras  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}$  are generated (in norm) the by algebraic span of annihilation and creation operators respectively the Majorana operators. We state the proof only for the complex fermions  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$  as it is completely analogous for the Majorana fermions  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}$ . By the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and the properties of the renormalization group we have:

$$\begin{split} &|(\omega_{M}^{(N)} - \omega_{S}^{(N)})(a(\xi)a^{\dagger}(\eta)) \\ &= \langle R_{\infty}^{N}(\xi), (R_{\infty}^{N+M}S^{(N+M)}R_{N+M}^{N} - SR_{\infty}^{N})(\eta) \rangle_{\infty} \\ &\leq \|\xi\|_{N} \|(R_{\infty}^{N+M}S^{(N+M)}R_{N+M}^{N} - SR_{\infty}^{N})(\eta)\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq \|\xi\|_{N} \frac{1}{2L_{N}} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \sum_{j=1,2} |\hat{\eta}_{l}^{(j)}| \|(R_{\infty}^{N+M}S^{(N+M)}R_{N+M}^{N} - SR_{\infty}^{N})(e_{l,j})\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq \|\xi\|_{N} \|\eta\|_{N} \left(\frac{1}{2L_{N}} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \sum_{j=1,2} \|(R_{\infty}^{N+M}S^{(N+M)}R_{N+M}^{N} - SR_{\infty}^{N})(e_{l,j})\|_{\infty}^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}. \end{split}$$

Next, we evaluate the last factor in the last line explicitly:

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2L_N} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \sum_{j=1,2} \| (R_{\infty}^{N+M} S^{(N+M)} R_{N+M}^N - S R_{\infty}^N)(e_{l,j}) \|_{\infty}^2 \\ &= \frac{1}{2L_N} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \sum_{j=1,2} \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} \sum_{i=1,2} | \langle e_{k,i}, (R_{\infty}^{N+M} S^{(N+M)} R_{N+M}^N - S R_{\infty}^N)(e_{l,j}) \rangle_{\infty} |^2 \\ &= \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} \sum_{i,j=1,2} | \hat{s}(\varepsilon_N k)|^2 | (S_{\text{per}}^{(N+M)})(k)_{ij} - S(k)_{ij} |^2 \delta_{0,\frac{\pi}{L}(k-l) \mod 2L_N}, \end{split}$$

where the last line follows from the scaling equation in momentum space (102), the inner products,

$$\langle e_{k,i}, R_M^N(e_{l,j}) \rangle_M = \delta_{ij} 2^{\frac{M-N}{2}} \Big( \prod_{m=1}^{M-N} m_0(\varepsilon_{N+m}k) \Big) \sum_{x \in \Lambda_N} e^{-i(k-l)x}$$
$$= 2L_N \delta_{ij} 2^{\frac{M-N}{2}} \Big( \prod_{m=1}^{M-N} m_0(\varepsilon_{N+m}k) \Big) \delta_{0,\frac{L}{\pi}(k-l) \mod 2L_N}$$

$$\langle e_{k,i}, R_{\infty}^{N}(e_{l,j}) \rangle_{\infty} = \delta_{ij} \varepsilon_{N}^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{s}(\varepsilon_{N}k) \sum_{x \in \Lambda_{N}} e^{-i(k-l)x}$$
$$= 2L_{N} \delta_{ij} \varepsilon_{N}^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{s}(\varepsilon_{N}k) \delta_{0,\frac{L}{\pi}(k-l) \mod 2L_{N}},$$
(124)

for all  $k \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}$  and  $l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}$ , and the periodic extension of  $S^{(N+M)}(k)_{ij}$  to  $k \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}$ .

As a consequence of the decay estimate on  $\hat{s}$  in Lemma 3.8, Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, and the fact that the states are quasi-free (7), we know that  $\omega^{(N)}$  converges to  $\omega_S^{(N)}$  in the weak\* sense. Since the algebra  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$  is finite dimensional, we know that this is equivalent to strong convergence, hence the result follows.

**Corollary 3.12.** Assuming the renormalization condition (114), the renormalization group flow of the family of lattice vacua  $\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}$  converges to  $\omega_{\infty,\pm}^{(N)}$  (in norm) at any scale N.

*Proof.* The renormalization condition implies the point-wise convergence of the kernel  $S_0^{(N)}(k) = \mathbb{1} - P_{\lambda_N}^{(+)}(k) \to \mathbb{1} - P_m^{(+)}$  for  $N \to \infty$ .

*Remark 3.13*. The statement of Lemma 3.11 is remains valid if we replace the wavelet renormalization group by the momentum-cutoff renormalization group. To see, this we observe that:

$$|\langle e_{k,i}, (R_{\infty}^{N+M}S^{(N+M)}R_{N+M}^{N} - SR_{\infty}^{N})(e_{l,j})\rangle_{\infty}|^{2} = 2L_{N}\varepsilon_{N}^{\frac{1}{2}}\delta_{k,l}|(S^{(N+M)})(l)_{ij} - S(l)_{ij}|^{2},$$

for all  $k \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}$  and  $l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}$  because:

$$\langle e_{k,i}, R_M^N(e_{l,j}) \rangle_M = 2L_N \delta_{ij} 2^{\frac{1}{2}(M-N)} \delta_{k,l}, \qquad (125)$$
$$\langle e_{k,i}, R_\infty^N(e_{l,j}) \rangle_\infty = 2L_N \delta_{ij} \varepsilon_N^{\frac{1}{2}} \delta_{k,l}.$$

#### 4. Approximation of Conformal Symmetries

It follows from (119) that the chiral subalgebras of the fermion and Majorana algebras,  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$ , together with the scaling limit  $\omega_{\pm} = \omega_{\infty,\pm}^{(\infty)}$  are conformal field theories with central charge c = 1 respectively  $c = \frac{1}{2}$  [21,26]. But, we would like to understand how the Diff<sub>+</sub>( $S_L^1$ )-covariance arises in its differential form, i.e. the *Virasoro algebra*, in the scaling limit from the lattice data,  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$ ,  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}$ , and  $\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}$ . To this end, we combine the method of operator-algebraic renormalization and its specific realizations introduced in Sect. 3 with the well-known results on Bogoliubov transformations and their implementability collected in Sect. 2.1.1 to analyze the approximation of conformal symmetries by the so-called *Koo–Saleur formula* [60], see also [68,96].

4.1. The Koo–Saleur approximants. To motivate the Koo–Saleur formula for the lattice analogues of the Virasoro generators, we first introduce some terminology, following [68]. The discussion stays rather formal and assumes that we are given a conformal field theory defined on the circle  $S_L^1$  with Hamiltonian,

$$H = \int_{S_L^1} dx h(x), \tag{126}$$

acting on some Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ , where *h* is the Hamiltonian density (a local quantum field on  $\mathcal{H}$ ). The Hamiltonian density is itself given by the chiral and anti-chiral energy-momentum tensors, *T* and  $\overline{T}$ , via

$$h(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \left( T(x) + \overline{T}(x) \right). \tag{127}$$

The Fourier modes of the energy-momentum tensors,

$$L_{k} = \frac{2L}{(2\pi)^{2}} \int_{S_{L}^{1}} dx \, e^{ikx} T(x) + \frac{c}{24} \delta_{k,0}, \quad \overline{L}_{k} = \frac{2L}{(2\pi)^{2}} \int_{S_{L}^{1}} dx \, e^{-ikx} \overline{T}(x) + \frac{c}{24} \delta_{k,0}, \quad (128)$$

for  $k \in \Gamma_{\infty,+}$ , form a representation of the Virasoro algebra with *central charge c* [21],

$$[L_k, L_{k'}] = \frac{L}{\pi} (k - k') L_{k+k'} + \delta_{k+k',0} \frac{c}{12} (\frac{L}{\pi} k) ((\frac{L}{\pi} k)^2 - 1),$$
  

$$[\overline{L}_k, \overline{L}_{k'}] = \frac{L}{\pi} (k - k') \overline{L}_{k+k'} + \delta_{k+k',0} \frac{c}{12} (\frac{L}{\pi} k) ((\frac{L}{\pi} k)^2 - 1),$$
  

$$[L_k, \overline{L}_{k'}] = 0,$$
(129)

on  $\mathcal{H}$ . Thus, the Fourier modes  $H_k$  of the Hamiltonian density *h* correspond to linear combinations of the Virasoro generators:

$$H_{k} = \frac{L}{\pi} \int_{S_{L}^{1}} dx \, e^{ikx} h(x) = L_{k} + \overline{L}_{-k} - \frac{c}{12} \delta_{k,0}, \tag{130}$$

with  $H_0 = \frac{L}{\pi} H$ . In addition to the Virasoro generators, it is useful to consider their smeared versions,

$$L(X) = \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{\infty,+}} \hat{X}_k L_k, \qquad \qquad \overline{L}(X) = \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{\infty,+}} \hat{X}_k \overline{L}_k, \qquad (131)$$

for a sufficiently regular differential loop  $X \in l^{\alpha}(S_L^1, \mathbb{C})$  (cf. Definition 3.4 and below, see, for example, [15,41] precise definitions of smeared Virasoro generators).

Now, the Koo–Saleur proposal is to introduce, by analogy, the lattice Fourier modes of a lattice Hamiltonian, for example,  $H_0^{(N)}$ :

$$H_k^{(N)} = \frac{L}{\pi} \varepsilon_N \sum_{x \in \Lambda_N} e^{ikx} h_x^{(N)}, \qquad (132)$$

where  $h^{(N)} : \Lambda_N \to \mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$  or  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}$  is a suitable lattice Hamiltonian density. Here, we slightly abuse our notation for the sake of simplicity and denote  $H_{k=0}^{(N)} = \frac{L}{\pi} H_0^{(N)}$  by  $H_0^{(N)}$  as well. This leads to the following lattice analogues of  $L_k$  and  $\overline{L}_k$ :

**Definition 4.1** (*Koo–Saleur approximants*). The *Koo–Saleur (KS) approximants* of a lattice Hamiltonian  $H^{(N)}$  with density  $h^{(N)} : \Lambda_N \to \mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$  or  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}$  are given by<sup>12</sup>:

$$L_{k}^{(N)} = \frac{1}{2} \Big( H_{k}^{(N)} + \frac{\pi \varepsilon_{N}}{2L \sin(\frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{N} k)} \Big[ H_{k}^{(N)}, H_{0}^{(N)} \Big] \Big),$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The prefactor  $\sim k^{-1}$  used in [68] has no intrinsic meaning on the lattice at finite scale and is replaced by  $\frac{\pi}{2L_N} |\sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_N k)|^{-1} \sim \frac{\pi}{L}k^{-1}$  for small  $\varepsilon_N$  which also avoids Fermion doublers at the boundary of the Brillouin zone.

$$\overline{L}_{k}^{(N)} = \frac{1}{2} \Big( H_{-k}^{(N)} + \frac{\pi \varepsilon_{N}}{2L \sin(\frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{N} k)} \Big[ H_{-k}^{(N)}, H_{0}^{(N)} \Big] \Big),$$
(133)

for  $k \in \Gamma^N_+$ . Given a differential loop  $X \in \mathfrak{l}(\Lambda_N, \mathbb{C})$ , we define the smeared KS approximants by:

$$L^{(N)}(X) = \frac{1}{2L_N} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N,+}} \hat{X}_k L_k^{(N)}, \qquad \overline{L}^{(N)}(X) = \frac{1}{2L_N} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N,+}} \hat{X}_k \overline{L}_k^{(N)}.$$
 (134)

An alternative formula for the Koo-Saleur approximants is obtained by replacing  $2\sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_N k)$  with the dispersion relation  $\omega_{\lambda_N=0}(\hat{k})$  of the free massless lattice Dirac Hamiltonian  $H_0^{(N)}$  because  $\frac{\pi}{2L_N} |\sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_N k)|^{-1} = \frac{\pi}{L_N} \omega_{\lambda_N=0}(k)^{-1}$ :

$$(1 + \operatorname{sign}(k))L_{k}^{(N)} + (1 - \operatorname{sign}(k))\overline{L}_{-k}^{(N)} = H_{k}^{(N)} + \frac{\pi}{L_{N}\omega_{\lambda_{N}}=0(k)} \Big[H_{k}^{(N)}, H_{0}^{(N)}\Big],$$
  
$$(1 + \operatorname{sign}(k))L_{-k}^{(N)} + (1 - \operatorname{sign}(k))\overline{L}_{k}^{(N)} = H_{-k}^{(N)} - \frac{\pi}{L_{N}\omega_{\lambda_{N}}=0(k)} \Big[H_{-k}^{(N)}, H_{0}^{(N)}\Big], \quad (135)$$

In the following we show that the (smeared) KS approximants,  $L^{(N)}(X)$  and  $\overline{L}^{(N)}(X)$ , associated with the free massless lattice Dirac Hamiltonian (44) converge to the (smeared) Virasoro generators,  $L(S_{\infty}^{N}(X))$  and  $\overline{L}(S_{\infty}^{N}(X))$  in a sense we make precise below.

As a direct consequence, we find that the (unitary<sup>13</sup>) exponentials,

$$U^{(N)}(X) = \exp(iL^{(N)}(X)), \qquad \overline{U}^{(N)}(X) = \exp(iL^{(N)}(X)), \qquad (136)$$

as well as the (automorphic) dynamics,

$$\sigma_{tX}^{(N)} = \operatorname{Ad}_{U^{(N)}(tX)}, \qquad \qquad \overline{\sigma}_{tX}^{(N)} = \operatorname{Ad}_{\overline{U}^{(N)}(tX)}, \qquad (137)$$

for  $X \in l(\Lambda_N, \mathbb{R})$ , converge to implementers of localized diffeomorphisms in Diff<sub>+</sub>( $S_I^1$ ) and their automorphic action on  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}$  respectively  $\mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm}$ .

It is important to note that we have two degrees of freedom in the correspondence between lattice and continuum models: it may be necessary to shift the ground-state energy and scale the energy axis in order to match the two in the scaling limit. That is, we should allow for hamiltonian the following adjustment of the lattice Hamiltonian

$$H^{(N)} \mapsto a_N H^{(N)} + b_N \mathbb{1}, \tag{138}$$

where  $a_N, b_N \in \mathbb{R}$  are model-dependent constants.

4.2. The case of massless free lattice fermions. We determine the KS approximants for the complex fermion algebra  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$  of the free massless ( $\lambda_N = 0$ ) Dirac Hamiltonian (44) according to Definition 4.1 using the following lattice Hamiltonian density<sup>14</sup>:

$$h_{x}^{(N)} = \epsilon_{N}^{-2} \frac{1}{2} \left( a_{x+\varepsilon_{N}}^{(1)\dagger} a_{x}^{(2)} - a_{x}^{(1)\dagger} a_{x}^{(2)} + a_{x-\varepsilon_{N}}^{(2)\dagger} a_{x}^{(1)} - a_{x}^{(2)\dagger} a_{x}^{(1)} + \text{h.c.} \right) \in \mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}, \quad x \in \Lambda_{N}$$
(139)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Note that  $L_k^{(N)*} = L_{-k}^{(N)}$  and  $\overline{L}_k^{(N)*} = \overline{L}_{-k}^{(N)}$ . <sup>14</sup> Note that the expression for  $h_x^{(N)}$  is chosen to be symmetric with respect to the basic lattice translation  $x \mapsto x + \varepsilon_N$ . A different choice, for example, directly using the summand in (44) corresponds to partial integration in the scaling limit and, thus, a modification by a total divergence.

Although we evaluate (133) only for  $\lambda_N = 0$ , we note that (71)) shows that the lattice approximation effectively generates a contribution that behaves like Majorana mass at finite scales. Similar to (45) and the Fourier modes of the lattice Hamiltonian density are given by additive second quantization:

$$H_{k}^{(N)} = \frac{L}{\pi} \varepsilon_{N}^{-1} dF_{0}(h_{k}^{(N)}) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \sum_{i,j=1,2} \hat{a}_{l+k}^{(i)\dagger} h_{k}^{(N)}(l)_{ij} \hat{a}_{l}^{(j)},$$

$$h_{k}^{(N)}(l) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & e^{-i\varepsilon_{N}(l+\frac{k}{2})} \cos(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N}k) - 1 \\ e^{i\varepsilon_{N}(l+\frac{k}{2})} \cos(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N}k) - 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(140)

Now, because of (18), the KS approximants are also given by additive second quantization:

$$L_{k}^{(N)} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{L}{\pi} \varepsilon_{N}^{-1} dF_{0} \Big( h_{k}^{(N)} + (2\sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N}k))^{-1} \Big[ h_{k}^{(N)}, h_{0}^{(N)} \Big] \Big),$$
  

$$\overline{L}_{k}^{(N)} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{L}{\pi} \varepsilon_{N}^{-1} dF_{0} \Big( h_{-k}^{(N)} + (2\sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N}k))^{-1} \Big[ h_{-k}^{(N)}, h_{0}^{(N)} \Big] \Big),$$
(141)

Explicitly, we find for the KS approximants of the complex fermion algebra  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$ :

$$L_{k}^{(N)} = \frac{L}{\pi} dF_{0}(\ell_{k}^{(N)}) = \frac{\varepsilon_{N}}{2\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm} i, j=1,2} \hat{a}_{l+k}^{(i)\dagger} \ell_{k}^{(N)}(l)_{ij} \hat{a}_{l}^{(j)},$$

$$\ell_{k}^{(N)}(l) = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{N}^{-1} \left( -\frac{\sin(\varepsilon_{N}(l+\frac{k}{2})) e^{-i\varepsilon_{N}(l+\frac{k}{2})} \cos(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N}k) - 1}{e^{i\varepsilon_{N}(l+\frac{k}{2})} \cos(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N}k) - 1} - \frac{\sin(\varepsilon_{N}(l+\frac{k}{2}))}{e^{i\varepsilon_{N}(l+\frac{k}{2})}} \right),$$

$$\overline{L}_{k}^{(N)} = \frac{L}{\pi} dF_{0}(\overline{\ell}_{k}^{(N)}) = \frac{\varepsilon_{N}}{2\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm} i, j=1,2} \hat{a}_{l-k}^{(i)\dagger} \overline{\ell}_{k}^{(N)}(l)_{ij} \hat{a}_{l}^{(j)},$$

$$\overline{\ell}_{k}^{(N)}(l) = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{N}^{-1} \left( \frac{\sin(\varepsilon_{N}(l-\frac{k}{2})) e^{-i\varepsilon_{N}(l-\frac{k}{2})} \cos(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N}k) - 1}{e^{i\varepsilon_{N}(l-\frac{k}{2})} \cos(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N}k) - 1} - \frac{\sin(\varepsilon_{N}(l-\frac{k}{2}))}{\sin(\varepsilon_{N}(l-\frac{k}{2}))} \right).$$
(142)

We find the explicit expressions for the KS approximants in terms of the chiral decomposition (61) by applying the chiral projectors  $p_{\pm}$  to the one-particle operators  $\ell_k^{(N)}$ ,  $\bar{\ell}_k^{(N)}$ :

$$\ell_{k}^{(N)}(l) = \varepsilon_{N}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} -\sin(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k)^{2}\sin(\varepsilon_{N}(l+\frac{k}{2})) & -i(\sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N}l)^{2} + \sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N}(l+k))^{2}) \\ i(\sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N}l)^{2} + \sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N}(l+k))^{2}) & -\cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k)^{2}\sin(\varepsilon_{N}(l+\frac{k}{2})) \end{pmatrix},$$
(143)  
$$\overline{\ell}_{k}^{(N)}(l) = \varepsilon_{N}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k)^{2}\sin(\varepsilon_{N}(l-\frac{k}{2})) & i(\sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N}l)^{2} + \sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N}(l-k))^{2}) \\ -i(\sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N}l)^{2} + \sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N}(l-k))^{2}) & \sin(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k)^{2}\sin(\varepsilon_{N}(l-\frac{k}{2})) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(144)

From the latter expressions we can read of the KS approximants of the chiral and antichiral subalgebras (62), i.e.  $p_-\ell_k^{(N)}(l)p_- = \ell_{-,k}^{(N)}$  respectively  $p_+\overline{\ell}_k^{(N)}(l)p_+ = \ell_{+,k}^{(N)}$ :

$$L_{-,k}^{(N)} = \frac{L}{\pi} dF_0(\ell_{-,k}^{(N)}) = \frac{-1}{2\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_N k)^2 \sin(\varepsilon_N(l+\frac{k}{2})) \hat{\psi}_{-|l+k}^{\dagger} \hat{\psi}_{-|l},$$

$$L_{+,k}^{(N)} = \frac{L}{\pi} dF_0(\ell_{+,k}^{(N)}) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_N k)^2 \sin(\varepsilon_N(l-\frac{k}{2}))\hat{\psi}_{+|l-k}^{\dagger}\hat{\psi}_{+|l}.$$
 (145)

A direct computation verifies the validity of the lattice analogue of the Virasoro algebra (129) at c = 0 for  $L_k^{(N)}$  and  $\overline{L}_k^{(N)}$  at first order in  $\varepsilon_N$ , with the following explicit expressions for the chiral and anti-chiral subalgebras:

$$\begin{bmatrix} L_{-,k}^{(N)}, L_{-,k'}^{(N)} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{L_N}{\pi} 2\sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_N(k-k')) \frac{\cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_Nk)^2\cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_Nk')^2}{\cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_N(k+k'))^2} \left( L_{-,k+k'}^{(N)} + R_{-,k+k'}^{(N)} \right) \\ \begin{bmatrix} L_{+,k}^{(N)}, L_{+,k'}^{(N)} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{L_N}{\pi} 2\sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_N(k-k')) \frac{\cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_Nk)^2\cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_Nk')^2}{\cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_N(k+k'))^2} \left( L_{+,k+k'}^{(N)} + R_{+,k+k'}^{(N)} \right),$$
(146)

where the remainders  $R_{k+k',-}^{(N)}$ ,  $R_{k+k',+}^{(N)}$  are in  $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon_N^2)$  and given by:

$$R_{-,k+k'}^{(N)} = \frac{-1}{\pi} \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_N(k+k'))^2 \sum_{l\in\Gamma_{N,\pm}} \sin(\varepsilon_N(l+\frac{k+k'}{2})\sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_N(l+\frac{k+k'}{2})\hat{\psi}_{-|l+k+k'}^{\dagger}\hat{\psi}_{-|l},$$

$$R_{+,k+k'}^{(N)} = \frac{1}{\pi} \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_N(k+k'))^2 \sum_{l\in\Gamma_{N,\pm}} \sin(\varepsilon_N(l-\frac{k+k'}{2}))\sin(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_N(l-\frac{k+k'}{2}))\hat{\psi}_{+|l-(k+k')}^{\dagger}\hat{\psi}_{+|l},$$
(147)

A similar computation starting from (75) yields the KS approximants for the two copies of the Majorana algebra  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}$  making up  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$ , which we also denote by  $L_k^{(N)}$  and  $\overline{L}_k^{(N)}$  by a slight abuse of notation:

$$\begin{split} L_{k}^{(N)} &= \frac{L}{\pi} d Q_{0}(\ell_{k}^{(N)}) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm} \sigma, \sigma'=\pm} \sum_{q, q'=\pm} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm} \sigma, \sigma'=\pm} \sum_{q, q'=\pm} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm} \sigma, \sigma'=\pm} \sum_{q, q'=\pm} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm} \sigma, \sigma'=\pm} \sum_{l \in$$

with identical expressions for  $\tilde{\Psi}_{\pm}$ . The analogues of the restrictions (145) of  $L_k^{(N)}$  and  $\overline{L}_k^{(N)}$  to the chiral and anti-chiral subalgebras are (in agreement with (145)):

$$L_{-,k}^{(N)} = \frac{L}{\pi} dQ_0(\ell_{-,k}^{(N)})$$

$$= \frac{-1}{4\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} (\sin(\varepsilon_N(l+k)) \cos(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_N(l+\frac{k}{2}))^2 + \frac{1}{2} \sin(\varepsilon_N(l+\frac{k}{2}))(1 - \cos(\varepsilon_N(l+\frac{k}{2})) \cos(\varepsilon_N\frac{k}{2})))\hat{\Psi}_{-|-(l+k)}\hat{\Psi}_{-|l} = \frac{-1}{4\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_Nk)^2 \sin(\varepsilon_N(l+\frac{k}{2}))\hat{\Psi}_{-|-(l+k)}\hat{\Psi}_{-|l}, L_{+,k}^{(N)} = \frac{L}{\pi} dQ_0(\ell_{+,k}^{(N)}) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} (\sin(\varepsilon_N(l-k)) \cos(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_N(l-\frac{k}{2}))^2 + \frac{1}{2} \sin(\varepsilon_N(l-\frac{k}{2}))(1 - \cos(\varepsilon_N(l-\frac{k}{2})) \cos(\varepsilon_N\frac{k}{2})))\hat{\Psi}_{+|-(l-k)}\hat{\Psi}_{+|l} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_Nk)^2 \sin(\varepsilon_N(l-\frac{k}{2}))\hat{\Psi}_{+|-(l-k)}\hat{\Psi}_{+|l},$$
(150)

where we used the identity,

$$\sum_{l\in\Gamma_{N,\pm}} \frac{1}{2} (f_{\pm}(l,k) + f_{\pm}(-(l\pm k),k)) \hat{\Psi}_{\pm|-(l\mp k)} \hat{\Psi}_{\pm|l} = L_N \delta_{k,0} \sum_{l\in\Gamma_{N,\pm}} f_{\pm}(l,0), \quad (151)$$

which is a consequence of the self-dual CAR, to arrive at each of the last lines.

4.2.1. Relation with Temperley–Lieb algebras In the original work of Koo–Saleur [60] an essential step consists in relating the Hamiltonian lattice density  $h_x^{(N)}$  to generators  $e_x$  of a Temperley-Lieb algebra  $TL_{\delta}$  with loop parameter  $\delta$ . Let us briefly explain how such a relation with Temperley-Lieb algebras [44,88] arises in our setting, specifically in the case  $c = \frac{1}{2}$  which is intimately connected with the transverse-field Ising model [79]. Invoking the self-dual formulation involving the Majorana mass term in Sect. 2.6, we can rewrite the Hamilton (71) in terms of a pair of anti-commuting complex fermions  $c^{(1)}, c^{(2)}$  in momentum space,

$$\hat{c}_{k}^{(1)} = \theta(k)\hat{\psi}_{+|k} + \theta(-k)\hat{\psi}_{-|-k}^{\dagger}, \qquad \hat{c}_{k}^{(2)} = \theta(k)\hat{\psi}_{+|-k} + \theta(-k)\hat{\psi}_{-|k}^{\dagger}$$
(152)

which yields:

$$H_{0}^{(N)} = \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{-,>0}} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{c}_{k}^{(1)} \\ \hat{c}_{-k}^{(1)\dagger} \end{pmatrix}^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} \sin(\varepsilon_{N}k) & -i((\cos(\varepsilon_{N}k) - 1) + \lambda_{N}) \\ i((\cos(\varepsilon_{N}k) - 1) + \lambda_{N}) & -\sin(\varepsilon_{N}k) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{c}_{k}^{(1)} \\ \hat{c}_{-k}^{(1)\dagger} \end{pmatrix} \\ + \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{-,>0}} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{c}_{k}^{(2)} \\ \hat{c}_{-k}^{(2)\dagger} \end{pmatrix}^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} -\sin(\varepsilon_{N}k) & -i((\cos(\varepsilon_{N}k) - 1) + \lambda_{N}) \\ i((\cos(\varepsilon_{N}k) - 1) + \lambda_{N}) & \sin(\varepsilon_{N}k) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{c}_{k}^{(2)} \\ \hat{c}_{-k}^{(2)\dagger} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(153)

Here, we restricted ourselves to anti-periodic boundary conditions (-) for simplicity. Next, we apply additional Bogoliubov transformations,

$$\begin{pmatrix} \hat{z}_{k}^{(1)} \\ \hat{z}_{-k}^{(1)\dagger} \end{pmatrix} = e^{-i\frac{\pi}{4}\sigma_{x}} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{c}_{k}^{(1)} \\ \hat{c}_{-k}^{(1)\dagger} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \begin{pmatrix} \hat{z}_{k}^{(2)} \\ \hat{z}_{-k}^{(2)\dagger} \end{pmatrix} = i\sigma_{z}e^{i\frac{\pi}{4}\sigma_{x}} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{c}_{k}^{(2)} \\ \hat{c}_{-k}^{(2)\dagger} \end{pmatrix}$$
(154)

to arrive at two copies of the Hamiltonian of transverse-field Ising model with mixedsector boundary conditions [80]:

$$H_{0}^{(N)} = \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{-,>0}} \left( \hat{z}_{k}^{(1)} \right)^{\dagger} h_{\text{TIM}}^{(N)}(k) \left( \hat{z}_{k}^{(1)} \right)^{\dagger} + \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{-,>0}} \left( \hat{z}_{k}^{(2)} \right)^{\dagger} h_{\text{TIM}}^{(N)}(k) \left( \hat{z}_{k}^{(2)} \right)^{\dagger},$$
(155)

where  $h_{\text{TIM}}^{(N)}(k) = -\sin(\varepsilon_N k)\sigma_y + ((\cos(\varepsilon_N k) - 1) + \lambda_N)\sigma_z$ . Now, we are in a position to explicitly spell out the relation with two commuting' copies of the Temperley-Lieb algebra  $\text{TL}_{\delta=\sqrt{2}}$  (on  $2^{N+2}$  strands). This is achieved by introducing the Majorana fermions on the refined lattice  $\Lambda_{N+1}$ ,

$$\psi_x^{(j)} = z_x^{(j)} + z_x^{(j)\dagger}, \quad \psi_{x+\varepsilon_{N+1}}^{(j)} = (-i)(z_x^{(j)} - z_x^{(j)\dagger}), \quad j = 1, 2, \quad x \in \Lambda_N, \quad (156)$$

and defining the Temperley-Lieb generators:

$$e_x^{(j)} = 2^{-\frac{1}{2}} (1 + i \psi_{x+\varepsilon_{N+1}}^{(j)} \psi_x^{(j)}), \qquad j = 1, 2, \qquad x \in \Lambda_{N+1}.$$
(157)

This leads to:

$$H_{0}^{(N)} = \frac{i}{4} \varepsilon_{N+1}^{-1} \sum_{j=1}^{2} \sum_{x \in \Lambda_{N}} \left( (1 - \lambda_{N}) \psi_{x+\varepsilon_{N+1}}^{(j)} \psi_{x}^{(j)} + \psi_{x+\varepsilon_{N}}^{(j)} \psi_{x+\varepsilon_{N+1}}^{(j)} \right)$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \varepsilon_{N+1}^{-1} \sum_{j=1}^{2} \sum_{x \in \Lambda_{N}} \left( (1 - \lambda_{N}) e_{x}^{(j)} + e_{x+\varepsilon_{N+1}}^{(j)} \right) - (2 - \lambda_{N}) 2^{N} \varepsilon_{N+1}^{-1}$$
(158)

Therefore, the KS approximants at criticality ( $\lambda_N = 0$ ) can be equivalently computed using the Temperley-Lieb generators  $e_x^{(j)}$  (see [84] for further explanations concerning this perspective in the setting of OAR).

4.2.2. The formal scaling limit Before we turn to the analysis of the convergence of the KS approximants in the scaling limit in the sense of Definition 3.1, we study their formal limit in terms of the asymptotic renormalization group elements  $\alpha_{\infty}^{N}$ . This allows us to determine candidates for limit operators which should correspond to representatives of the Virasoro algebra (129).

**Complex fermions**  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}$ . Let us consider the complex fermion case first. As  $L_k^{(N)}$ ,  $\overline{L}_k^{(N)}$  have convenient expression in momentum space, we first observe that:

$$\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(\hat{a}_{k}^{(j)}) = \sum_{x \in \Lambda_{N}} e^{ikx} \alpha_{\infty}^{N}(a_{x}^{(j)}) = \sum_{x \in \Lambda_{N}} e^{ikx} a^{(j)}(s_{x}^{(\varepsilon_{N})}).$$
(159)

Thus, because  $\alpha_{\infty}^{N}$  is \*-morphism, we find:

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{\infty}^{N}\left(L_{k}^{(N)}\right) &= \frac{\varepsilon_{N}}{2\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \sum_{i,j=1,2} \alpha_{\infty}^{N} (\hat{a}_{l+k}^{(i)\dagger}) \ell_{k}^{(N)}(l)_{ij} \alpha_{\infty}^{N} (\hat{a}_{l}^{(j)}) \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \varepsilon_{N}^{2} \sum_{x,y \in \Lambda_{N}} \sum_{i,j=1,2} a^{(i)\dagger} (\varepsilon_{N}^{-\frac{1}{2}} s_{x}^{(\varepsilon_{N})}) \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{pmatrix}
\sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} e^{i(l+k)x} \ell_{k}^{(N)}(l)_{ij} e^{-ily} \\
a^{(j)}(\varepsilon_{N}^{-\frac{1}{2}} s_{y}^{(\varepsilon_{N})}), \\
\alpha_{\infty}^{N}\left(\overline{L}_{k}^{(N)}\right) &= \frac{\varepsilon_{N}}{2\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \sum_{i,j=1,2} \alpha_{\infty}^{N}(\hat{a}_{l-k}^{(i)\dagger}) \overline{\ell}_{k}^{(N)}(l)_{ij} \alpha_{\infty}^{N}(\hat{a}_{l}^{(j)}) \\
&= \frac{1}{2\pi} \varepsilon_{N}^{2} \sum_{x,y \in \Lambda_{N}} \sum_{i,j=1,2} a^{(i)\dagger}(\varepsilon_{N}^{-\frac{1}{2}} s_{x}^{(\varepsilon_{N})}) \\
&\left(\sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} e^{i(l-k)x} \overline{\ell}_{k}^{(N)}(l)_{ij} e^{-ily}\right) a^{(j)}(\varepsilon_{N}^{-\frac{1}{2}} s_{y}^{(\varepsilon_{N})}).$$
(160)

Now, we can formally take the scaling limit  $N \to \infty$  using  $\varepsilon_N^2 \sum_{x,y \in \Lambda_N} \to \int_{S_L^1 \times S_L^1} dx dy$ and  $\varepsilon_N^{-\frac{1}{2}} s_x^{(\varepsilon_N)} \to \delta_x$  (in the sense of distributions), as well as,

$$\ell_k^{(N)}(l) \to \ell_k(l) := -(l + \frac{k}{2})p_-, \qquad \overline{\ell}_k^{(N)}(l) \to \overline{\ell}_k(l) := (l - \frac{k}{2})p_+. \tag{161}$$

The latter can equally be expressed as a formal convergence of operators on the one-particle space  $\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}$ :

$$\tilde{\ell}_k^{(N)} := R_\infty^N \ell_k^{(N)} R_\infty^{N*} \to \ell_k, \qquad \qquad \tilde{\overline{\ell}}_k^{(N)} := R_\infty^N \overline{\ell}_k^{(N)} R_\infty^{N*} \to \overline{\ell}_k.$$
(162)

Therefore, the formal scaling limit of the KS approximants is:

$$L_{k} = \frac{L}{\pi} dF_{0}(\ell_{k}), \qquad \overline{L}_{k} = \frac{L}{\pi} dF_{0}(\overline{\ell}_{k})$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} \sum_{i,j=1,2} \hat{a}_{l+k}^{(i)\dagger} \ell_{k}(l)_{ij} \hat{a}_{l}^{(j)} \qquad = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} \sum_{i,j=1,2} \hat{a}_{l-k}^{(i)\dagger} \overline{\ell}_{k}(l)_{ij} \hat{a}_{l}^{(j)}$$

$$= \frac{-1}{2\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} (l + \frac{k}{2}) \hat{\psi}_{-|l+k}^{\dagger} \hat{\psi}_{-|l} \qquad = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} (l - \frac{k}{2}) \hat{\psi}_{+|l-k}^{\dagger} \hat{\psi}_{+|l}$$

$$= \frac{L}{\pi} dF_{0}(\ell_{-,k}) = L_{-,k}, \qquad = \frac{L}{\pi} dF_{0}(\ell_{+,k}) = L_{+,k}, \qquad (163)$$

where we invoked the chiral decomposition (62) in the last line. We give a precise definition of  $\ell_{\pm,k}$  as an unbounded operator on one-particle  $\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}$ ) in the next subsection. The definition of its (normal-ordered) second quantization as unbounded operator on Fock space  $\mathfrak{F}_a(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm})$  is consequence of the results provided in Sect. 2.1.1, see especially [14]. Similarly, a formal computation of the commutators in the scaling limit, again exploiting that  $\alpha_{\infty}^N$  is a \*-morphism, yields:

$$[L_k, L_{k'}] = \frac{L}{\pi} (k - k') L_{k+k'}, \quad \left[\overline{L}_k, \overline{L}_{k'}\right] = \frac{L}{\pi} (k - k') \overline{L}_{k+k'}, \quad \left[L_k, \overline{L}_{k'}\right] = 0.$$
(164)

Thus, we formally recover a representation of the Virasoro algebra (129) (with central charge c = 0) in the scaling limit of complex lattice fermions. The vanishing of the central charge is expected because the computation pertains to  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}$  itself respectively to the Fock representation of  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}$  with vacuum  $\Omega_0$ , i.e. the Schwinger cocycle (27) vanishes:  $c_{S=0} = 0$ .

It is also possible to recover representations of the Virasoro algebra with nonvanishing central charge ( $c \neq 0$ ) in the formal scaling limit by passing to the GNS representations of  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}$  given by the scaling limits  $\omega_{\infty,\pm}^{(\infty)} = \omega_{\pm}$  of the lattice vacua (115) & (119). But, at this point, we are forced to distinguish between (–)- and (+)-boundary conditions as the scaling limit  $\omega_{-}$  is a pure state while  $\omega_{+}$  is not because of the degeneracies at zero momentum.

Let us first discuss the Neveu-Schwarz sector ((-)-boundary condition). According to (118), the scaling limit  $\omega_{-}$  is a pure quasi-free state on  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,-}$  determined by the Hardy projection  $P^+$  and its complement  $P^- = 1 - P^+$  given in (72) via  $S = P^- \oplus P^+$ . Moreover, by (119)  $\omega_{-}$  is compatible with the factorization,  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,-} \cong \mathfrak{A}_{\infty,-}^{(+)} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_2} \mathfrak{A}_{\infty,-}^{(-)}$ , in to chiral components. By (9) the GNS representation  $\pi_{-}$  of the restrictions of  $\omega_{-} = \omega_{-}^{(+)} \otimes \omega_{-}^{(-)}$  can be realized on Fock space,  $\mathfrak{F}_a(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,-}) \cong \mathfrak{F}_a(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,-}^{(+)}) \otimes \mathfrak{F}_a(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,-}^{(-)})$ , as:

$$\pi_{-}(\psi_{\pm}(\xi)) = \psi_{\pm}(P^{\pm}\xi) + \psi_{\pm}^{\dagger}(JP^{\mp}\xi), \qquad \xi \in \mathfrak{h}_{\infty,-}^{(\pm)}$$
(165)

where we choose the conjugation  $J\hat{\xi} = \overline{\hat{\xi}}$  which satisfies  $JP^{\pm} = P^{\pm}J$ .

By analogy with (160), we compute the formal limit of  $\frac{L}{\pi} dF_{-}(\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)}) =: \pi_{-}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(\frac{L}{\pi} dF_{-}(\ell_{\pm,k}^{(N)})))$ : resulting in:

$$\frac{L}{\pi} dF_{-}(\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)}) \rightarrow \frac{L}{\pi} dF_{-}(\ell_{\pm,k}) =: L_{\pm,k},$$

$$[L_{\pm,k}, L_{\pm,k'}] = \frac{L}{\pi} (k - k') L_{\pm,k+k'} + \left(\frac{L}{\pi}\right)^2 c_{P^{\mp}}(\ell_{\pm,k}, \ell_{\pm,k'})$$

$$= \frac{L}{\pi} (k - k') L_{\pm,k+k'} + \delta_{k+k',0} \frac{1}{12} (\frac{L}{\pi} k) ((\frac{L}{\pi} k)^2 - 1),$$
(166)

where we used the fact that  $\ell_{\pm,k}$  has off-diagonal parts in the Hilbert-Schmidt class. This shows that we formally obtain a representation of the Virasoro algebra with central charge c = 1 as expected, and the GNS vector of  $\omega_{-}$  has conformal weight h = 0, i.e.  $L_{\pm,0}\Omega_0 = 0$ .

In the Ramond sector ((+)-boundary condition), we purify  $\omega_+$  by doubling according to (11). The doubled projections, taking the role of  $P^{\pm}$  in the Neveu-Schwarz sector, are explicitly given by,

$$P_{S_{\pm}} = \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{\infty,+} \setminus \{0\}} \begin{pmatrix} \theta(\pm k) & 0\\ 0 & \theta(\mp k) \end{pmatrix} e_k \otimes \langle e_k, \cdot \rangle_{\infty} + \frac{1}{2L} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & \pm \frac{1}{2} \\ \pm \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix} e_0 \otimes \langle e_0, \cdot \rangle_{\infty},$$
(167)

on  $\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,+}^{(\pm)} \oplus \mathfrak{h}_{\infty,+}^{(\pm)}$ . The GNS representation  $\pi_+$  of  $\omega_+ = \omega_+^{(+)} \otimes \omega_+^{(-)}$  is then realized on  $\mathfrak{F}_a(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,+} \oplus \mathfrak{h}_{\infty,+}) \cong \mathfrak{F}_a(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,+}^{(+)})^{\otimes 2} \otimes \mathfrak{F}_a(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,+}^{(-)})^{\otimes 2}$  by:

$$\pi_{+}(\psi_{\pm}(\xi)) = \psi_{\pm}(P_{S_{\pm}}(\xi \oplus 0)) + \psi_{\pm}^{\dagger}((J \oplus J)P_{S_{\mp}}(\xi \oplus 0)), \quad \xi \in \mathfrak{h}_{\infty,+}^{(\pm)}, \quad (168)$$

where  $\psi_{\pm}$  on the right hand side is the obvious two-component extension.

Computing the formal limit as in (166) of the KS approximants with respect to  $\pi_+$  leads to:

$$\frac{L}{\pi} dF_{+}(\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)}) \rightarrow \frac{L}{\pi} dF_{+}(\ell_{\pm,k}) =: L_{\pm,k},$$

$$[L_{\pm,k}, L_{\pm,k'}] = \frac{L}{\pi} (k - k') L_{\pm,k+k'} + \left(\frac{L}{\pi}\right)^{2} c_{P_{S_{\mp}}}(\ell_{\pm,k}, \ell_{\pm,k'})$$

$$= \frac{L}{\pi} (k - k') L_{\pm,k+k'} + \delta_{k+k',0} \frac{1}{12} (\frac{L}{\pi} k) ((\frac{L}{\pi} k)^{2} + 2).$$
(169)

We recover the Virasoro algebra (129) with c = 1 by redefining the limit at zero momentum,

$$L_{\pm,0} := \frac{L}{\pi} dF_{+}(\ell_{\pm,k}) + \frac{1}{8}, \tag{170}$$

which shows that the GNS vector of  $\omega_+$  has conformal weight  $h = \frac{1}{8}$ , i.e.  $L_{\pm,0}\Omega_0 \otimes \Omega_0 = \frac{1}{8}\Omega_0 \otimes \Omega_0$ .

**Majorana fermions**  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,\pm}$ . The computation of the formal limit of the KS approximants in the Majorana case is structurally identical, hinging only on the formal convergence (162) of the one-particle operators (148) & (149):

$$\ell_k^{(N)}(l) \to \ell_k(l) := -(l + \frac{k}{2}) \frac{1}{2} (\mathbb{1} - \sigma_z), \quad \overline{\ell}_k^{(N)}(l) \to \overline{\ell}_k(l) := (l - \frac{k}{2}) \frac{1}{2} (\mathbb{1} + \sigma_z).$$
(171)

Therefore, we only state the final results pertaining to  $\mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm}$  itself,

$$L_{k} = \frac{L}{\pi} dQ_{0}(\ell_{k}), \qquad \overline{L}_{k} = \frac{L}{\pi} dQ_{0}(\overline{\ell}_{k})$$

$$= \frac{-1}{4\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} (l + \frac{k}{2}) \hat{\Psi}_{-|-(l+k)} \hat{\Psi}_{-|l} \qquad = \frac{1}{4\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} (l - \frac{k}{2}) \hat{\Psi}_{+|-(l-k)} \hat{\Psi}_{+|l}$$

$$= \frac{L}{\pi} dQ_{0}(\ell_{-,k}) = L_{-,k}, \qquad = \frac{L}{\pi} dQ_{0}(\ell_{+,k}) = L_{+,k}, \qquad (172)$$

and the scaling limits of the lattice vacua  $\omega_{-}$ ,

$$L_{\pm,k} = \frac{L}{\pi} dQ_{-}(\ell_{\pm,k}), \tag{173}$$

and  $\omega_+$ ,

$$L_{\pm,k} = \frac{L}{\pi} dQ_{+}(\ell_{\pm,k}) + \frac{1}{16}\delta_{k,0},$$
(174)

both of which have  $c = \frac{1}{2}$  and conformal weight h = 0 respectively  $h = \frac{1}{16}$ . The normal-ordered quantizations  $dQ_+$  and  $dQ_-$  are defined with respect to the self-dual analogues of (165):

$$\pi_{-}(\Psi_{\pm}(\xi)) = \psi_{\pm}(P^{\pm}\xi) + \psi_{\pm}^{\dagger}(CP^{\mp}\xi), \qquad \xi \in \mathfrak{h}_{\infty,-}^{(\pm)}, \qquad (175)$$
  
$$\pi_{+}(\Psi_{\pm}(\xi)) = \psi_{\pm}(P_{S_{\pm}}(\xi \oplus 0)) + \psi_{\pm}^{\dagger}((C \oplus (-C))P_{S_{\mp}}(\xi \oplus 0)), \quad \xi \in \mathfrak{h}_{\infty,+}^{(\pm)}. \qquad (176)$$

4.2.3. Convergence of the KS approximants In the computation of the formal scaling limit in Sect. 4.2.2, we have seen that establishing convergence of one-particle operators (162) in a rigorous way is central to deduce the convergence of the KS approximant to the Virasoro generators in the scaling limit. Now, we make this idea precise and argue that such a result shows that  $\{L_k^{(N)}\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  and  $\{\overline{L}_k^{(N)}\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  are convergent sequences in the sense of Definition 3.1 with limits given by  $L_k$  and  $\overline{L}_k$ . We focus on the convergence of the other components follows along the same line albeit the limits are the zero operators. Moreover, we show that the result extends to smeared KS approximant (134) and Virasoro generators (131).

We explicitly provide the statements for the complex fermion algebra  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm} \cong \mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}^{(+)} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_2} \mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}^{(-)}$ . The statements in Majorana case  $\mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm} \cong \mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm}^{(+)} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_2} \mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm}^{(-)}$  are completely analogous.

**Virasoro generators.** As a preparation for the convergence statement, we need to properly define the one-particle operator  $\ell_{\pm,k}$  of the chiral and anti-chiral Virasoro generators as unbounded operators on  $\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)} \cong L^2(S_I^1)_{\pm}$ .

**Definition 4.2** (*One-particle Virasoro generators*). The operators  $\ell_{\pm,k}$  associated with  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  are given on the standard dense invariant domain  $\mathcal{D}_{std} \subset L^2(S_L^1)_{\pm}$  spanned by the plane waves  $\{e_m\}_{m\in\Gamma_{\infty,\pm}}$  by the expressions:

$$\ell_{\pm,k} = \frac{\pm 1}{2\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} (l \mp \frac{k}{2}) e_{l \mp k} \otimes \overline{e}_l, \qquad (177)$$

where  $\overline{e}_l$  is short hand for  $\langle e_l, \cdot \rangle_{\infty}$  for all  $l \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}$ . Since we are particularly interested in associated unitary groups and,

$$\ell_{\pm,k}^* = \ell_{\pm,-k},\tag{178}$$

holds on  $\mathcal{D}_{std}$ , we define the real and imaginary parts of  $\ell_{\pm,k}$ ,

$$r_{\pm,k} = \frac{1}{2}(\ell_{\pm,k} + \ell_{\pm,-k}), \qquad \qquad \ell_{\pm,k} = \frac{1}{2i}(\ell_{\pm,k} - \ell_{\pm,-k}), \qquad (179)$$

on  $\mathcal{D}_{std}$  as well.

We note that (178) implies that  $\ell_{\pm,k}$  is closable. In view of this definition, we use the following notation for the one-particle KS approximants (145),

$$\ell_{\pm,k}^{(N)} = \frac{\pm 1}{2\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_N k)^2 \sin(\varepsilon_N (l \mp \frac{k}{2})) e_{l \mp k} \otimes \overline{e}_l,$$
(180)

and for the real and imaginary parts,

$$r_{\pm,k}^{(N)} = \frac{1}{2} (\ell_{\pm,k}^{(N)} + \ell_{\pm,-k}^{(N)}), \qquad \qquad \ell_{\pm,k}^{(N)} = \frac{1}{2i} (\ell_{\pm,k}^{(N)} - \ell_{\pm,-k}^{(N)}).$$
(181)

as these evidently satisfy:

$$\ell_{\pm,k}^{(N)*} = \ell_{\pm,-k}^{(N)}.$$
(182)

The following bounds for all  $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$  are straightforward:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\ell_{\pm,k}^{j} e_{m}\|_{\infty}^{2} &\leq 2L(\frac{L}{\pi})^{2j} \begin{cases} |m|^{2j} & k = 0\\ |k|^{2j} \left(\frac{\Gamma(|\frac{m}{k}| + \frac{1}{2} + j)}{\Gamma(|\frac{m}{k}| + \frac{1}{2})}\right)^{2} & k \neq 0 \end{cases}, \\ \|r_{\pm,k}^{j} e_{m}\|_{\infty}^{2} &\leq 2L(\frac{L}{2\pi})^{2j} \begin{cases} |2m|^{2j} & k = 0\\ (\frac{2j}{j})|k|^{2j} \left(\frac{\Gamma(|\frac{m}{k}| + \frac{1}{2} + j)}{\Gamma(|\frac{m}{k}| + \frac{1}{2})}\right)^{2} & k \neq 0 \end{cases}, \end{aligned}$$
(183)

with an analogous bound for  $\|\iota_{\pm,k}^{j} e_{m}\|_{\infty}^{2}$ . Here,  $\Gamma(x + 1) = x\Gamma(x)$  denotes the Gamma function. These bounds imply that each plane wave  $e_{m}$  is an analytic vector for  $\ell_{\pm,k}$ ,  $r_{\pm,k}$  and  $\iota_{\pm,k}$  because the series,

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^j}{j!} \|\ell_{\pm,k}^j e_m\|_{\infty} < \infty, \qquad \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^j}{j!} \|r_{\pm,k}^j e_m\|_{\infty} < \infty, \qquad \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^j}{j!} \|\iota_{\pm,k}^j e_m\|_{\infty} < \infty,$$

are convergent for some t > 0. By Nelson's analytic vector theorem [70,74] we have:

**Corollary 4.3.** The plane waves  $\{e_m\}_{m \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} \subset \mathcal{D}_{std}$  are a total set of analytic vectors for  $\ell_{\pm,k}$ ,  $r_{\pm,k}$  and  $\iota_{\pm,k}$ . Moreover,  $r_{\pm,k}$  and  $\iota_{\pm,k}$  are essentially self-adjoint on  $\mathcal{D}_{std}$ .

Because of these observations, we do not distinguish between the  $\ell_{\pm,k}$ ,  $r_{\pm,k}$ ,  $\iota_{\pm,k}$  and their closures in what follows.

*Remark 4.4* (Majorana one-particle Virasoro generators). In the Majorana case the oneparticle Virasoro generators need to satisfy the implementability condition (19) which is met by the one-particle KS approximants (180) and the one-particle Virasoro generators (177):

$$C\ell_{\pm,k}^{(N)*}C = -\ell_{\pm,k}^{(N)}, \qquad C\ell_{\pm,k}^*C = -\ell_{\pm,k}.$$
(184)

We are now in a position to establish the convergence of the one-particle KS approximants to the one-particle Virasoro generators in the sense of Definition 3.1 using the asymptotic maps  $R_{\infty}^N : \ell^2(\Gamma_{N,\pm}, (2L_N)^{-1}) \cong \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}^{(\pm)} \to \mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)} \cong L^2(S_L^1)_{\pm}$ , either from the wavelet or the momentum-cutoff renormalization group. In particular, we show the convergence of (162) in the strong operator topology on a dense, common core  $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$ , i.e.:

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \| (\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)} - \ell_{\pm,k}) \xi \|_{\infty} = 0,$$
(185)

for all  $\xi \in \mathcal{D}$ . A similar state holds for the real and imaginary parts (179) & (181). For the momentum-cutoff renormalization group, we use  $\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{D}_{std}$  because:

$$R_{\infty}^{N}(e_{k}) = \varepsilon_{N}^{-\frac{1}{2}} e_{k}, \qquad \qquad k \in \Gamma_{N,\pm} , \qquad (186)$$

where  $e_k \in \mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  on the left but  $e_k \in \mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  on the right, i.e.  $\bigcup_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0} R_{\infty}^N(\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}^{(\pm)}) = \mathcal{D}_{\text{std}}$ . For the wavelet renormalization group, we use  $\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{D}_W$  defined as:

$$\mathcal{D}_W = \bigcup_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0} R_{\infty}^N(\mathfrak{h}_{N,\pm}^{(\pm)}), \tag{187}$$

which agrees with the span of the wavelet basis associated with the scaling function  $s^{(\varepsilon_0)} \in L^2(S_L^1)_+$  by construction [20]. That  $\mathcal{D}_W$  is dense common core for the one-particle Virasoro generators and their real and imaginary parts is due to the following argument:

We observe that the graph norms of  $\ell_{\pm,k}$ ,  $r_{\pm,k}$  and  $\iota_{\pm,k}$  are bounded by the norm of the first-order Sobolev space  $h^1(\Gamma_{\infty,\pm})$ :

$$\|\xi\|_{\ell_{\pm,k}}^2 = \|\xi\|_{\infty}^2 + \|\ell_{\pm,k}\xi\|_{\infty}^2 \le \max\{1 + (\frac{Lk}{2\pi})^2, (\frac{L}{\pi})^2\}\|\xi\|_{h^1(\Gamma_{\infty,\pm})}^2,$$

and similarly for  $\|\xi\|_{r_{\pm,k}}$  and  $\|\xi\|_{\iota_{\pm,k}}$ . But, it is known that  $\mathcal{D}_{std}$  and  $\mathcal{D}_W$  (provided the scaling function *s* is sufficiently regular) are dense in  $h^1(\Gamma_{\infty,\pm})$  [50]. It follows that the graph-norm closures of  $\mathcal{D}_{std}$  and  $\mathcal{D}_W$  agree, and we conclude that  $\mathcal{D}_W$  is a core for  $\ell_{\pm,k}$ ,  $r_{\pm,k}$  and  $\iota_{\pm,k}$  [73].

**Wavelet renormalization.** In this paragraph  $R_M^N$  and  $R_\infty^N$  as well as  $\alpha_M^N$  and  $\alpha_\infty^N$  denote the wavelet renormalization group of Definition 3.2.

We formulate the essential convergence statement (185) as a lemma:

**Lemma 4.5** (Convergence of the one-particle KS approximants). Let  $\xi \in D_W$  and  $s \in C^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R})$  a sufficiently regular, compactly supported orthonormal scaling function. Then:

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \| (\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)} - \ell_{\pm,k}) \xi \|_{\infty} = 0,$$

where  $\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)} := R_{\infty}^N \ell_{\pm,k}^{(N)} R_{\infty}^{N*}$ , and similarly:

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \| (\tilde{r}_{\pm,k}^{(N)} - r_{\pm,k}) \xi \|_{\infty} = 0, \qquad \qquad \lim_{N \to \infty} \| (\tilde{\iota}_{\pm,k}^{(N)} - \iota_{\pm,k}) \xi \|_{\infty} = 0.$$

*Proof.* We only spell out the proof for  $\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)}$  and  $\ell_{\pm,k}$ . We first observe that:

$$\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)}(R_{\infty}^{M}(\xi)) = \tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)}(R_{\infty}^{N}(R_{N}^{M}(\xi))) = R_{\infty}^{N}(\ell_{\pm,k}^{(N)}(R_{N}^{M}(\xi))),$$

for N > M and  $\xi \in \mathfrak{h}_M$  because  $(R_{\infty}^N)^* R_{\infty}^N = \mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{h}_N}$ . Now, the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality implies:

$$\begin{split} \|R_{\infty}^{N}(\ell_{\pm,k}^{(N)}(R_{N}^{M}(\xi))) - \ell_{\pm,k}(R_{\infty}^{M}(\xi))\|_{\infty}^{2} \\ &\leq \|\xi\|_{\mathfrak{h}_{M}}^{2} \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{m \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} \frac{1}{2L_{M}} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{M,\pm}} |\underbrace{\langle e_{m}, R_{\infty}^{N}(\ell_{\pm,k}^{(N)}(R_{N}^{M}(e_{l}))) \rangle_{\infty}}_{:=f_{k,\pm}^{(N)}(M,m,l)} \\ &- \underbrace{\langle e_{m}, \ell_{\pm,k}(R_{\infty}^{M}(e_{l})) \rangle_{\infty}}_{:=f_{k,\pm}(M,m,l)} |^{2}. \end{split}$$

Next, we derive explicit expression for  $f_{k,\pm}^{(N)}(M, m, l)$  and  $f_{k,\pm}(M, m, l)$  to use the dominated convergence theorem with respect to  $\ell^2(\Gamma_{\infty,\pm}, (2L)^{-1})$  to deduce the convergence of the limit  $N \to \infty$ :

$$\begin{split} f_{k,\pm}^{(N)}(M,m,l) &= \frac{\pm 1}{2\pi} \sum_{n \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_N k)^2 \sin(\varepsilon_N(n\mp\frac{k}{2})) \langle e_m, R_\infty^N(e_{n\mp k}) \rangle_\infty \langle e_n, R_N^M(e_l) \rangle_N, \\ f_{k,\pm}(M,m,l) &= \frac{\pm 1}{2\pi} \sum_{n \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} (n\mp\frac{k}{2}) \underbrace{\langle e_m, e_{n\mp k} \rangle_\infty}_{=2L\delta_{m,n\mp k}} \langle e_n, R_\infty^M(e_l) \rangle_\infty. \end{split}$$

Explicitly evaluating the inner product as in (124), this leads to:

$$f_{k,\pm}^{(N)}(M,m,l) = \frac{\pm 1}{4\pi} \varepsilon_M^{\frac{1}{2}} \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_N k)^2 \hat{s}(\varepsilon_N m) \sum_{n \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} 2L_N \sin(\varepsilon_N (n \mp \frac{k}{2})) \delta_{0,\frac{L}{\pi}(m-(n\mp k)) \mod 2L_N}$$

$$\begin{split} & \times 2L_M \delta_{0,\frac{L}{\pi}(n-l) \mod 2L_M} \prod_{j=1}^{N-M} m_0(\varepsilon_{M+j}n) \\ & = \frac{\pm 1}{4\pi} \varepsilon_M^{\frac{1}{2}} \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_N k)^2 \hat{s}(\varepsilon_N m) \sum_{n \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} 2L_N \sin(\varepsilon_N (n \mp \frac{k}{2})) \delta_{0,\frac{L}{\pi}(m-(n \mp k)) \mod 2L_N} \\ & \times 2L_M \delta_{0,\frac{L}{\pi}(n-l) \mod 2L_M} \chi_{\Gamma_N}(n) \prod_{j=1}^{N-M} m_0(\varepsilon_{M+j}n) \\ & = \frac{\pm L}{2\pi} 2L_M \varepsilon_M^{\frac{1}{2}} \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_N k)^2 \hat{s}(\varepsilon_N m) \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{\sin(\varepsilon_N (m \pm \frac{k}{2}))}{\varepsilon_N} \delta_{0,\frac{L}{\pi}(m \pm k + \frac{2\pi}{\varepsilon_N}n-l) \mod 2L_M} \\ & \times \chi_{\Gamma_N}(m \pm k + \frac{2\pi}{\varepsilon_N}n) \prod_{j=1}^{N-M} m_0(\varepsilon_{M+j}(m \pm k + \frac{2\pi}{\varepsilon_N}n)), \\ f_{k,\pm}(M,m,l) &= \frac{\pm L}{2\pi} 2L_M \varepsilon_M^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{s}(\varepsilon_M (m \pm k))(m \pm \frac{k}{2}) \delta_{0,\frac{L}{\pi}(m \pm k-l) \mod 2L_M}, \end{split}$$

where  $\chi_{\Gamma_N}$  is the indicator function of the sublattice  $\Gamma_{N,\pm} \subset \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}$ , and we evaluated the sum over  $n \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}$  using  $\delta_{0,\frac{L}{\pi}(m-(n\mp k)) \mod 2L_N}$  form the second to third line. Finally, we use the periodicity,  $m_0(\varepsilon_{M+j}(m+\frac{2\pi}{\varepsilon_N}n)) = m_0(\varepsilon_{M+j}m)$  for all  $m \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and  $j = 1, \ldots, N - M$ , and:

$$\delta_{0,\frac{L}{\pi}(m\pm k+\frac{2\pi}{\varepsilon_N}n-l) \mod 2L_M} = \delta_{0,\frac{L}{\pi}(m\pm k-l)+2^{N-M}L_Mn \mod 2L_M} = \delta_{0,\frac{L}{\pi}(m\pm k-l) \mod 2L_M}$$

Thus, we arrive at:

$$\begin{split} f_{k,\pm}^{(N)}(M,m,l) &= \frac{\pm L}{2\pi} 2L_M \varepsilon_M^{\frac{1}{2}} \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_N k)^2 \hat{s}(\varepsilon_N m) \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{\sin(\varepsilon_N (m \pm \frac{k}{2}))}{\varepsilon_N} \delta_{0,\frac{L}{\pi}(m \pm k-l) \mod 2L_M} \\ &\times \chi_{\Gamma_N}(m \pm k + \frac{2\pi}{\varepsilon_N} n) \prod_{j=1}^{N-M} m_0(\varepsilon_{M+j}(m \pm k)) \\ &= \frac{\pm L}{2\pi} 2L_M \varepsilon_M^{\frac{1}{2}} \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_N k)^2 \hat{s}(\varepsilon_N m) \frac{\sin(\varepsilon_N (m \pm \frac{k}{2}))}{\varepsilon_N} \delta_{0,\frac{L}{\pi}(m \pm k-l) \mod 2L_M} \\ &\times \frac{\hat{s}(\varepsilon_M (m \pm k))}{\hat{s}(\varepsilon_N (m \pm k))}, S \end{split}$$

because  $\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \chi_{\Gamma_N}(m \pm k + \frac{2\pi}{\varepsilon_N}n) = 1$  for any fixed  $m \pm k \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}$ . We also used (102). Next, we write:

$$f_{k,\pm}^{(N)}(M,m,l) = \frac{\pm L}{2\pi} 2L_M \varepsilon_M^{\frac{1}{2}} f_{\pm k}^{(N)}(M,m) \delta_{0,\frac{L}{\pi}(m\pm k-l) \mod 2L_M}$$
$$f_{k,\pm}(M,m,l) = \frac{\pm L}{2\pi} 2L_M \varepsilon_M^{\frac{1}{2}} f_{\pm k}(M,m) \delta_{0,\frac{L}{\pi}(m\pm k-l) \mod 2L_M}.$$

where we defined:

$$\begin{split} f_k^{(N)}(M,m) &:= \hat{s}(\varepsilon_M(m+k))\cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_N k)^2 \frac{\sin(\varepsilon_N(m+\frac{k}{2}))}{\varepsilon_N} \frac{\hat{s}(\varepsilon_N(m+k))}{\hat{s}(\varepsilon_N(m+k))},\\ f_k(M,m) &:= \hat{s}(\varepsilon_M(m+k))(m+\frac{k}{2}). \end{split}$$

This allows us to conclude that we have pointwise convergence (in  $m \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}$ ):

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} f_k^{(N)}(M, m) = f_k(M, m),$$

for arbitrary M < N and  $k \in \frac{\pi}{L}\mathbb{Z}$ , and, thus, also pointwise (in  $m \in \Gamma_{\infty}$ ):

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} f_{k,\pm}^{(N)}(M, m, l) = f_{k,\pm}(M, m, l),$$

for arbitrary  $l \in \Gamma_{M,\pm}$ . It remains to show that  $\lim_{N\to\infty} f_{k,\pm}^{(N)}(M,.,l) = f_{k,\pm}(M,.,l)$ in  $\ell^2(\Gamma_{\infty,\pm}, (2L)^{-1})$ , which follows from the dominated convergence theorem if we provide a  $g_k(M,.) \in \ell^2(\Gamma_{\infty,\pm}, (2L)^{-1})$  such that:

$$|f_k^{(N)}(M,m)| \le g_k(M,m).$$

The existence of such a  $g_k(N, .)$  is implied by,

$$|f_k^{(N)}(M,m)| \le |(m+\frac{k}{2})\hat{s}(\varepsilon_M(m+k))| \left| \frac{\hat{s}(\varepsilon_N m)}{\hat{s}(\varepsilon_N(m+k))} \right| \le C_k |(m+\frac{k}{2})\hat{s}(\varepsilon_M(m+k))|,$$

for some  $C_k > 0$ , because of the uniform continuity of  $\hat{s}$ , and the decay estimate (109) for sufficiently regular  $s \in C^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R})$ .  $\hat{s}$  is uniformly continuous since  $\lim_{|k|\to\infty} |\hat{s}(k)| = 0$  and  $\hat{s}(k) = \prod_{j=1}^{\infty} m_0(2^{-j}k)$  is locally uniformly convergent.

The lemma implies the convergence of the KS approximants in the standard Fock space representation (c = 0).

**Theorem 4.6** (Covergence of the KS approximants). Let  $s \in C^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R})$  be a sufficiently regular, compactly supported orthonormal Daubechies scaling function. The KS approximants,  $L_{\pm,k}^{(N)}$ , converge strongly to the continuum Virasoro generators,  $L_{\pm,k}$ , on the dense, common core  $\mathfrak{F}_{a}^{alg}(\mathcal{D}_{W}) \subset \mathfrak{F}_{a}(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)})$  spanned by anti-symmetric Fock vectors with finitely many one-particle excitations in  $\mathcal{D}_{W}$  (finite  $\mathcal{D}_{W}$ -particle number), i.e.:

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \| (\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{\pm,k}^{(N)}) - L_{\pm,k}) a^{\dagger}(\xi_{1}) \dots a^{\dagger}(\xi_{n}) \Omega_{0} \| = 0,$$
(188)

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n \in \mathcal{D}_W$ .

*Proof.* We have by the definition of second quantization:

$$dF_0(o)a^{\dagger}(\xi_1)\dots a^{\dagger}(\xi_n)\Omega_0 = \sum_{k=1}^n a^{\dagger}(\xi_1)\dots a^{\dagger}(o\xi_k)\dots a^{\dagger}(\xi_n)\Omega_0$$

for any one-particle operator o on  $\mathcal{D}_o \subset \mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  such that  $\xi_1, ..., \xi_n \in \mathcal{D}_o$ . Thus, because of (21), we know that (188) is implied by (185).

The lemma also implies the convergence of the unitary Bogoliubov transformations associated with the KS approximants to those of the Virasoro generators (a more general statement for smeared KS approximant and Virasoro generators is stated below). Let us note that a quasi-free representation  $\pi_S$  admits an implementation of the Virasoro generators  $L_{\pm,k}$  by normal-ordered second quantization (22) provided the one-particle operators  $\ell_{\pm,k}$  satisfy the off-diagonal Hilbert-Schmidt bounds (25), for example, the representations  $\pi_{\pm}$  of the scaling limit states (165) & (168). Thus, for admissible quasifree representations, we have:

$$\tilde{\sigma}_{t}^{(N)} = \operatorname{Ad}_{e^{itdF_{S}(\tilde{r}_{\pm,k}^{(N)})}}(\pi_{S}(a^{\dagger}(\xi))) = \pi_{S}(a^{\dagger}(e^{it\tilde{r}_{\pm,k}^{(N)}}\xi)),$$
  
$$\sigma_{t} = \operatorname{Ad}_{e^{itdF_{S}(r_{\pm,k})}}(\pi_{S}(a^{\dagger}(\xi))) = \pi_{S}(a^{\dagger}(e^{itr_{\pm,k}}\xi)),$$
(189)

where the unitary  $e^{itdF_S(r_{\pm,k})}$  is well-defined by essential self-adjointness of  $dF_S(r_{\pm,k})$  (see below Theorem 4.11), and similarly for  $\tilde{\iota}_{\pm,k}^{(N)}$  and  $\iota_{\pm,k}$  by Corollary 4.3. By construction the relation with the KS approximants is:

$$dF_{S}(\tilde{\ell}_{k,\pm}^{(N)}) = :\pi_{S}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(dF_{0}(\ell_{k,\pm}^{(N)}))) := :\pi_{S}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{k,\pm}^{(N)})) :.$$
(190)

The analogous statements hold in the Majorana setting, for example, for the scaling limit representations (175) & (176).

**Corollary 4.7** (Convergence of KS Bogoliubov transformations). Let  $s \in C^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R})$  be a sufficiently regular, compactly supported orthonormal Daubechies scaling function. In any admissible quasi-free representation  $\pi_S$ , we have:

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \| \tilde{\sigma}_t^{(N)}(\pi_S(A)) - \sigma_t(\pi_S(A)) \| = 0, \qquad \forall A \in \mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)},$$

and uniformly on compact intervals in  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

*Proof.* It is sufficient to prove the statement for  $a = a^{\dagger}(\xi)$  with  $\xi \in \mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$ , because the multinomials  $A = a^{\dagger}(\xi_1) \dots a^{\dagger}(\xi_n) a(\xi_{n+1}) \dots a(\xi_{n+m})$  form a norm total set in  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  and we have:

$$\|\tilde{\sigma}_{t}^{(N)}(AB) - \sigma_{t}(AB)\| \le \|\tilde{\sigma}_{t}^{(N)}(A) - \sigma_{t}(A)\| \|B\| + \|A\| \|\tilde{\sigma}_{t}^{(N)}(B) - \sigma_{t}(B)\|,$$

for all  $A, B \in \pi_S(\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)})$ . Now, let  $o = r_{\pm,k}, \iota_{\pm,k}$  and  $\tilde{o}^{(N)} = r_{\pm,k}^{(N)}, \tilde{\iota}_{\pm,k}^{(N)}$ . Then, because of (189), we have:

$$\begin{split} \|\tilde{\sigma}_t^{(N)}(\pi_S(a^{\dagger}(\xi))) - \sigma_t(\pi_S(a^{\dagger}(\xi)))\| &= \|\pi_S(a^{\dagger}(e^{it\tilde{o}^{(N)}}\xi)) - \pi_S(a^{\dagger}(e^{ito}\xi))\| \\ &\leq \|(e^{it\tilde{o}^{(N)}} - e^{ito})\xi\|_{\infty}. \end{split}$$

Now,  $\lim_{N\to\infty} \|(e^{it\tilde{o}^{(N)}} - e^{ito})\xi\|_{\infty} = 0$  uniformly on compact intervals in  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  because  $\lim_{N\to\infty} \|(\tilde{o}^{(N)} - o)\xi\|_{\infty} = 0$  for all  $\xi \in \mathcal{D}_W$  by Lemma 4.5 which entails strong resolvent convergence [73].

*Remark 4.8.* For multinomials  $A = a^{\dagger}(\xi_1) \dots a^{\dagger}(\xi_n) a(\xi_{n+1}) \dots a(\xi_{n+m})$  we have the estimate:

$$\|\tilde{\sigma}_{t}^{(N)}(\pi_{S}(A)) - \sigma_{t}(\pi_{S}(A))\| \le \left(\prod_{l=1}^{n+m} \|\xi_{l}\|_{\infty}\right) \sum_{k=1}^{n+m} \frac{\|(e^{it\tilde{o}^{(N)}} - e^{ito})\xi_{k}\|_{\infty}}{\|\xi_{k}\|_{\infty}}.$$
 (191)

**Corollary 4.9** (Convergence of KS Bogoliubov derivations). With the same assumptions and notation as in Corollary 4.7, we have the convergence of the quasi-free derivations,

$$\frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0}\tilde{\sigma}_t^{(N)}(\pi_S(a(\xi))) = i[:dF_S(\tilde{o}^{(N)}):, a(\xi)] = a(i\tilde{o}^{(N)}\xi),$$
  
$$\frac{d}{dt}_{|t=0}\sigma_t(\pi_S(a(\xi))) = i[:dF_S(o):, a(\xi)] = a(io\xi),$$

for  $A \in \mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  in the algebraic span of  $a^{\dagger}(\xi)$ ,  $a(\xi)$  with  $\xi \in \mathcal{D}_W$ . Moreover, we have:

$$\|[:dF_{S}(\tilde{o}^{(N)}):, A] - [:dF_{S}(o):, A]\| \le \left(\prod_{l=1}^{n+m} \|\xi_{l}\|_{\infty}\right) \sum_{k=1}^{n+m} \frac{\|(\tilde{o}^{(N)} - o)\xi_{k}\|_{\infty}}{\|\xi_{k}\|_{\infty}}$$
(192)

for  $A = a^{\dagger}(\xi_1) \dots a^{\dagger}(\xi_n) a(\xi_{n+1}) \dots a(\xi_{n+m}).$ 

**Momentum-cutoff renormalization.** The convergence results for the wavelet renormalization group lead to the convergence of the KS approximants to the Virasoro generators in the standard Fock representation (c = 0). Clearly, we would like to achieve a similar statement for non-vanishing central charge ( $c \neq 0$ ). Specifically, we would like to deduce the convergence of the KS approximants in the representations  $\pi_{\pm}$  of the scaling limit states (165) & (168) as well as (175) & (176). Such a result is achieved by using the momentum-cutoff renormalization group of Definition 3.9. Although, we initially lose the compatibility with the quasi-local structure (see Proposition 3.6) in this way, we explain in the next paragraph of this subsection how to remedy this issue by combining the wavelet renormalization group with the momentum-cutoff renormalization group for smeared KS approximants and Virasoro generators.

Denoting by  $R_M^N$  and  $R_\infty^N$  as well as  $\alpha_M^N$  and  $\alpha_\infty^N$  the momentum-cutoff renormalization group throughout this paragraph, the one-particle operators  $\tilde{\ell}_{k,\pm}^{(N)}$  are now given by:

$$\tilde{\ell}_{k,\pm}^{(N)} = \frac{\pm 1}{2\pi} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,\pm}} \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_N k)^2 \frac{\sin(\varepsilon_N(l \mp \frac{k}{2}))}{\varepsilon_N} \chi_{\Gamma_N}(l \mp k) e_{l \mp k} \otimes \overline{e}_l .$$
(193)

To prove the analogue of Theorem 4.6 for  $\pi_{\pm}$  (with  $c = 1, \frac{1}{2}$ ), we need to compare the matrix elements of  $\tilde{\ell}_{\pm k}^{(N)}$  with those of  $\ell_{\pm,k}$ :

$$(\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)})_{mn} = \pm \frac{L}{\pi} 2L\delta_{m,n\mp k} \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_N k)^2 \frac{\sin(\varepsilon_N(n\mp\frac{k}{2}))}{\varepsilon_N} \chi_{\Gamma_N}(n\mp k) \chi_{\Gamma_N}(n),$$
  

$$(\ell_{\pm,k})_{mn} = \pm \frac{L}{\pi} 2L\delta_{m,n\mp k}(n\mp\frac{k}{2}).$$
(194)

If we have an approximating sequence  $\{o^{(N)}\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  of o on the one-particle space  $\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$ , the convergence of their normal-ordered second quantizations can be analyzed using the following estimate because of (16) & (25):

$$\|dF_{S}(\tilde{o}^{(N)} - o)a^{\dagger}(R_{\infty}^{M}(\eta_{1}))...a^{\dagger}(R_{\infty}^{M}(\eta_{n}))\Omega_{0}\|$$

$$\leq \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} \left\{ \frac{\|(\tilde{o}^{(N)} - o)_{++}R_{\infty}^{M}(\eta_{k})\|_{\infty} + \|(\tilde{o}^{(N)} - o)_{--}^{t}R_{\infty}^{M}(\eta_{k})\|_{\infty}}{\|\eta_{k}\|_{M}} \right\}$$

$$+ (n+2)\|(\tilde{o}^{(N)} - o)_{+-}\|_{2} + n\|(\tilde{o}^{(N)} - o)_{-+}\|_{2}\right)\prod_{l=1}^{n} \|\eta_{l}\|_{M}.$$
(195)

For  $\tilde{o}^{(N)} = \tilde{\ell}^{(N)}_{\pm,k}$  and  $o = \ell_{\pm,k}$ , we find:

$$\begin{split} &\|((\tilde{\ell}_{k,\pm}^{(N)} - \ell_{k,\pm})_{\pm\pm})^{(t)} R_{\infty}^{M}(\eta)\|_{\infty}^{2} \\ &\leq \|\eta\|_{\mathfrak{h}_{M}}^{2} (\frac{L}{\pi})^{2} \sum_{n \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} \chi_{\Gamma_{M}}(n) \theta(\pm(n\mp k)) \theta(\pm n) \left| \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k)^{2} \frac{\sin(\varepsilon_{N}(n\mp \frac{k}{2}))}{\varepsilon_{N}} \chi_{\Gamma_{N}}(n\mp k) - (n\mp \frac{k}{2}) \right|^{2}, \\ &\|(\tilde{\ell}_{k,\pm}^{(N)} - \ell_{k,\pm})_{\pm\mp}\|_{2}^{2} \\ &\leq (\frac{L}{\pi})^{2} \sum_{n \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} \theta(\pm(n\mp k)) \theta(\mp n) \left| \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k)^{2} \frac{\sin(\varepsilon_{N}(n\mp \frac{k}{2}))}{\varepsilon_{N}} \chi_{\Gamma_{N}}(n\mp k) \chi_{\Gamma_{N}}(n) - (n\mp \frac{k}{2}) \right|^{2}. \end{split}$$
(196)

The sums in these estimates are finite (for fixed *M*) which entails convergence for  $N \rightarrow \infty$ . It is evident from (196), that we have the analogue of Lemma 4.5:

**Lemma 4.10.** Let  $\xi \in D_{\text{std.}}$  Then:

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \| (\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)} - \ell_{\pm,k}) \xi \|_{\infty} = 0, \qquad \lim_{N \to \infty} \| (\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)} - \ell_{\pm,k})_{\pm\pm} \xi \|_{\infty} = 0,$$
$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \| (\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)} - \ell_{\pm,k})_{\pm\mp} \|_{2} = 0,$$

where  $\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)} := R_{\infty}^{N} \ell_{\pm,k}^{(N)} R_{\infty}^{N*}$ , and similarly:

$$\begin{split} \lim_{N \to \infty} \| (\tilde{r}_{\pm,k}^{(N)} - r_{\pm,k}) \xi \|_{\infty} &= 0, \qquad \lim_{N \to \infty} \| (\tilde{r}_{\pm,k}^{(N)} - r_{\pm,k})_{\pm \mp} \xi \|_{\infty} &= 0, \\ \lim_{N \to \infty} \| (\tilde{r}_{\pm,k}^{(N)} - r_{\pm,k})_{\pm \mp} \|_{\infty} &= 0, \\ \lim_{N \to \infty} \| (\tilde{\iota}_{\pm,k}^{(N)} - \iota_{\pm,k}) \xi \|_{\infty} &= 0, \\ \lim_{N \to \infty} \| (\tilde{\iota}_{\pm,k}^{(N)} - \iota_{\pm,k})_{\pm \mp} \|_{\infty} &= 0. \end{split}$$

Because of Remark 4.4, similar estimates as (195) and (196) also hold for  $dQ_S$  in Majorana setting. Applying the lemma, we have:

**Theorem 4.11** (Covergence of the KS approximants for  $\pi_{\pm}$ ). The KS approximants,  $L_{\pm,k}^{(N)}$ , converge strongly to the continuum Virasoro generators,  $L_{\pm,k}$ , on the dense, common core  $\mathfrak{F}_{a}^{alg}(\mathcal{D}_{std}) \subset \mathfrak{F}_{a}(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)})$  spanned by anti-symmetric Fock vectors with finitely many one-particle excitations in  $\mathcal{D}_{std}$  (finite  $\mathcal{D}_{std}$ -particle number):

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \| (:\pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{\pm,k}^{(N)})): -L_{\pm,k})a^{\dagger}(\xi_{1}) \dots a^{\dagger}(\xi_{n})\Omega_{0} \| = 0,$$
(197)

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n \in \mathcal{D}_{std}$ .

By Corollary 4.3 and (195),  $\mathfrak{F}_{a}^{alg}(\mathcal{D}_{std})$  contains a total set of analytic vectors for  $L_{\pm,k}$ , and by Nelson's analytic vector theorem [70] the real and imaginary parts of  $L_{\pm,k}$  are essentially self-adjoint on  $\mathfrak{F}_{a}^{alg}(\mathcal{D}_{std})$ . This implies strong resolvent convergence of the KS approximants and, therefore [73]:

Corollary 4.12 (Convergence of KS unitaries). Consider the unitaries,

$$U_t^{(N)} = e^{itdF_{\pm}(\tilde{o}^{(N)})}, \qquad \qquad U_t = e^{itdF_{\pm}(o)},$$

for  $o^{(N)} = \tilde{r}_{\pm,k}^{(N)}, \tilde{\iota}_{\pm,k}^{(N)}$  and  $o = r_{\pm,k}, \iota_{\pm,k}$ . Then,

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \| (U_t^{(N)} - U_t) \phi \| = 0,$$

for all  $\phi \in \mathfrak{F}_{a}(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)})$  uniformly on compact intervals in  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

As in the previous section, Lemma 4.10 implies the following convergence statement for the Bogoliubov transformations (189):

**Corollary 4.13** (Convergence of KS Bogoliubov transformations for  $\pi_{\pm}$ ). In the quasifree representations  $\pi_{\pm}$ , we have:

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \|\tilde{\sigma}_t^{(N)}(\pi_{\pm}(A)) - \sigma_t(\pi_{\pm}(A))\| = 0, \qquad \forall A \in \mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}.$$

and uniformly on compact intervals in  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

*Remark 4.14* (Moebius group in the Neveu-Schwarz sector). We note that the Hilbert-Schmidt norms in (196) vanish in the Neveu-Schwarz sector ((–)-boundary condition) for  $k = 0, \pm \frac{\pi}{L}$ , i.e.  $\|(\tilde{\ell}_{k,\pm}^{(N)} - \ell_{k,\pm})_{\pm\mp}\|_2^2 = 0$  for the approximation of the Virasoro generators corresponding to the Moebius group. Therefore, a simple extension of Lemma 4.5 is sufficient to prove Theorem 4.11 in this case using the wavelet renormalization group.

**Smeared KS approximants.** We combine the wavelet and momentum-cutoff renormalization groups to analyze the convergence of the smeared KS approximants (134) to the smeared Virasoro generators (131). In this way, it is possible to exploit the convergence of the KS approximants in the non-trivial quasi-free representations  $\pi_{\pm}$  while, at the same time, preserving localization in real space in the sense of Proposition 3.6.

Throughout this paragraph we denote by  $R_M^N$  and  $R_\infty^N$  as well as  $\alpha_M^N$  and  $\alpha_\infty^N$  the momentum-cutoff renormalization group, while  $S_M^N$  and  $S_\infty^N$  denote the wavelet renormalization group for differential loops (see Definition 3.4).

**Lemma 4.15** (Convergence of smeared one-particle KS approximants). Let  $s \in C^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R})$  be a sufficiently regular, compactly supported orthonormal Daubechies scaling function. For  $M \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $X \in \mathfrak{l}(\Lambda_M, \mathbb{C})$ , we consider,

$$\tilde{\ell}^{(N)}_{\pm}(S^{M}_{N}(X)) = \frac{1}{2L_{N}} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N,+}} S^{M}_{N}(\hat{X})_{k} \tilde{\ell}^{(N)}_{\pm,k}, \quad \ell_{\pm}(S^{M}_{\infty}(X)) = \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{\infty,+}} S^{M}_{\infty}(\hat{X})_{k} \ell_{\pm,k},$$

for any  $N \ge M$ . Then,

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{N \to \infty} \| (\tilde{\ell}^{(N)}_{\pm} (S^M_N(X)) - \ell_{\pm} (S^M_{\infty}(X)))_{\pm \pm} \xi \|_{\infty} = 0, \\ &\lim_{N \to \infty} \| (\tilde{\ell}^{(N)}_{\pm} (S^M_N(X)) - \ell_{\pm} (S^M_{\infty}(X))) \xi \|_{\infty} = 0, \end{split}$$

for  $\xi \in \mathcal{D}_{std}$ , and,

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \|(\tilde{\ell}^{(N)}_{\pm}(S^M_N(X)) - \ell_{\pm}(S^M_{\infty}(X)))_{\pm \mp}\|_2 = 0.$$

*Proof.* For sufficiently regular *s*, we know that,

$$\ell_{\pm}(S^{M}_{\infty}(X)) = \frac{1}{2L_{M}} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{\infty,+}} \hat{s}(\varepsilon_{M}k) \hat{X}_{\text{per}|k} \ell_{\pm,k},$$

is well-defined on  $\mathcal{D}_{std}$  because of (108). Now, we use,

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\ell}_{\pm}^{(N)}(S_{N}^{M}(X)) &- \ell_{\pm}(S_{\infty}^{M}(X)) \\ &= \tilde{\ell}_{\pm}^{(N)}(S_{N}^{M}(X) - \chi_{\Gamma_{N}}S_{\infty}^{M}(X)) + \tilde{\ell}_{\pm}^{(N)}(\chi_{\Gamma_{N}}S_{\infty}^{M}(X)) - \ell_{\pm}(S_{\infty}^{M}(X)), \end{split}$$

to write:

$$\begin{split} \|(\tilde{\ell}_{\pm}^{(N)}(S_{N}^{M}(X)) - \ell_{\pm}(S_{\infty}^{M}(X))\!\!)_{\pm\pm}\xi\|_{\infty} &\leq \|\tilde{\ell}_{\pm}^{(N)}(S_{N}^{M}(X) - \chi_{\Gamma_{N}}S_{\infty}^{M}(X))_{\pm\pm}\xi\|_{\infty} \\ &+ \|(\tilde{\ell}_{\pm}^{(N)}(\chi_{\Gamma_{N}}S_{\infty}^{M}(X)) - \ell_{\pm}(S_{\infty}^{M}(X))\!\!)_{\pm\pm}\xi\|_{\infty}, \\ \|(\tilde{\ell}_{\pm}^{(N)}(S_{N}^{M}(X)) - \ell_{\pm}(S_{\infty}^{M}(X))\!\!)_{\xi}\|_{\infty} &\leq \|\tilde{\ell}_{\pm}^{(N)}(S_{N}^{M}(X) - \chi_{\Gamma_{N}}S_{\infty}^{M}(X))\!\!\xi\|_{\infty} \\ &+ \|(\tilde{\ell}_{\pm}^{(N)}(\chi_{\Gamma_{N}}S_{\infty}^{M}(X)) - \ell_{\pm}(S_{\infty}^{M}(X))\!\!)_{\xi}\|_{\infty}, \\ \|(\tilde{\ell}_{\pm}^{(N)}(S_{N}^{M}(X)) - \ell_{\pm}(S_{\infty}^{M}(X))\!\!)_{\pm\mp}\|_{2} &\leq \|\tilde{\ell}_{\pm}^{(N)}(S_{N}^{M}(X) - \chi_{\Gamma_{N}}S_{\infty}^{M}(X))\!\!+_{\mp}\|_{2} \\ &+ \|(\tilde{\ell}_{\pm}^{(N)}(\chi_{\Gamma_{N}}S_{\infty}^{M}(X)) - \ell_{\pm}(S_{\infty}^{M}(X))\!\!)_{\pm\mp}\|_{2} \end{split}$$

Now, let  $\xi = R_{\infty}^{K}(\eta)$  for  $\eta \in \mathfrak{h}_{K}$ . By the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality we have:

$$\begin{split} \|\tilde{\ell}_{\pm}^{(N)}(S_{N}^{M}(X) - \chi_{\Gamma_{N}}S_{\infty}^{M}(X))_{\pm\pm}R_{\infty}^{K}(\eta)\|_{\infty}^{2} \\ &\leq \|\eta\|_{K}^{2}\frac{1}{2L_{K}}\sum_{l\in\Gamma_{K,\pm}}\|\frac{1}{2L}\sum_{k\in\Gamma_{N,+}}\varepsilon_{M} \\ &\times \left(\prod_{j=1}^{N-M}m_{0}(\varepsilon_{M+j}k) - \hat{s}(\varepsilon_{M}k)\right)\hat{X}_{\operatorname{per}|k}(\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)})_{\pm\pm}R_{\infty}^{K}(e_{l})\|_{\infty}^{2} \\ &\leq \|\eta\|_{K}^{2}\frac{1}{2L_{K}}\sum_{l\in\Gamma_{K,\pm}}\left(\frac{1}{2L}\sum_{k\in\Gamma_{N,+}}(1+|\varepsilon_{M}k|)^{2\delta}\Big|\varepsilon_{M}\left(\prod_{j=1}^{N-M}m_{0}(\varepsilon_{M+j}k) - \hat{s}(\varepsilon_{M}k)\right)\hat{X}_{\operatorname{per}|k}\Big|^{2}\right) \\ &\times \left(\frac{1}{2L}\sum_{k\in\Gamma_{N,+}}(1+|\varepsilon_{M}k|)^{-2\delta}\|(\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)})_{\pm\pm}R_{\infty}^{K}(e_{l})\|_{\infty}^{2}\right), \end{split}$$

and,

$$\begin{split} \| (\tilde{\ell}_{\pm}^{(N)}(\chi_{\Gamma_{N}}S_{\infty}^{M}(X)) - \ell_{\pm}(S_{\infty}^{M}(X)))_{\pm\pm}R_{\infty}^{K}(\eta) \|_{\infty}^{2} \\ &\leq \| \eta \|_{K}^{2} \frac{1}{2L_{K}} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{K,\pm}} \| \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} \varepsilon_{M} \hat{s}(\varepsilon_{M}k) \hat{X}_{\text{per}|k}(\chi_{\Gamma_{N}}(k)(\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)}) - (\ell_{\pm,k}))_{\pm\pm} R_{\infty}^{K}(e_{l}) \|_{\infty}^{2} \\ &\leq \| \eta \|_{K}^{2} \frac{1}{2L_{K}} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{K,\pm}} \left( \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} (1 + |\varepsilon_{M}k|)^{2\delta} \Big| \varepsilon_{M} \hat{s}(\varepsilon_{M}k) \hat{X}_{\text{per}|k} \Big|^{2} \right) \\ &\times \left( \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} (1 + |\varepsilon_{M}k|)^{-2\delta} \| (\chi_{\Gamma_{N}}(k)(\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)}) - (\ell_{\pm,k}))_{\pm\pm} R_{\infty}^{K}(e_{l}) \|_{\infty}^{2} \right). \end{split}$$

For sufficiently large  $\delta > 0$  and  $\alpha > 0$ , this implies the first convergence statement because of (196), Lemma 3.7, and the polynomial boundedness of  $\|\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)}R_{\infty}^{K}(e_{l})\|_{\infty}$  and  $\|\ell_{\pm,k}R_{\infty}^{K}(e_{l})\|_{\infty}$  in  $k \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}$  due to (183).

The case without the restriction to the diagonal parts  $(\cdot)_{\pm\pm}$  of the block-diagonal decomposition (24) is analogous. Similarly, we find:

$$\begin{split} \|\tilde{\ell}_{\pm}^{(N)}(S_{N}^{M}(X) - \chi_{\Gamma_{N}}S_{\infty}^{M}(X))_{\pm\mp}\|_{2}^{2} \\ &\leq \left(\frac{1}{2L}\sum_{k\in\Gamma_{N,\pm}} (1+|\varepsilon_{M}k|)^{2\delta}\varepsilon_{M} \left|\prod_{j=1}^{N-M} m_{0}(\varepsilon_{M+j}k) - \hat{s}(\varepsilon_{M}k)\right|^{2} |\hat{X}_{\text{per}|k}|^{2}\right) \\ &\times \left(\frac{1}{2L}\sum_{k\in\Gamma_{N,\pm}} (1+|\varepsilon_{M}k|)^{-2\delta} \|(\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)})_{\pm\mp}\|_{2}^{2}\right), \end{split}$$

and,

$$\begin{split} \|(\tilde{\ell}^{(N)}_{\pm}(\chi_{\Gamma_N}S^M_{\infty}(X)) - \ell_{\pm}(S^M_{\infty}(X)))_{\pm\mp}\|_2^2 \\ &\leq \left(\frac{1}{2L}\sum_{k\in\Gamma_{\infty,+}} (1+|\varepsilon_M k|)^{2\delta} \Big| \varepsilon_M \hat{s}(\varepsilon_M k) \hat{X}_{\mathrm{per}\,|k}\Big|^2\right) \\ &\times \left(\frac{1}{2L}\sum_{k\in\Gamma_{\infty,+}} (1+|\varepsilon_M k|)^{-2\delta} \|(\chi_{\Gamma_N}(k)\tilde{\ell}^{(N)}_{\pm,k} - \ell_{\pm,k})_{\pm\mp}\|_2^2\right). \end{split}$$

Again for sufficiently large  $\delta > 0$  and  $\alpha > 0$ , the convergence of the second statement follows using (196), the observation that  $\|(\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)})_{\pm\mp}\|_2$  and  $\|(\ell_{\pm,k})_{\pm\mp}\|_2$  are polynomially bounded in  $k \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}$ :

$$\begin{split} \|(\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,k}^{(N)})_{\pm\mp}\|_2^2 &= (\frac{L}{\pi})^2 \sum_{n\in\Gamma_{N,\pm}} \theta(\pm n-k)\theta(\mp n)\cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_N k)^4 \left(\frac{\sin(\varepsilon_N(n\mp\frac{k}{2}))}{\varepsilon_N}\right)^2 \chi_{\Gamma_N}(n\mp k),\\ \|(\ell_{\pm,k})_{\pm\mp}\|_2^2 &= (\frac{L}{\pi})^2 \sum_{n\in\Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} \theta(\pm n-k)\theta(\mp n)(n\mp\frac{k}{2})^2. \end{split}$$

As before, we use the preceding lemma to deduce the following result on the convergence of the KS approximants (cf. (195)).

**Theorem 4.16.** (Convergence of smeared KS approximants for  $\pi_{\pm}$ ) Let  $s \in C^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R})$  be a sufficiently regular, compactly supported orthonormal Daubechies scaling function, and let  $X \in \mathfrak{l}(\Lambda_M, \mathbb{C})$  for some  $M \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . Then, the smeared KS approximants,  $L_{\pm}^{(N)}(S_N^M(X))$ , converge strongly to the continuum Virasoro generators,  $L_{\pm}(S_{\infty}^M(X))$ , on the dense domain  $\mathfrak{F}_a^{\mathrm{alg}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{std}}) \subset \mathfrak{F}_a(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)})$  spanned by anti-symmetric Fock vectors with finitely many one-particle excitations in  $\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{std}}$  (finite  $\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{std}}$ -particle number):

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \|(:\pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(S_{N}^{M}(X)))): -L_{\pm}(S_{\infty}^{M}(X)))a^{\dagger}(\xi_{1})\dots a^{\dagger}(\xi_{n})\Omega_{0}\| = 0, \quad (198)$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n \in \mathcal{D}_{std}$ .

By the results in [15],  $\mathfrak{F}_a^{alg}(\mathcal{D}_{std})$  is a domain of essential self-adjointness of  $L_{\pm}(X)$  for real smearing functions  $X \in \mathfrak{l}^{\frac{3}{2}}(S^1, \mathbb{R})$  (the representations  $\pi_{\pm}$  have positive energy and c > 0, see also [41]). Thus, the preceding theorem implies strong resolvent convergence of the smeared KS approximants and, therefore [73]:

**Corollary 4.17** (Convergence of smeared KS unitaries). For  $X \in \mathfrak{l}(\Lambda_M, \mathbb{R})$ , consider *the unitaries*,

$$U_t^{(N)}(S_N^M(X)) = e^{it:\pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^N(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(S_N^M(X)))):}, \qquad U_t(X) = e^{itL_{\pm}(S_{\infty}^M(X))},$$

Then,

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \| (U_t^{(N)}(X) - U_t(X))\phi \| = 0.$$

for all  $\phi \in \mathfrak{F}_{a}(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)})$  uniformly on compact intervals in  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

*Remark 4.18.* We can lift the restriction to sequences  $\{S_N^M(X)\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  with  $X \in l(\Lambda_M, \mathbb{C})$  (called basic sequences in [22]) by:

$$\tilde{\ell}_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_N) - \ell_{\pm}(X) = \tilde{\ell}_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_N - S_N^M(X_M)) + \tilde{\ell}_{\pm}^{(N)}(S_N^M(X_M)) - \ell_{\pm}(S_{\infty}^M(X)) + \ell_{\pm}(S_{\infty}^M(X) - X),$$

for  $X_N \in \mathfrak{l}(\Lambda_N, \mathbb{C})$  and  $X \in \mathfrak{l}^{\alpha}(S_L^1, \mathbb{C})$  ( $\alpha > 0$ ). Then, assuming we have a *S*-convergent sequence of smearing functions  $X_N \xrightarrow{N \to \infty} X$  in the sense of Definition 3.1 for a suitable sequence of Sobolev-type semi-norm  $\{p_{N,\delta}\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ ,

$$\lim_{M\to\infty}\limsup_{N\to\infty}p_{N,\delta}(X_N-S_N^M(X_M))=0,$$

we conclude the convergence of the KS approximants as in (198). In principle this allows us to reconstruct the smeared Virasoro generators for smooth smearing functions  $X \in l^{\infty}(S_L^1, \mathbb{C})$ .

In analogy with the Corollaries 4.7 & 4.13, Lemma 4.15 implies the convergence of the Bogoliubov transformation with smeared generators, see (137):

**Corollary 4.19.** (Convergence of smeared KS Bogoliubov transformations) Let  $s \in C^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R})$  be a sufficiently regular, compactly supported orthonormal Daubechies scaling function. In the quasi-free representations  $\pi_{\pm}$ , we have:

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \|\tilde{\sigma}_{tS_N^M(X)}^{(N)}(\pi_{\pm}(A)) - \sigma_{tS_{\infty}^M(X)}(\pi_{\pm}(A))\| = 0, \qquad \forall A \in \mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$$

uniformly on compact intervals in  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , for any  $M \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $X \in \mathfrak{l}(\Lambda_M, \mathbb{R})$ .

**Error estimates.** In this paragraph, we discuss some basic estimates of the approximation errors occurring in the proofs of Theorems 4.6 & 4.11. Explicit control of the approximation errors is particularly interesting in view of the potential simulation of conformal field theories on quantum computers using a lattice discretization.

Let us begin with a discussion of the approximation error in Lemma 4.5. The structure of the proof, and specifically considering,

$$\sum_{m\in\Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} |f_k^{(N)}(M,m) - f_k(M,m)|^2$$

$$= \sum_{m \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} \left| \hat{s}(\varepsilon_M(m+k))(m+\frac{k}{2}) \right|^2 \left| \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_N k)^2 \frac{\sin(\varepsilon_N(m+\frac{k}{2}))}{\varepsilon_N(m+\frac{k}{2})} \frac{\hat{s}(\varepsilon_N m)}{\hat{s}(\varepsilon_N(m+k))} - 1 \right|^2,$$
(199)

suggests a simple strategy to obtain a specific error bound by estimating against the decay of  $\hat{s}$ :

$$\sum_{m\in\Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} \left| \hat{s}(\varepsilon_{M}(m+k))(m+\frac{k}{2}) \right|^{2} \left| \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k)^{2} \frac{\sin(\varepsilon_{N}(m+\frac{k}{2}))}{\varepsilon_{N}(m+\frac{k}{2})} \frac{\hat{s}(\varepsilon_{N}m)}{\hat{s}(\varepsilon_{N}(m+k))} - 1 \right|^{2} \\ \leq \left( \frac{2\pi^{2}}{L} \sup_{m\in\Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} (1+\frac{L}{\pi}|m+\frac{k}{2}|)^{-2\delta} \left| \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k)^{2} \frac{\sin(\varepsilon_{N}(m+\frac{k}{2}))}{\varepsilon_{N}(m+\frac{k}{2})} \frac{\hat{s}(\varepsilon_{N}m)}{\hat{s}(\varepsilon_{N}(m+k))} - 1 \right|^{2} \right) \\ \left\| \hat{s}(\varepsilon_{M}(.+\frac{k}{2})) \right\|_{h^{1+\delta}}^{2}, \tag{200}$$

for some  $\delta > 0$  and  $\|\hat{s}(\varepsilon_M(.+\frac{k}{2}))\|_{h^{1+\delta}}^2 = \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{m \in \Gamma_{\infty,\pm}} (1 + \frac{L}{\pi} |m|)^{2(1+\delta)} |\hat{s}(\varepsilon_M(m+\frac{k}{2}))|^2$ . The regularizing factor  $(1 + \frac{L}{\pi} |m + \frac{k}{2}|)^{-2\delta}$  has the effect that,

$$\operatorname{Error}^{2}(\delta, L, k, N) := \frac{2\pi^{2}}{L} \sup_{m \in \Gamma_{\infty, \pm}} \operatorname{error}^{2}(\delta, L, k, N, m) \xrightarrow{N \to \infty} 0$$
$$\operatorname{error}^{2}(\delta, L, k, N, m) := (1 + \frac{L}{\pi} |m + \frac{k}{2}|)^{-2\delta} \left| \cos(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k)^{2} \frac{\sin(\varepsilon_{N}(m + \frac{k}{2}))}{\varepsilon_{N}(m + \frac{k}{2})} \frac{\hat{s}(\varepsilon_{N}m)}{\hat{s}(\varepsilon_{N}(m + k))} - 1 \right|^{2},$$

$$(201)$$

with a rate determined by  $\delta = \delta(L, k)$ . To obtain a precise numerical bound we also need to estimate  $\|\hat{s}(\varepsilon_M(. + \frac{k}{2}))\|_{h^{1+\delta}}^2$ , which will decrease with increasing regularity of *s*.

According to the proof of Theorem 4.6, we can estimate the Fock-space norm in (188) using (199):

$$\|(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{k,\pm}^{(N)}) - L_{k,\pm})a^{\dagger}(\xi_{1})...a^{\dagger}(\xi_{n})\Omega_{0}\| \\ \leq \frac{nL}{\pi} \operatorname{Error}(\delta, L, k, N) \|\hat{s}(\varepsilon_{M}(.+\frac{k}{2}))\|_{h^{1+\delta}} \prod_{p=1}^{n} \|\eta_{p}\|_{M},$$
(202)

where  $\xi_p = R_{\infty}^M(\eta_p)$  for  $p = 1, \ldots, n$  and  $M < N^{15}$ .

The supremum in (201) can be estimated for  $\delta \in [0, 2]$  as follows:

$$\operatorname{Error}^{2}(\delta, L, k, N) = \frac{2\pi^{2}}{L} \left(\frac{\pi}{L_{N}}\right)^{2\delta} \sup_{m \in \Gamma_{\infty}} \left(\frac{\pi}{L_{N}} + \varepsilon_{N} | m + \frac{k}{2} |\right)^{-2\delta} \left| \cos\left(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k\right)^{2} \frac{\sin\left(\varepsilon_{N}(m+\frac{k}{2})\right)}{\varepsilon_{N}(m+\frac{k}{2})} \frac{\hat{s}\left(\varepsilon_{N}m\right)}{\hat{s}\left(\varepsilon_{N}(m+k)\right)} - 1 \right|^{2} \\ \leq \frac{2\pi^{2}}{L} \left(\frac{\pi}{L_{N}}\right)^{2\delta} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} \left(\frac{\pi}{L_{N}} + | x + \varepsilon_{N}\frac{k}{2} |\right)^{-2\delta} \left| \cos\left(\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k\right)^{2} \frac{\sin\left(x + \varepsilon_{N}\frac{k}{2}\right)}{x + \varepsilon_{N}\frac{k}{2}} \frac{\hat{s}(x)}{\hat{s}\left(x + \varepsilon_{N}k\right)} - 1 \right|^{2}.$$

$$(203)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Note that the states  $a^{\dagger}(\xi_1) \dots a^{\dagger}(\xi_n) \Omega_0$  have the norm  $||a^{\dagger}(\xi_1) \dots a^{\dagger}(\xi_n) \Omega_0|| = \prod_{p=1}^n ||\xi_p||_{\infty}$ , for  $\xi_1, \dots, \xi_n$  orthogonal.

Thus, we find for k = 0:

Error<sup>2</sup>(
$$\delta$$
,  $L$ , 0,  $N$ )  $\leq \frac{2\pi^2}{L} (\frac{\pi}{L_N})^{2\delta} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} (\frac{\pi}{L_N} + |x|)^{-2\delta} \left| \frac{\sin(x)}{x} - 1 \right|^2$   
 $\leq \frac{2\pi^2}{L} (\frac{\pi}{L_N})^{2\delta} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} |x|^{-2\delta} \left| \frac{\sin(x)}{x} - 1 \right|^2,$  (204)

and  $\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} |x|^{-2\delta} \left| \frac{\sin(x)}{x} - 1 \right|^2$  is a finite constant of order unity for  $\delta \in [0, 2]$  since  $\left| \frac{\sin(x)}{x} - 1 \right|^2 \approx \frac{x^4}{36} + \mathcal{O}(x^6)$ . As long as *N* is sufficiently large, we expect essentially the same behavior for  $k \neq 0$  because of the uniform continuity of  $\hat{s}$  in (203). This suggests:

$$\operatorname{Error}^{2}(\delta, L, k, N) \lesssim C_{\delta, L, k} 2^{-2\delta N}, \qquad (205)$$

with an explicitly computable proportionality factor  $C_{\delta,L,k}$ .

*Remark 4.20.* (CFT simulation) Concerning the simulation of the a free-fermion CFT on a quantum computer, the scale parameter N reflects the number of qubits used in the simulation because it determines the size of the real-space lattice  $\Lambda_N$  which forms the basis for the Hilbert space on which the KS approximant  $L_{\pm,k}^{(N)}$  acts. The second scale parameter M reflects the resolution at which the Fock states  $a^{\dagger}(\xi_1) \dots a^{\dagger}(\xi_n) \Omega_0$ are resolved. It should, therefore, be strictly less than N reflecting at least a doubling of the sampling frequency in accordance with the Nyquist-Shannon theorem. At the same time, if we fix the length scale L of the spatial circle  $S_L^1$  on which the CFT is supposed to live, we are forced to choose M in accordance with the regularity parameter  $K \ge 2$ of the Daubechies scaling function  $s = {}_K s$  since  $\supp({}_K s) = [0, 2K - 1]$ . This suggest a lower bound on M in terms of K according to  $\varepsilon_M(2K - 1) \sim L$  to ensure that  $s^{(\varepsilon_M)}$ is well-localized in  $S_L^1$ .

The choice,  $\xi_p = R_{\infty}^M(\eta_p)$ , p = 1, ..., n, for the one-particle states means that an arbitrary *n*-particle state  $a^{\dagger}(\xi_1) \dots a^{\dagger}(\xi_n)\Omega_0$  is approximated by projecting its oneparticle amplitudes onto the subspace generated by the wavelet basis determined by the scaling function *s* up to a resolution scale  $\varepsilon_M = 2^{-M} \varepsilon_0$ , i.e.:

$$\eta_p = R_{\infty}^{M*} \xi_p = \sum_{x \in \Lambda_M} \langle s^{(\varepsilon_M)}(.-x), \xi_p \rangle s^{(\varepsilon_M)}(.-x)$$
$$= \sum_{x \in \Lambda_0} \langle s(.-x), \xi_p \rangle s(.-x) + \sum_{j=0}^M \sum_{x \in \Lambda_j} \langle \psi^{(\varepsilon_j)}(.-x), \xi_p \rangle \psi^{(\varepsilon_j)}(.-x),$$

where  $\psi$  is the wavelet associated with *s*.

The inner products of the states  $\pi_{\pm}(a^{\dagger}(\xi_1))...\pi_{\pm}(a^{\dagger}(\xi_n))\Omega_0$  are accessible according to Lemma 3.11 in terms of the lattice correlation functions of  $\omega_{0}^{(N)}$ :

$$\langle \pi_{\pm}(a^{\dagger}(R_{\infty}^{M}(\eta)))\Omega_{0}, \pi_{\pm}(a^{\dagger}(R_{\infty}^{M}(\eta')))\Omega_{0}\rangle = \lim_{N \to \infty} \langle a_{N}^{\dagger}(R_{N}^{M}(\eta))\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}, a_{N}^{\dagger}(R_{N}^{M}(\eta'))\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}\rangle \langle a_{N}^{\dagger}(R_{N}^{M}(\eta'))\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}\rangle \langle a_{N}^{\dagger}(R_{N}^{M}(\eta))\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}\rangle \langle a_{N}^{M}(\eta)\rangle \langle a_{N}^{M}$$

where we explicitly indicated that the creation operators  $a_N^{\dagger}$  are to be realized by the quantum simulation at scale N.

Let us continue with a few remarks on the estimation of errors occurring in Lemma 4.10 using the momentum-cutoff renormalization group.

*Remark 4.21.* (Error of time-evolution) The error bound on the one-particle generators directly translates to an error bound on the unitary implementer of time evolution (k = 0) by the fundamental theorem of calculus since  $[\tilde{\ell}^{(N)}_{\pm 0}, \exp(it\ell_{\pm,0})] = 0$  implies:

$$\|(e^{it\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,0}^{(N)}} - e^{it\ell_{\pm,0}})R_{\infty}^{M}(\eta_{p})\|_{\infty} \le t\|(\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,0}^{(N)} - \ell_{\pm,0})R_{\infty}^{M}(\eta_{p})\|_{\infty}.$$
(206)

Thus, we can explicitly estimate the error for the analogue of (191) as well as the approximation of time-dependent correlation functions as in Theorem 6.1 below. For the same reason, we can estimate the approximation of correlation functions involving  $U_t = \exp(itL_{\pm,0})$  by those involving  $U_t^{(N)} = \exp(itdF_{-}(\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,0}^{(N)}))$ , cf. Corollary 4.12. By a similar reasoning that leads to (205), we have for  $\delta \in [0, 2]$ :

$$\|((\tilde{\ell}_{\pm,0}^{(N)} - \ell_{\pm,0})_{\pm\pm}^{(t)} R_{\infty}^{M}(\eta_{p})\|_{\infty}^{2} \leq \varepsilon_{N}^{2\delta} \underbrace{\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} \frac{|\operatorname{sinc}(x) - 1|^{2}}{|x|^{2\delta}}}_{=\frac{1}{36} \operatorname{for} \delta = 2} \|\eta\|_{M}^{2} (\frac{L}{\pi})^{2} \sum_{n \in \Gamma_{M,\pm}} \theta(\pm n) |n|^{2(1+\delta)},$$
(207)

which shows that the asymptotic approximation error for the time-evolution behaves as  $\sim 2^{-2N}$  for fixed M ( $\delta = 2$ ).

*Remark 4.22.* (Error estimates for  $k \neq 0$ ) For  $k \neq 0$ , the error bound on the generators can be used to obtain an error bound (asymptotic in the time *t*) for the associated unitary groups acting on analytic vectors  $\{e_m\}_{m\in\mathbb{N}_0}$  which are in the image of  $R_{\infty}^M$ . To this end, we observe that:

$$\|(e^{it\tilde{o}^{(N)}} - e^{ito})\xi\|_{\infty} \le t \|(\tilde{o}^{(N)} - o)\xi\|_{\infty} + \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} \frac{t^{j}}{j!} \|((\tilde{o}^{(N)})^{j} - o^{j})\xi\|_{\infty},$$

which is convergent for some t > 0 whenever  $\xi$  is analytic for  $\tilde{o}^{(N)}$ , *o*. Thus, we can, for example, consider  $\tilde{o}^{(N)} = \tilde{r}_{\pm,k}^{(N)}$  and  $o = r_{\pm,k}$  and exploit (183) to deduce for  $k \neq 0$ :

$$\|((\tilde{r}_{\pm,k}^{(N)})^j - r_{\pm,k}^j)e_m\|_{\infty} \le 4L(\frac{L}{2\pi})^j \binom{2j}{j}^{\frac{1}{2}} |k|^j \frac{\Gamma(|\frac{m}{k}| + \frac{1}{2} + j)}{\Gamma(|\frac{m}{k}| + \frac{1}{2})}.$$

This immediately implies (for sufficiently small t > 0 if  $k \neq 0$ ):

$$\|(e^{it\tilde{r}_{\pm,k}^{(N)}} - e^{itr_{\pm,k}})e_m\|_{\infty} \le t\|(\tilde{r}_{\pm,k}^{(N)} - r_{\pm,k})e_m\|_{\infty} + 4L\frac{(\frac{L}{\pi}(|m| + \frac{1}{2}|k|)t)^2}{1 - \frac{L}{\pi}(|m| + \frac{1}{2}|k|)t},$$
 (208)

because  $\binom{2j}{j}^{\frac{1}{2}} |k|^j \frac{\Gamma(|\frac{m}{k}|+\frac{1}{2}+j)}{\Gamma(|\frac{m}{k}|+\frac{1}{2})} \leq (2(|m|+\frac{1}{2}|k|))^j j!$ . An analogous bound holds for the approximation of the unitary group associated with  $\iota_{\pm,k}$ .

Thus, we find that for small t > 0 (independent of N) the approximation error (in the limit  $N \to \infty$ ) for the unitary groups can be explicitly estimated in terms of the error given for the generators.

Being less explicit about the one-particle vectors used in (196) (or (191) in general), we can always get the following bound for the approximation error, valid for all t > 0,

when restricting to a spectral subspace  $\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}^{\leq M} = P_{[M,-M]}\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  of *o* for some finite cut-off  $M < \infty$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \|(e^{it\tilde{o}^{(N)}} - e^{ito})\xi\|_{\infty} &\leq t \, \|(\tilde{o}^{(N)} - o)\xi\|_{\infty} \\ &+ (1+a)(e^{Mt} - (1+Mt))\|\xi\|_{\infty} + b(e^t - (1+t))\|\xi\|_{\infty}. \end{aligned}$$

with  $\xi \in \mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}^{\leq M}$ , and assuming the powers of the approximants  $(\tilde{o}^{(N)})^j$  are constructed as uniformly  $o^j$ -bounded operators, i.e.  $\|(\tilde{o}^{(N)})^j \xi\|_{\infty} \leq a \|o^j \xi\|_{\infty} + b \|\xi\|_{\infty}$ .

4.2.4. *Koo–Saleur approximants of the equivalent XY model* For completeness and in view of our companion article [72], we also provide the expressions for the KS approximants in terms of the single-component fermion *b* using (79):

$$L_{k}^{(N)} = \frac{1}{8\pi} \sum_{l,l' \in \Gamma_{N+1,\pm}} \left( \hat{b}_{l'} \atop \hat{b}_{-l'}^{\dagger} \right)^{\dagger} e^{-\frac{i}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k} \delta_{k,l'-l \mod \frac{2\pi}{\varepsilon_{N}}} \ell_{k}^{(N)}(l',l) \left( \hat{b}_{l} \atop \hat{b}_{-l}^{\dagger} \right),$$

$$\ell_{k}^{(N)}(l',l) = \frac{1}{2} \left( -\frac{e^{\frac{i}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k} \sin(\varepsilon_{N}(l+\frac{k}{2})) -i(e^{\frac{i}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k} \sin(\varepsilon_{N}\frac{l}{2}) + e^{-\frac{i}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k} \sin(\varepsilon_{N}\frac{l+k}{2}))}{i(e^{\frac{i}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k} \sin(\varepsilon_{N}\frac{l'-k}{2}) + e^{-\frac{i}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k} \sin(\varepsilon_{N}\frac{l}{2}) + e^{-\frac{i}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k} \sin(\varepsilon_{N}\frac{l+k'}{2}))} \right),$$

$$\overline{L}_{k}^{(N)} = \frac{1}{8\pi} \sum_{l,l' \in \Gamma_{N+1,\pm}} \left( \hat{b}_{l'} \atop \hat{b}_{-l'}^{\dagger} \right)^{\dagger} e^{\frac{i}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k} \delta_{-k,l'-l \mod \frac{2\pi}{\varepsilon_{N}}} \overline{\ell}_{k}^{(N)}(l',l) \left( \hat{b}_{l} \atop \hat{b}_{-l}^{\dagger} \right),$$

$$\overline{\ell}_{k}^{(N)}(l',l) = \frac{1}{2} \left( e^{-\frac{i}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k} \sin(\varepsilon_{N}(l-\frac{k}{2})) -i(e^{-\frac{i}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k} \sin(\varepsilon_{N}\frac{l}{2}) + e^{\frac{i}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k} \sin(\varepsilon_{N}\frac{l-k}{2}))}{i(e^{-\frac{i}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k} \sin(\varepsilon_{N}\frac{l'+k}{2}) + e^{\frac{i}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k} \sin(\varepsilon_{N}\frac{l'}{2}))} e^{\frac{i}{4}\varepsilon_{N}k} \sin(\varepsilon_{N}\frac{l+l'}{2})} \right).$$
(209)

Alternatively, we may derive the KS approximants directly in terms of the singlecomponent fermion on the doubled lattice  $\Lambda_{N+1}$ , which results in:

$$L_{k}^{(N)} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \sum_{l,l' \in \Gamma_{N+1}} \left( \hat{b}_{l'}^{l} \\ \hat{b}_{-l'}^{\dagger} \right)^{\dagger} \ell_{k}^{(N)}(l',l) \left( \hat{b}_{l}^{l} \\ \hat{b}_{-l}^{\dagger} \right),$$

$$\ell_{k}^{(N)}(l',l) = \delta_{k,l'-l} \left( \begin{array}{c} -\sin(\varepsilon_{N+1}(l+l')) & e^{-i\varepsilon_{N+1}(l+\frac{k}{2})}\cos(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N+1}k) \\ e^{i\varepsilon_{N+1}(l'-\frac{k}{2})}\cos(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N+1}k) & -\sin(\varepsilon_{N+1}(l+l')) \end{array} \right),$$

$$\overline{L}_{k}^{(N)} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \sum_{l,l' \in \Gamma_{N+1}} \left( \hat{b}_{l'}^{l} \\ \hat{b}_{-l'}^{\dagger} \right)^{\dagger} \overline{\ell}_{k}^{(N)}(l',l) \left( \hat{b}_{l}^{l} \\ \hat{b}_{-l}^{\dagger} \right),$$

$$\overline{\ell}_{k}^{(N)}(l',l) = \delta_{-k,l'-l} \left( \begin{array}{c} \sin(\varepsilon_{N+1}(l+l')) & e^{-i\varepsilon_{N+1}(l-\frac{k}{2})}\cos(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N+1}k) \\ e^{i\varepsilon_{N+1}(l'+\frac{k}{2})}\cos(\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N+1}k) & \sin(\varepsilon_{N+1}(l+l')) \end{array} \right). \quad (210)$$

But, it should be noted that these alternative expressions are not directly comparable to those in (209) because they arise through the Fourier transform on  $\Lambda_{N+1}$ , not  $\Lambda_N$ , and, therefore, refer to the (symmetrized) Hamiltonian density

$$\tilde{h}_{x}^{(N)} = \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{N+1}^{-2}(b_{x}b_{x+\varepsilon_{N+1}} - b_{x}^{\dagger}b_{x+\varepsilon_{N+1}}^{\dagger} + b_{x-\varepsilon_{N+1}}b_{x} - b_{x-\varepsilon_{N+1}}^{\dagger}b_{x}^{\dagger}),$$

of the single-component fermion which is related to the Hamiltonian density of the two-component fermion by the half-shift  $x \mapsto x + \varepsilon_{N+1}$ :

$$h_x^{(N)} = \tilde{h}_x^{(N)} + \tilde{h}_{x+\varepsilon_{N+1}}^{(N)}, \qquad x \in \Lambda_N.$$
(211)

## 5. Approximation of Wess-Zumino-Witten Currents

We use the same approach that shows the convergence of the KS approximants to the Virasoro generators in the scaling limit to approximate the currents of some Wess–Zumino–Witten models. Similar to the Virasoro generators and the KS approximants the currents of these WZW models can be obtained as normal-ordered second quantizations of certain one-particle operators [21,26,91], i.e. normal-ordered fermion bilinears. **The** U(1)-**current.** For simplicity, we describe the adaptation of the procedure for the (chiral) U(1)-current,

$$J_{-}(x) =: \pi_{-}(\psi_{+|x}^{\dagger})\pi_{-|x}(\psi_{\pm}) :, \qquad x \in S_{L}^{1}, \qquad (212)$$

in the Neveu-Schwarz sector of  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,-}^{(+)}$  first.  $J_{-}(x)$  is a local bosonic field on  $\mathfrak{F}_{a}(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,-}^{(+)})$  with the following commutation relations [75]:

$$[J_{-}(x), J_{-}(y)] = \frac{i}{2\pi} \delta'_{0}(x - y) , \qquad (213)$$

which reflect the presence of a non-trivial central charge c = 1. At finite scales, the direct analogue of  $J_{-}(x)$  is given by the *lattice current*:

$$J^{(N)}(x) = \psi^{\dagger}_{+|x}\psi_{+|x}, \qquad x \in \Lambda_N,$$
(214)

as an element of  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,-}^{(+)}$ . As for the Virasoro generators,  $J_-$  can be approximated by  $J^{(N)}$  in the scaling limit representation  $\pi_-$  on  $\mathfrak{F}_a(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,-}^{(+)})$  using the asymptotic maps  $\alpha_{\infty}^N: \mathfrak{A}_{N,-}^{(+)} \to \mathfrak{A}_{\infty,-}^{(+)}$  as in the Theorem 4.6 using the wavelet renormalization group,

$$: \pi_{-}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(J^{(N)}(x))) := :\pi_{-}(\psi_{+}^{\dagger}(s_{x}^{(\varepsilon_{N})}))\pi_{-}(\psi_{+}(s_{x}^{(\varepsilon_{N})})) :, \qquad (215)$$

and similar for the momentum-cutoff renormalization group as in Theorems 4.11 and 4.16.

We infer from (215) that the approximants for the wavelet renormalization group are localized operators in the even subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,-}^{(+)}$  with a localization region determined by the support of the scaling function  $s_x^{(\varepsilon_N)}$ .

In momentum space, we have the following picture:

$$\hat{J}_{-,k} = :dF_{-}(j_{k}): = \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{\infty,-}} :\pi_{-}(\hat{\psi}_{+|l+k}^{\dagger})\pi_{-}(\hat{\psi}_{+|l}):,$$

$$\hat{J}_{k}^{(N)} = dF_{0}(j_{k}^{(N)}) = \frac{1}{2L_{N}} \sum_{l \in \Gamma_{N,-}} \hat{\psi}_{+|l+k}^{\dagger} \hat{\psi}_{+|l},$$
(216)

such that  $: \pi_{-}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(J_{k}^{(N)})) := :dF_{C}(\tilde{j}_{k}^{(N)}) :$  with  $\tilde{j}_{k}^{(N)} = R_{\infty}^{N}j_{k}^{(N)}(R_{\infty}^{N})^{*}$ . The oneparticle operators  $j_{k}^{(N)}$ ,  $j_{k}$  are the (unitary) momentum-space translations on  $\mathfrak{h}_{N,-}^{(+)}$  respectively  $\mathfrak{h}_{\infty-}^{(+)}$ :

$$(j_k^{(N)}\hat{\xi})_m = \hat{\xi}_{m-k},$$
  $(j_k\hat{\xi})_m = \hat{\xi}_{m-k},$  (217)

for  $\xi \in \mathfrak{h}_{N,-}^{(+)}$  or  $\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,-}^{(+)}$ , satisfying the implementability condition (19) and with matrix elements:

$$(j_k^{(N)})_{mn} = 2L_N \delta_{m,n+k}^{(N)}, \qquad (j_k)_{mn} = 2L \delta_{m,n+k}.$$
(218)

Since the off-diagonal parts of  $j_k$  satisfy the Hilbert-Schmidt condition,

$$\|(j_k)_{\pm\mp}\|_2^2 = \sum_{n \in \Gamma_{\infty,-}} \theta(\pm n)\theta(\mp (n-k)) < \infty,$$
(219)

and,

$$j_k^{(N)*} = j_{-k}^{(N)}, \qquad \qquad j_k^* = j_k,$$
 (220)

the expression for  $\hat{J}_{-,k}$  in (216) results in a densely defined, closable operator on  $\mathfrak{F}_{a}(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,-}^{(+)})$  [14,26]. As before, we define the smeared U(1)- and lattice current,

$$J^{(N)}(X) = \frac{1}{2L_N} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N,+}} \hat{X}_k J_k^{(N)}), \qquad J_-(X) = \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{\infty,+}} \hat{X}_k \hat{J}_{-,k},$$
(221)

and their one-particle analogues,

$$j^{(N)}(X) = \frac{1}{2L_N} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N,+}} \hat{X}_k j_k^{(N)}, \qquad j(X) = \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{\infty,+}} \hat{X}_k j_k, \qquad (222)$$

for with sufficiently regular  $X \in l^{\alpha}(S_L^1, \mathbb{C})$  respectively  $X \in l(\Lambda_N, \mathbb{C})$  :. For real  $X = \overline{X}$ , i.e.  $iX \in u(1)$ , the Lie algebra of U(1),  $J_-(X)$  and  $J^{(N)}(X)$  are self-adjoint and induce automorphic Bogoliubov transformations of  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,-}^{(+)}$  respectively  $\mathfrak{A}_{N,-}^{(+)}$ :

$$\operatorname{Ad}_{e^{itJ^{(N)}(X)}}(a^{\dagger}(\xi)) = a^{\dagger}(e^{itj^{(N)}(X)}\xi), \quad \operatorname{Ad}_{e^{itJ_{-}(X)}}(\pi_{-}(a^{\dagger}(\xi))) = \pi_{-}(a^{\dagger}(e^{itj(X)}\xi)),$$
(223)

for  $\xi \in \mathfrak{h}_{N,-}^{(+)}$  or  $\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,-}^{(+)}$ , and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Comparing the matrix elements (218) with those of the one-particle operators of the Virasoro generators and the KS approximants (194), we deduce that all convergence results of Sect. 4.2.3 equally apply to the approximation of the U(1)-current by (214) in the scaling limit. Notably, some of the proof of the results for the U(1)-current simplify slightly because the one-particle operators  $j_k, k \in \Gamma_{\infty,+}$ , are bounded. As an illustration we state the analogue of Theorem 4.16:

**Theorem 5.1** (Convergence of smeared lattice currents for  $\pi_-$ ). Let  $s \in C^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R})$  be a sufficiently regular, compactly supported orthonormal Daubechies scaling function, and let  $X \in \mathfrak{l}(\Lambda_M, \mathbb{C})$  for some  $M \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . Then, the smeared lattice currents,  $J^{(N)}(S_N^M(X))$ , converge strongly to the U(1)-current,  $J_-(S_{\infty}^M(X))$ , on the dense domain  $\mathfrak{F}_a^{\mathrm{alg}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{std}}) \subset \mathfrak{F}_a(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)})$  spanned by anti-symmetric Fock vectors with finitely many one-particle excitations in  $\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{std}}$  (finite  $\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{std}}$ -particle number):

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \|(:\pi_{-}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(J^{(N)}(S_{N}^{M}(X)))): -J_{-}(S_{\infty}^{M}(X)))a^{\dagger}(\xi_{1})\dots a^{\dagger}(\xi_{n})\Omega_{0}\| = 0, \quad (224)$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n \in \mathcal{D}_{std}$ .

*Proof.* The proof is identical to that Theorem 4.16 using the analogue of Lemma 4.15 with the additional simplification that we have uniform bounds:

$$\|\tilde{j}_k^{(N)} R_{\infty}^K(e_l)\|_{\infty} = 1, \qquad \|j_k R_{\infty}^K(e_l)\|_{\infty} = 1.$$

**WZW-currents.** We illustrate the adaptation of the procedure for the U(1)-current to non-abelian currents by the example of the level-1 (chiral)  $\hat{u}(D)_1$ -currents. Here, u(D) denotes the Lie algebra of U(D), the unitary group in D dimensions. The  $\hat{u}(D)_1$ -currents are given by:

$$J_{-}^{\mu}(x) = \sum_{i,j=1}^{D} t_{ij}^{\mu} : \pi_{-}(\psi_{+|x}^{(i)\dagger})\pi_{-}(\psi_{+|x}^{(j)}) := \frac{1}{2L} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{\infty,-}} e^{-ikx} \hat{J}_{-,k}^{\mu} , \qquad (225)$$

where the matrices  $\{t^{\mu}\}_{\mu=1}^{D^2-1}$  are a basis of the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{u}(D)$ , and we use *D*-component (chiral) complex fermions  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,-}^{(+)}(D) = \mathfrak{A}_{CAR}(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,-}^{(+)} \otimes \mathbb{C}^D)$ . The finite-scale analogues of the non-abelian currents and the associated approximants are given by:

$$J^{(N),\mu}(x) = \sum_{i,j=1}^{D} t^{\mu}_{ij} \psi^{(i)\dagger}_{+|x} \psi^{(j)}_{+|x} = \frac{1}{2L_N} \sum_{k \in \Gamma_{N,-}} e^{-ikx} \hat{J}^{(N),\mu}_k, \quad \hat{J}^{(N),\mu}_k = dF_0(j^{(N),\mu}_k),$$
(226)

with the one-particle operators that also satisfy the implementability condition (19):

$$(j_k^{(N),\mu}\hat{\xi})_{i,m} = \sum_{j=1}^D t_{ij}^{\mu}\hat{\xi}_{j,m-k}, \qquad (j_k^{\mu}\hat{\xi})_{i,m} = \sum_{j=1}^D t_{ij}^{\mu}\hat{\xi}_{j,m-k}, \qquad (227)$$

for  $\mathfrak{h}_{N,-}^{(+)} \otimes \mathbb{C}^D$  respectively  $\xi \in \mathfrak{h}_{\infty,-}^{(+)} \otimes \mathbb{C}^D$ . The finite-scale one-particle operators are mapped to the scaling limit by  $\tilde{j}_k^{(N),\mu} = R_{\infty}^N(j_k^{(N),\mu})(R_{\infty}^N)^*$ . where asymptotic maps are used componentwise.

It is natural to use the Hilbert-Schmidt norm  $\|.\|_{2,D}$  on the basis elements  $t^{\mu}$  as it is directly related to the Killing form on u(D), and by the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality we have:

$$\|j_{k}^{(N),\mu}\hat{\eta}\|_{\mathfrak{h}_{N,-}^{(+)}\otimes\mathbb{C}^{D}}^{2} \leq \|t^{\mu}\|_{2,D}^{2}\sum_{i=1}^{D}\|(j_{k}^{(N)}\hat{\eta})_{i}\|_{\mathfrak{h}_{N}}^{2} = \|t^{\mu}\|_{2,D}^{2}\|\eta\|_{\mathfrak{h}_{N,-}^{(+)}\otimes\mathbb{C}^{D}}^{2},$$

$$\|j_{k}^{\mu}\hat{\xi}\|_{\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,-}^{(+)}\otimes\mathbb{C}^{D}}^{2} \leq \|t^{\mu}\|_{2,D}^{2}\sum_{i=1}^{D}\|(j_{k}\hat{\xi})_{i}\|_{\mathfrak{h}_{\infty}}^{2} = \|t^{\mu}\|_{2,D}^{2}\|\xi\|_{\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,-}^{(+)}\otimes\mathbb{C}^{D}}^{2}.$$
 (228)

The convergence results for the non-abelian lattice currents as, for example, in Theorem 5.1 follow directly from the estimate:

$$\|(\tilde{j}_{k}^{(N),\mu} - j_{k}^{\mu})R_{\infty}^{K}(\eta)\|_{\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,-}^{(+)}\otimes\mathbb{C}^{D}}^{2} \leq \|t^{\mu}\|_{2,D}^{2}\sum_{i=1}^{D}\|(\tilde{j}_{k}^{(N)} - j_{k})R_{\infty}^{K}(\eta_{i})\|_{\infty}^{2},$$
(229)

as this reduce the problem to setting of the U(1)-current.

A similar reasoning applies to any non-abelian  $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_k$ -current of the form (225) associated with a (simply-laced) Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  and representation  $\lambda$  determining the level  $k = k(\lambda)$ , possibly by using the Majorana algebras  $\mathfrak{B}_{N,-}^{(+)}$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_{\infty,-}^{(+)}$  instead.

#### 6. Approximation of Correlation Functions

The convergence results of the previous sections for the approximation of Virasoro generator, their unitaries and the associated Bogoliubov transformations allow for the approximation of (chiral) correlation functions of the resulting fermionic continuum field theories in the scaling limit. Explicit error bounds can be obtained along the lines outlined in the last paragraph of Section 4.2.3.

**Fermion correlation function.** Using either the wavelet or the momentum-cutoff renormalization group, we obtain the following approximation theorem concerning the dynamical (chiral) correlation functions of fermions. We state the theorem for complex fermions  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$ , but an analogous statement holds for the Majorana fermions  $\mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  as is clear from the structure of the proofs in Sect. 4.2.3.

**Theorem 6.1.** (Convergence of fermion correlation functions) Given the quasi-free representations  $\pi_{\pm}$  of the fermion algebra  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  arising from the scaling limit states  $\omega_{\pm}$ . Then, for any  $M \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,  $A, B \in \mathfrak{A}_{M,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  and uniformly in  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  on compact intervals, we have:

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{N \to \infty} (\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}, \pi_{\pm}^{(N)}(\alpha_{N}^{M}(A)) \sigma_{t}^{(N)}(\pi_{\pm}^{(N)}(\alpha_{N}^{M}(B))) \omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}) \\ &= (\Omega_{0}, \pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{M}(A)) \sigma_{t}(\pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{M}(B))) \Omega_{0}) \;, \end{split}$$

where  $\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}$ ,  $\pi_{\pm}^{(N)}$  are the GNS-vector and -representation of  $\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}$ , and  $\Omega_0 \in \mathfrak{F}_a(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)})$  is the standard Fock vacuum.  $\sigma_t^{(N)}$  and  $\sigma_t$  are 1-parameter (semi-)groups of (automorphic) Bogoliubov transformations generated by a finite-scale KS approximant (145) or a (non-)abelian current (214) & (226) and their scaling limits respectively.

*Proof.* Let us first introduce the short hands:

$$C_t^{(N)}(A, B) = (\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}, \pi_{\pm}^{(N)}(A)\sigma_t^{(N)}(\pi_{\pm}^{(N)}(B))\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}),$$
  
$$C_t(A, B) = (\Omega_0, \pi_{\pm}(A)\sigma_t(\pi_{\pm}(B))\Omega_0),$$

for either  $A, B \in \mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  or  $A, B \in \mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$ , as well as,

$$\tilde{C}_t^{(N)}(A, B) = (\Omega_0, \pi_{\pm}(A)\tilde{\sigma}_t^{(N)}(\pi_{\pm}(B))\Omega_0) ,$$

with the approximation  $\tilde{\sigma}_t^{(N)}$  of  $\sigma_t$  given by  $\tilde{\sigma}_t^{(N)} = \operatorname{Ad}_{\pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^N(U_N(t)))}$  because  $\sigma_t^{(N)} = \operatorname{Ad}_{U_N(t)}$  is inner by construction, i.e.  $U_N(t) \in \mathfrak{A}_{N,\pm}^{(\pm)}$ . Thus, the statement can be rephrased as:

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} C_t^{(N)}(\alpha_N^M(A), \alpha_N^M(B)) = C_t(\alpha_\infty^M(A), \alpha_\infty^M(B))$$

We observe that:

$$C_{t}^{(N)}(\alpha_{N}^{M}(A), \alpha_{N}^{M}(B)) = (\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}, \pi_{\pm}^{(N)}(\alpha_{N}^{M}(A) \operatorname{Ad}_{U_{N}(t)}(\alpha_{N}^{M}(B)))\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)})$$
  
$$= \omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}(\alpha_{N}^{M}(A) \operatorname{Ad}_{U_{N}(t)}(\alpha_{N}^{M}(B))),$$
  
$$\tilde{C}_{t}^{(N)}(\alpha_{\infty}^{M}(A), \alpha_{\infty}^{M}(B)) = (\Omega_{0}, (\pi_{\pm} \circ \alpha_{\infty}^{N})(\alpha_{N}^{M}(A) \operatorname{Ad}_{U_{N}(t)}(\alpha_{N}^{M}(B)))\Omega_{0})$$
  
$$= \omega_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(\alpha_{N}^{M}(A) \operatorname{Ad}_{U_{N}(t)}(\alpha_{N}^{M}(B)))), \qquad (230)$$

Thus, we can estimate:

$$\begin{split} |C_{t}^{(N)}(\alpha_{N}^{M}(A), \alpha_{N}^{M}(B)) - C_{t}(\alpha_{\infty}^{M}(A), \alpha_{\infty}^{M}(B))| \\ &\leq |C_{t}^{(N)}(\alpha_{N}^{M}(A), \alpha_{N}^{M}(B)) - \tilde{C}_{t}^{(N)}(\alpha_{\infty}^{M}(A), \alpha_{\infty}^{M}(B))| \\ &+ |\tilde{C}_{t}^{(N)}(\alpha_{\infty}^{M}(A), \alpha_{\infty}^{M}(B)) - C_{t}(\alpha_{\infty}^{M}(A), \alpha_{\infty}^{M}(B))| \\ &\leq |(\Omega_{0}, \pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{M}(A))(\tilde{\sigma}_{t}^{(N)} - \sigma_{t})(\pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{M}(B)))\Omega_{0})| \\ &+ |(\omega_{\pm}^{(N)} - \omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)})(\alpha_{N}^{M}(A)\mathrm{Ad}_{U_{N}(t)}(\alpha_{N}^{M}(B)))| \\ &\leq ||A|| ||(\tilde{\sigma}_{t}^{(N)} - \sigma_{t})(\pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{M}(B)))| \\ &+ |(\omega_{\pm}^{(N)} - \omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)})(\alpha_{N}^{M}(A)\mathrm{Ad}_{U_{N}(t)}(\alpha_{N}^{M}(B)))| \end{split}$$

Thus, the result follows from Corollary 4.7 (or 4.13 & 4.19) provided:

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} |(\omega_{\pm}^{(N)} - \omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)})(\alpha_N^M(A) \operatorname{Ad}_{U_N(t)}(\alpha_N^M(B))))| = 0$$

But, this is itself a consequence of Corollary 4.7 and the fact that  $\omega_{\pm}$  is the scaling limit of  $\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}$ . To see this, we observe that Corollary 4.7 implies for  $\pi_S = \pi_0$  (the standard Fock-space representation) that  $O_N = \alpha_N^M(A) \operatorname{Ad}_{U_N(t)}(\alpha_N^M(B))$  converges to an element  $O \in \mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  for any  $M \in \mathbb{N}_0$ :  $A, B \in \mathfrak{A}_M$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  (uniformly on compact intervals):

$$\begin{split} \lim_{K \to \infty} \lim_{N \to \infty} \|O_N - \alpha_N^K(O_K)\| &= \lim_{K \to \infty} \lim_{N \to \infty} \|\alpha_\infty^N(O_N) - \alpha_\infty^N(\alpha_N^K(O_K))\| \\ &\leq \lim_{K \to \infty} \lim_{N \to \infty} \|\alpha_\infty^N(O_N) - O\| + \lim_{K \to \infty} \lim_{N \to \infty} \|\alpha_\infty^N(O_N) \\ &- \alpha_\infty^N(\alpha_N^K(O_K))\| \\ &= \lim_{N \to \infty} \|\alpha_\infty^N(O_N) - O\| + \lim_{K \to \infty} \|O - \alpha_\infty^K(O_K)\| \\ &= 0, \end{split}$$

with *O* defined by  $\pi_0(\alpha_{\infty}^M(A))\sigma_t(\pi_0(\alpha_{\infty}^M(B)))$ , and  $\pi_0(\alpha_{\infty}^N(O_N)) = \pi_0(\alpha_{\infty}^M(A))\tilde{\sigma}_t^{(N)}(\pi_0(\alpha_{\infty}^M(B)))$ . Finally, the scaling limit construction of  $\omega_{\pm}$  gives (see Lemma 3.11):

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}(\alpha_N^K(O_K)) = \omega_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^K(O_K)), \qquad \forall K \in \mathbb{N}_0$$

which defines  $\omega_{\pm}$  on the dense subalgebra  $\bigcup_{K \in \mathbb{N}_0} \alpha_{\infty}^K(\mathfrak{A}_{K,\pm}^{(\pm)})$ . The extension to  $O \in \mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  can be determined via the approximating sequence  $\alpha_{\infty}^K(O_K)$ :

$$\begin{split} \omega_{\pm}(O_{\infty}) &= \lim_{K \to \infty} \omega_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{K}(O_{K})) = \lim_{K \to \infty} \lim_{N \to \infty} \omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}(\alpha_{N}^{K}(O_{K})) \\ &= \lim_{K \to \infty} \lim_{N \to \infty} \omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}(O_{N}) + \lim_{K \to \infty} \lim_{N \to \infty} \omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}(O_{N} - \alpha_{N}^{K}(O_{K})) \\ &= \lim_{N \to \infty} \omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}(O_{N}) \;. \end{split}$$

which proves the result. To achieve uniform convergence in t on compact intervals, we need the following estimate:

$$\begin{aligned} |(\omega_{\pm}^{(N)} - \omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)})(O_N)| &\leq |\omega_{\pm}^{(N)}(O_N - \alpha_N^K(O_K))| + |(\omega_{\pm}^{(N)} - \omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)})(\alpha_N^K(O_K))| \\ &+ |\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}(\alpha_N^K(O_K) - O_N)| \\ &\leq 2 ||O_N - \alpha_N^K(O_K)|| + |(\omega_{\pm}^{(K)} - \omega_{N-K,\pm}^{(K)})(O_K)| \\ &\leq 2 (||\alpha_{\infty}^N(O_N) - O|| + ||O - \alpha_{\infty}^K(O_K)||) \\ &+ ||\omega_{\pm}^{(K)} - \omega_{N-K,\pm}^{(K)}|| ||O_K||. \end{aligned}$$

Since, by Corollary 4.7,  $\|\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(O_{N}) - O\|$  and  $\|O - \alpha_{\infty}^{K}(O_{K})\|$  can be made uniformly small for *t* in a compact interval, we only need to show that this is possible for  $\|\omega_{\pm}^{(K)} - \omega_{N-K,\pm}^{(K)}\|\|O_{K}\|$  as well. But, this follows from the fact that  $\omega_{N-K,\pm}^{(K)}$  approximates  $\omega_{\pm}^{(K)}$  in the sense of Lemma 3.11, and provided  $\|U_{K}(t)\| \leq C_{I}^{(K)}$  is uniformly bounded in *t* on compact intervals  $I \subset \mathbb{R}$  (obviously true in the unitary case) because:

$$||O_K|| \le ||U_K(t)||^2 ||A|| ||B||.$$

**Corollary 6.2.** The statement of Theorem 6.1 remains valid, if  $A, B \in \mathfrak{A}_{M,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  (for some  $M \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ) are replaced by convergent sequences  $\{A_N\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ ,  $\{B_N\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  in the sense of (91). Then

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} (\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}, \pi_{\pm}^{(N)}(A_N) \sigma_t^{(N)}(\pi_{\pm}^{(N)}((B_N))) \omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}) = (\Omega_0, \pi_{\pm}(A) \sigma_t(\pi_{\pm}(B)) \Omega_0) ,$$

where  $\lim_{N\to\infty} \alpha_{\infty}^{N}(A_{N}) = A$  and  $\lim_{N\to\infty} \alpha_{\infty}^{N}(B_{N}) = B$ . *Proof.* This follows using,

$$\begin{split} &(\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}, \pi_{\pm}^{(N)}(A_N)\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}) - (\Omega_0, \pi_{\pm}(A)\Omega_0) \\ &= (\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}, \pi_{\pm}^{(N)}(A_N)\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)}) - (\Omega_0, \pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^N(A_N))\Omega_0) \\ &+ (\Omega_0, \pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^N(A_N))\Omega_0) - (\Omega_0, \pi_{\pm}(A)\Omega_0) \\ &= (\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N)} - \omega_{\pm}^{(N)})(A_N) + \omega_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^N(A_N) - A), \end{split}$$

repeatedly applying the triangle inequality, and the observation that,

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \|\alpha_{\infty}^N (A_N \sigma_t^{(N)}(B_N)) - A \sigma_t(B)\| = 0,$$

by applying Corollary 4.7 to the standard Fock-space representation  $\pi_0$ .

**Virasoro correlation functions** Since the (smeared) KS approximants converge to the (smeared) Virasoro generators in the scaling limit representations  $\pi_{\pm}$  using the momentum-cutoff renormalization group (possibly in combination with the wavelet renormalization group for the smearing functions) by Theorems 4.11 and 4.16, we obtain an analogue of Theorem 6.1 for correlation functions involving the Virasoro generators or their associated unitaries, cp. [96]. A subtle difference arises from the fact that the KS approximants are only strongly operator-convergent on the Fock-space vectors with finite particle number in momentum space,  $\mathfrak{F}_a^{alg}(\mathcal{D}_{std})$ , and not operator-convergent in the sense of Corollary 6.2. Again, we state the theorem for complex fermions  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$ , but an analogous statement holds for the Majorana fermions  $\mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$ .

**Theorem 6.3** (Convergence of Virasoro correlation functions). Let  $s \in C^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R})$  be a sufficiently regular, compactly supported orthonormal Daubechies scaling function. Given the quasi-free representations  $\pi_{\pm}$  of the fermion algebra  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  arising from the scaling limit states  $\omega_{\pm}$ . Then, for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and S-convergent sequences of smearing functions  $X_{N,p} \xrightarrow{N \to \infty} X_p$ ,  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and p = 1, ..., n with sufficient regularity as in Remark 4.18, for example,  $X_{N,p} = S_N^{M_p}(X_p)$  for  $X_p \in \mathfrak{l}(\Lambda_{M_p}, \mathbb{R})$ , we have:

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} (\Omega_0, \prod_{p=1}^n : (\pi_{\pm} \circ \alpha_{\infty}^N)(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p})) : \Omega_0) = (\Omega_0, \prod_{p=1}^n L_{\pm}(X_p)\Omega_0) ,$$

and similarly,

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} (\Omega_0, \prod_{p=1}^n e^{i:(\pi_{\pm} \circ \alpha_{\infty}^N)(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p})):} \Omega_0) = (\Omega_0, \prod_{p=1}^n e^{iL_{\pm}(X_p)} \Omega_0)$$

where  $\Omega_0$  is the standard Fock vacuum of  $\mathfrak{F}_a(\mathfrak{h}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)})$ . Moreover, the finite-scale correlation functions of the scaling limit state  $\omega_{\pm}$  can be approximated in terms of the renormalized finite-scale states:

$$\begin{aligned} &(\Omega_0, \prod_{p=1}^n : (\pi_{\pm} \circ \alpha_{\infty}^N) (L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p})) : \Omega_0) \\ &= \omega_{\pm}^{(N)} (\prod_{p=1}^n (L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}) - \omega_{\pm}^{(N)} (L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p})))) \\ &= \lim_{M \to \infty} \omega_{M,\pm}^{(N)} (\prod_{p=1}^n (L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}) - \omega_{\pm}^{(N)} (L_{M,\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p})))) \\ &= \lim_{M \to \infty} \omega_{0,\pm}^{(N+M)} (\prod_{p=1}^n (\alpha_{N+M}^N (L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p})) - \omega_{0,\pm}^{(N+M)} (\alpha_{N+M}^N (L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}))))) , \end{aligned}$$

and similarly,

$$(\Omega_0, \prod_{p=1}^n e^{i:(\pi_{\pm} \circ \alpha_{\infty}^N)(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p})):}\Omega_0) = \omega_{\pm}^{(N)}(\prod_{p=1}^n e^{iL_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}) - i\omega_{\pm}^{(N)}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}))})$$

$$= \lim_{M \to \infty} \omega_{M,\pm}^{(N)} (\prod_{p=1}^{n} e^{iL_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}) - i\omega_{M,\pm}^{(N)}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}))})$$
  
$$= \lim_{M \to \infty} \omega_{0,\pm}^{(N+M)} (\prod_{p=1}^{n} e^{i\alpha_{N+M}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p})) - i\omega_{0,\pm}^{(N+M)}(\alpha_{N+M}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p})))}),$$

where  $\omega_{\pm}^{(N)} = \omega_{\pm} \circ \alpha_{\infty}^{N}$ .

*Proof.* The statements follow from a direct application of Theorem 4.16 and Corollary 4.17, the identity,

$$:(\pi_{S} \circ \alpha_{\infty}^{N})(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p})):=(\pi_{S} \circ \alpha_{\infty}^{N})(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}))-\omega_{S}^{(N)}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}))$$

and the convergence, according to Lemma 3.11, of the renormalized states  $\omega_{M,\pm}^{(N)}$  at finite scales to the scaling limit  $\omega_{\pm}^{(N)}$ :

$$\begin{split} &|(\Omega_{0}, \left(\prod_{p=1}^{n} : \pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}))) : -\prod_{p=1}^{n} L_{\pm}(X_{p}))\rangle\Omega_{0})|\\ &\leq \sum_{q=1}^{n} |(\Omega_{0}, \left(\prod_{p=q+1}^{n} : \pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}))) :\right) (:\pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,q}))) : -L_{\pm}(X_{q}))\\ &\left(\prod_{p=1}^{q-1} L_{\pm}(X_{p})\Omega_{0}\right)|\\ &\leq \sum_{q=1}^{n} \left\|\prod_{p=q+1}^{n} : \pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}))) :\Omega_{0}\right\| \left\| (:\pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,q}))) : -L_{\pm}(X_{q}))\right)\\ &\left(\prod_{p=1}^{q-1} L_{\pm}(X_{p})\Omega_{0}\right\|, \end{split}$$
(231)

and similarly,

$$\begin{split} &|(\Omega_{0}, \left(\prod_{p=1}^{n} e^{i:\pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}))):} - \prod_{p=1}^{n} e^{iL_{\pm}(X_{p})}\right)\Omega_{0})| \\ &\leq \sum_{q=1}^{n} |(\Omega_{0}, \left(\prod_{p=q+1}^{n} e^{i:\pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}))):}\right) \left(e^{i:\pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,q}))):} - e^{iL_{\pm}(X_{q})}\right) \\ &\left(\prod_{p=1}^{q-1} e^{iL_{\pm}(X_{p})}\right)\Omega_{0})| \\ &\leq \sum_{q=1}^{n} \left\|\prod_{p=q+1}^{n} e^{i:\pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}))):}\Omega_{0}\right\| \left\|\left(e^{i:\pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,q}))):} - e^{iL_{\pm}(X_{q})}\right) \\ &\left(\prod_{p=1}^{q-1} e^{iL_{\pm}(X_{p})}\right)\Omega_{0}\right\| \end{split}$$

$$\leq \sum_{q=1}^{n} \left\| \left( e^{i:\pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,q}))):} - e^{iL_{\pm}(X_{q})} \right) \left( \prod_{p=1}^{q-1} e^{iL_{\pm}(X_{p})} \right) \Omega_{0} \right\|,$$
(232)

In the case of correlation functions of Virasoro generators, we need two additional observation: First,  $\|\prod_{p=1}^{n} : (\pi_{\pm}(\alpha_{\infty}^{N}(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}))): \Omega_{0}\|$  can be bounded uniformly in N in terms of  $\|\prod_{p=1}^{n} L_{\pm}(X_{p})\Omega_{0}\|$  for sufficiently regular  $X_{p}$  as powers of the approximants :  $(\pi_{\pm} \circ \alpha_{\infty}^{N})(L_{\pm}^{(N)}(X_{N,p}))$ : are uniformly bounded (in N) by  $L_{\pm}(X_{p})$ . Second,  $\prod_{p=1}^{n} L_{\pm}(X_{p})\Omega_{0}$  is given by a convergent sum (depending on the regularity of  $X_{p}$ ) of Fock-space vectors with finite particle number in momentum space.

*Remark 6.4* (Mixed correlation functions). Theorem 6.1 & 6.3 can be combined to obtain convergent expressions for mixed correlation functions, i.e. those containing insertions of operators in  $\mathfrak{A}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$  respectively  $\mathfrak{B}_{\infty,\pm}^{(\pm)}$ , Virasoro generators, WZW currents and their associated unitaries.

Acknowledgements. The authors would like to thank R. F. Werner for valuable discussion about inductive limits in quantum theory. AS would like to thank Y. Tanimoto for helpful discussions concerning the essential self-adjointness of smeared Virasoro generators. Moreover, the authors would like to extend their gratitude to the unknown reviewers providing valuable feedback on a previous version of the manuscript, which improved the presentation and clarified the relation to existing work. Special thanks are extended to one of the reviewers for suggesting to clarify the relation with the Temperley-Lieb algebra and suggesting the case of symplectic fermions for future work. This work was supported, in part, by the DFG through SFB 1227 (DQ-mat), Quantum Valley Lower Saxony, and funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) under Germanys Excellence Strategy EXC-2123 QuantumFrontiers 390837967.

Funding Open Access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL.

**Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

#### Declarations

Conflict of interest The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

**Publisher's Note** Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

# References

- Abdalla, E., Abdalla, M.C.B., Rothe, K.D.: Non-Perturbative Methods in 2 Dimensional Quantum Field Theory, 2nd edn. World Scientific Publishing Company (2001). https://doi.org/10.1142/4678
- Araki, H.: On quasifree states of CAR and Bogoliubov automorphisms. Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 6(3), 385–442 (1970). https://doi.org/10.2977/prims/1195193913
- Bahns, D., Fredenhagen, K., Rejzner, K.: Local nets of Von Neumann algebras in the Sine–Gordon model. Commun. Math. Phys. 383, 1–33 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-021-03961-y
- Belavin, A.A., Polyakov, A.M., Zamolodchikov, A.B.: Infinite conformal symmetry in twodimensional quantum field theory. Nucl. Phys. B 241(2), 333–380 (1984). https://doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(84)90052-X

- Blackadar, B., Kirchberg, E.: Generalized inductive limits of finite-dimensional C\*-algebras. Math. Ann. 307(3), 343–380 (1997). https://doi.org/10.1007/s002080050039
- Borcherds, R.E.: Vertex algebras, Kac-Moody algebras, and the monster. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 83(10), 3068–3071 (1986). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.83.10.3068
- Bostelmann, H., Cadamuro, D.: Characterization of local observables in integrable quantum field theories. Commun. Math. Phys. 337(3), 1199–1240 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-015-2294-z
- Bratteli, O., Robinson, D.W.: Operator Algebras and Quantum Statistical Mechanics 1: C\*-and W\*-Algebras, Symmetry Groups, Decomposition of States. Theoretical and Mathematical Physics, 2nd edn. Springer (1987). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-02520-8
- Bratteli, O., Robinson, D.W.: Operator Algebras and Quantum Statistical Mechanics 2: Equilibrium States, Models in Quantum Statistical Mechanics. Theoretical and Mathematical Physics, 2nd edn. Springer (1997). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-03444-6
- Brothier, A., Stottmeister, A.: Canonical Quantization of 1+1-dimensional Yang-Mills Theory: An Operator Algebraic Approach (2019a). Preprint arXiv: 1907.05549
- Brothier, A., Stottmeister, A.: Operator-algebraic construction of Gauge theories and Jones' actions of Thompson's groups. Commun. Math. Phys. 376(2), 841–891 (2019b). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-019-03603-4
- Brunetti, R., Guido, D., Longo, R.: Modular structure and duality in conformal quantum field theory. Commun. Math. Phys. 156, 201–219 (1993). https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02096738
- Buchholz, D., Mack, G., Todorov, I.: The current algebra on the circle as a germ of local field theories. Nucl. Phys. B Proc.Suppl. 5(2), 20–56 (1988). https://doi.org/10.1016/0920-5632(88)90367-2
- Carey, A.L., Ruijsenaars, S.N.M.: On fermion gauge groups, current algebras and Kac-Moody algebras. Acta Appl. Math. 10(1), 1–86 (1987). https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00046582
- Carpi, S., Weiner, M.: On the uniqueness of diffeomorphism symmetry in conformal field theory. Commun. Math. Phys. 258(1), 203–221 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-005-1335-4
- Carpi, S., Kawahigashi, Y., Longo, R., Weiner, M.: From vertex operator algebras to conformal nets and back. Mem. Am. Math. Soc. 254(1213), vi+85 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1090/memo/1213
- 17. Chelkak, D., Smirnov, S.: Universality in the 2D Ising model and conformal invariance of fermionic observables. Invent. Math. **189**(3), 515–580 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00222-011-0371-2
- Chelkak, D., Hongler, C., Izyurov, K.: Conformal invariance of spin correlations in the planar Ising model. Ann. Math. 181, 1087–1138 (2015). https://doi.org/10.4007/annals.2015.181.3.5
- Chelkak, D., Hongler, C., Izyurov, K.: Correlations of primary fields in the critical Ising model (2021). Preprint arXiv: 2103.10263
- Daubechies, I.: Ten lectures on wavelets, volume 61 of CBMS-NSF regional conference series in applied mathematics. SIAM (1992). https://doi.org/10.1137/1.9781611970104
- Di Francesco, P., Mathieu, P., Senechal, D.: Conformal Field Theory. Graduate Texts in Contemporary Physics. Springer (1997). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-2256-9
- Duffield, N.G., Werner, R.F.: Mean-field dynamical semigroups on C\*-algebras. Rev. Math. Phys. 4(3), 383–424 (1992). https://doi.org/10.1142/s0129055x92000108
- Duminil-Copin, H., Kozlowski, K. K., Krachun, D., Manolescu, I., Oulamara, M.: Rotational invariance in critical planar lattice models (2020). arXiv preprint arXiv:2012.11672
- Engel, K.-J., Nagel, R.: A Short Course on Operator Semigroups, 1st edn. Springer, New York (2006). https://doi.org/10.1007/0-387-36619-9
- Evans, D.E.: Completely positive quasi-free maps on the CAR algebra. Commun. Math. Phys. 70, 53–68 (1979). https://doi.org/10.1007/bf01220502
- Evans, D.E., Kawahigashi, Y.: Quantum Symmetries on Operator Algebras. Oxford Mathematical Monographs. The Clarendon Press, New York (1998)
- Evenbly, G., White, S.R.: Entanglement renormalization and wavelets. Phys. Rev. Lett. 116(14), 140403 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/physrevlett.116.140403
- Feiguin, A., Trebst, S., Ludwig, A.W.W., Troyer, M., Kitaev, A., Wang, Z., Freedman, M.H.: Interacting Anyons in topological quantum liquids: the golden chain. Phys. Rev. Lett. 98(16), 1–5 (2007). https:// doi.org/10.1103/physrevlett.98.160409
- Fendley, P.: Integrability and braided tensor categories. J. Stat. Phys. 182(2), 43 (2021). https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10955-021-02712-6
- Fredenhagen, K.: Implementation of automorphisms and derivations of the CAR-algebra. Commun. Math. Phys. 52(3), 255–266 (1977). https://doi.org/10.1007/bf01609486
- Frenkel, I., Lepowsky, J., Meurman, A.: Vertex Operator Algebras and the Monster. Piure and Applied Mathematics, vol. 134. Elsevier (1988). https://doi.org/10.1016/s0079-8169(08)x6136-7
- Frenkel, I.B., Kac, V.G.: Basic representations of affine Lie algebras and dual resonance models. Invent. Math. 62(1), 23–66 (1980). https://doi.org/10.1007/bf01391662
- Gabbiani, F., Fröhlich, J.: Operator algebras and conformal field theory. Commun. Math. Phys. 155(3), 569–640 (1993). https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02096729

- Gaberdiel, M.R., Kausch, H.G.: A local logarithmic conformal field theory. Nucl. Phys. B Proc. Suppl. 538(3), 631–658 (1999). https://doi.org/10.1016/s0550-3213(98)00701-9
- Glimm, J., Jaffe, A.: A λφ<sup>2</sup>/<sub>2</sub> quantum field theory without Cutoffs I. Phys. Rev. 176(5), 1945–1951 (1968). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRev.176.1945
- 36. Glimm, J., Jaffe, A.: The  $\lambda \phi_2^4$  quantum field theory without Cutoffs II. The field operators and the approximate vacuum. Ann. Math. **91**(2), 362–401 (1970). https://doi.org/10.2307/1970582
- Glimm, J., Jaffe, A.: Quantum Field Theory and Statistical Mechanics: Expositions. Birkhäuser, Basel (1985). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-5158-3
- Glimm, J., Jaffe, A.: Quantum Physics: A Functional Integral Point of View, 2nd edn. Springer, New York (1987). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-4728-9
- Goddard, P., Nahm, W., Olive, D.: Symmetric spaces, Sugawara's energy momentum tensor in two dimensions and free fermions. Phys. Lett. B 160(1–3), 111–116 (1985). https://doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(85)91475-3
- Goddard, P., Kent, A., Olive, D.: Unitary representations of the Virasoro and super-Virasoro algebras. Commun. Math. Phys. 105, 105–119 (1986). https://doi.org/10.1007/bf01464283
- Goodman, R., Wallach, N.R.: Projective unitary positive-energy representations of *Diff(S<sup>1</sup>)*. J. Funct. Anal. 63(3), 299–321 (1985). https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1236(85)90090-4
- Grans-Samuelsson, L., Liu, L., He, Y., Jacobsen, J.L., Saleur, H.: The action of the Virasoro algebra in the two-dimensional Potts and loop models at generic Q. J. High Energy Phys. 2020(10), 109 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/jhep10(2020)109
- Grans-Samuelsson, L., Jacobsen, J.L., Saleur, H.: The action of the Virasoro algebra in quantum spin chains. Part I. The non-rational case. J. High Energy Phys. 2, 2021 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/ jhep02(2021)130
- 44. Grimm, U., Schütz, G.: The spin- $\frac{1}{2}$  XXZ Heisenberg chain, the quantum algebra  $U_q[sl(2)]$ , and duality transformations for minimal models. J. Stat. Phys. **71**(5), 923–966 (1993). https://doi.org/10.1007/bf01049955
- Grosse, H., Hock, A., Wulkenhaar, R.: Solution of the self-dual Φ<sup>4</sup> QFT-model on four-dimensional Moyal space. J. High Energy Phys. (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/jhep01(2020)081
- Gubinelli, M., Hofmanova, M.: A PDE construction of the Euclidean Φ<sup>4</sup><sub>3</sub> quantum field theory. Commun. Math. Phys. 384, 1–75 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-021-04022-0
- 47. Haag, R., Kastler, D.: An algebraic approach to quantum field theory. J. Math. Phys. 5, 848–861 (1964)
- Haegeman, J., Swingle, B., Walter, M., Cotler, J., Evenbly, G., Scholz, V.B.: Rigorous free-fermion entanglement renormalization from wavelet theory. Phys. Rev. X 8(1), 011003 (2018). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevX.8.011003
- Hairer, M.: A theory of regularity structures. Invent. Math. 198(2), 269–504 (2014). https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00222-014-0505-4
- Härdle, W., Kerkyacharian, G., Picard, D., Tsybakov, A.: Wavelets, Approximation, and Statistical Applications. Lecture Notes in Statistics, vol. 129. Springer, New York (1997). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-2222-4
- Hongler, C., Johansson Viklund, F., Kytölä, K.: Conformal Field Theory at the Lattice Level: Discrete Complex Analysis and Virasoro Structure (2013). Preprint arXiv:1307.4104
- Jones, V.F.R.: Some unitary representations of Tompson's groups F and T. J. Comb. Algebra 1(1), 1–44 (2017). https://doi.org/10.4171/JCA/1-1-1
- Jones, V.F.R.: A No-Go theorem for the continuum limit of a periodic quantum spin chain. Commun. Math. Phys. 357(1), 295–317 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-017-2945-3
- Jones, V.F.R.: Scale invariant transfer matrices and Hamiltionians. J. Phys. A Math. Theor. 51(10), 104001 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1088/1751-8121/aaa4dd
- Kato, T.: Perturbation Theory for Linear Operators. Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, vol. 132. Springer, New York (1966)
- Kauffman, L.H., Lins, S.: Temperley-Lieb Recoupling Theory and Invariants of 3-Manifolds. Annals of Mathematics Studies, vol. 134. Princeton University Press (1994)
- Kausch, H.G.: Symplectic fermions. Nucl. Phys. B Proc. Suppl. 583(3), 513–541 (2000). https://doi.org/ 10.1016/s0550-3213(00)00295-9
- Kawahigashi, Y., Longo, R.: Classification of local conformal nets. Case 1. Ann. Math. 160(2), 493–522 (2004). https://doi.org/10.4007/annals.2004.160.493
- Kliesch, A., Koenig, R.: Continuum limits of homogeneous binary trees and the Thompson group. Phys. Rev. Lett. 124(1), 010601 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.124.010601
- Koo, W.M., Saleur, H.: Representations of the Virasoro algebra from lattice models. Nucl. Phys. B 426(3), 459–504 (1994). https://doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(94)90018-3

- König, R., Scholz, V.B.: Matrix product approximations to multipoint functions in two-dimensional conformal field theory. Phys. Rev. Lett. 117(12), 121601 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/physrevlett. 117.121601
- König, R., Scholz, V.B.: Matrix product approximations to conformal field theories. Nucl. Phys. B 920, 32–121 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2017.04.006
- Lashkevich, M.Y.: Sectors of mutually local fields in integrable models of quantum field theory (1994). arXiv preprint arXiv:hep-th/9406118
- Lechner, G.: Construction of quantum field theories with factorizing S-matrices. Commun. Math. Phys. 277, 821–860 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-007-0381-5
- Lieb, E.H., Schultz, T., Mattis, D.: Two soluble models of an antiferromagnetic chain. Ann. Phys. 16(3), 407–466 (1961). https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-4916(61)90115-4
- Lundberg, L.-E.: Quasi-free "second quantization". Commun. Math. Phys. 50(2), 103–112 (1976). https:// doi.org/10.1007/bf01617990
- Meyer, Y.: Wavelets and Operators. Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, vol. 37. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1989). https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511623820
- Milsted, A., Vidal, G.: Extraction of conformal data in critical quantum spin chains using the Koo–Saleur formula. Phys. Rev. B Condens. Matter Mater. Phys. 96(24), 2451052 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevB.96.245105
- Morinelli, V., Morsella, G., Stottmeister, A., Tanimoto, Y.: Scaling limits of lattice quantum fields by wavelets. Commun. Math. Phys. 387, 299–360 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-021-04152-5
- 70. Nelson, E.: Analytic vectors. Ann. Math. 572-615 (1959)
- Osborne, T.J., Stiegemann, D.E.: Quantum fields for unitary representations of Thompson's groups F and T (2019). Preprint arXiv:1903.00318
- 72. Osborne, T.J., Stottmeister, A.: Quantum simulation of conformal field theory (2021). arXiv:2109.14214
- Reed, M., Simon, B.: Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics: Functional Analysis, vol. 1. Academic Press, London (1972)
- Reed, M., Simon, B.: Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics: Fourier Analysis, Self-Adjointness, vol. 2. Academic Press (1975)
- 75. Rehren, K.-H.: Konforme Quantenfeldtheorie (1997)
- Ruijsenaars, S.N.M.: On bogolyubov transformations. 2. The general case. Ann. Phys. 116(1), 105–134 (1978). https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-4916(78)90006-4
- Saleur, H.: Polymers and percolation in two dimensions and twisted N=2 supersymmetry. Nucl. Phys. B Proc. Suppl. 382(3), 486–531 (1992). https://doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(92)90657-W
- Sato, M., Miwa, T., Jimbo, M.: Holonomic quantum fields. IV. Publications of the Research Institute for Mathematical Sciences. Kyoto Univ. 15, 871–972 (1979). https://doi.org/10.2977/prims/1195187881
- Schultz, T.D., Mattis, D.C., Lieb, E.H.: Two-dimensional Ising model as a soluble problem of many fermions. Rev. Mod. Phys. 36(3), 856–871 (1964). https://doi.org/10.1103/RevModPhys.36.856
- Schütz, G.: 'Duality twisted' boundary conditions in n-state Potts models. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 26(18), 4555–4563 (1993). https://doi.org/10.1088/0305-4470/26/18/021
- Segal, G.: The definition of conformal field theory. In: Topology, Geometry and Quantum Field Theory, Volume 308 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, pp. 421–577. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge (2004). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-015-7809-7\_9
- Seiberg, N.: 2015 Breakthrough prize in fundamental physics symposium-YouTube (2014). https://www. youtube.com/watch?v=Hi3e0HVxIFo
- Smirnov, S.: Towards conformal invariance of 2D lattice models. Proc. Int. Conf. Math. 2, 1421–1451 (2006). https://doi.org/10.4171/022-2/68
- 84. Stottmeister, A.: Anyon braiding and the renormalization group (2022). Preprint arXiv: 2201.11562
- Stottmeister, A., Morinelli, V., Morsella, G., Tanimoto, Y.: Operator-algebraic renormalization and wavelets. Phys. Rev. Lett. 127(23), 230601 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.127.230601
- Summers, S. J.: A perspective on constructive quantum field theory (2012). arXiv preprint arXiv:1203.3991
- Susskind, L.: Lattice fermions. Phys. Rev. D 16(10), 3031 (1977). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.16. 3031
- Temperley, H.N.V., Lieb, E.H.: Relations between the 'percolation' and 'colouring' problem and other graph-theoretical problems associated with regular planar lattices: some exact results for the 'percolation' problem. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. Ser. A Math. Phys. **322**(1549), 251–280 (1971). https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-662-06390-3\_31
- Tener, J.E.: Geometric realization of algebraic conformal field theories. Adv. Math. 349, 488–563 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aim.2019.04.001
- Verstraete, F., Cirac, J.I., Latorre, J.I.: Quantum circuits for strongly correlated quantum systems. Phys. Rev. A Atom. Mol. Opt. Phys. 79(3), 032316 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevA.79.032316

- Wassermann, A.: Operator algebras and conformal field theory. Invent. Math. 133(3), 467–538 (1998). https://doi.org/10.1007/s002220050253
- Wenzl, H.: On sequences of projections. La Société Royale du Canada. L'Academie des Sciences. Comptes Rendus Mathématiques. (Mathematical Reports) 9(1), 5–9 (1987). https://mr.math.ca/article/ on-sequences-of-projections/
- Wilson, K.G.: The renormalization group: critical phenomena and the Kondo problem. Rev. Mod. Phys. 47(4), 773 (1975). https://doi.org/10.1103/RevModPhys.47.773
- Witteveen, F., Scholz, V., Swingle, B., Walter, M.: Quantum circuit approximations and entanglement renormalization for the Dirac field in 1+1 dimensions. Commun. Math. Phys. (2021). https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00220-021-04274-w
- Xu, F.: Some results on relative entropy in quantum field theory. Commun. Math. Phys. 374(3), 1469–1482 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-019-03367-x
- Zini, M.S., Wang, Z.: Conformal field theories as scaling limit of Anyonic chains. Commun. Math. Phys. 363(3), 877–953 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-018-3254-1

Communicated by Y. Kawahigashi